Dissertationes Forestales 63

Ecological impacts of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* biocontrol treatment against *Heterobasidion* spp. as revealed by fungal community profiling and population analyses

Eeva J. Vainio

Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Faculty of Biosciences University of Helsinki

Academic dissertation

To be presented for public criticism, with the permission of the Faculty of Biosciences of the University of Helsinki, in Auditorium 1041 at Viikki Biocenter II (Viikinkaari 5, Helsinki) on May 9th, 2008 at 12.00 o´clock noon.

Title of dissertation: Ecological impacts of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* biocontrol treatment against *Heterobasidion* spp. as revealed by fungal community profiling and population analyses

Author: Eeva J. Vainio

Dissertationes Forestales 63

Thesis Supervisor: Prof. Jarkko Hantula, Finnish Forest Research Institute, Vantaa Research Unit, Finland

Pre-examiners: Prof. Fred Asiegbu Department of Forest Ecology, University of Helsinki, Finland Dr. Ari Hietala Norwegian Forest and Landscape Institute, Norway

Opponent: Prof. Jan Stenlid Department of Forest Mycology and Pathology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden

ISSN 1795-7389 ISBN 978-951-651-214-6 (PDF)

(2008)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki Faculty of Forestry of the University of Joensuu

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Unioninkatu 40A, FI-00170 Helsinki, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes **Vainio, E. J.** 2008. Ecological impacts of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* biocontrol treatment against *Heterobasidion* spp. as revealed by fungal community profiling and population analyses. Dissertationes Forestales 63. 80 p. Available at http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes/df63.htm

ABSTRACT

Wood decay fungi belonging to the species complex *Heterobasidion annosum sensu lato* are among the most common and economically important species causing root rot and stem decay in conifers of the northern temperate regions. New infections by these pathogens can be suppressed by tree stump treatments using chemical or biological control agents. In Finland, the corticiaceous fungus *Phlebiopsis gigantea* has been formulated into a commercial biocontrol agent called Rotstop (Verdera Ltd.).

This thesis addresses the ecological impacts of Rotstop biocontrol treatment on the mycoflora of conifer stumps. Locally, fungal communities within Rotstop-treated and untreated stumps were analyzed using a novel method based on DGGE profiling of small subunit ribosomal DNA fragments amplified directly from wood samples. Population analyses for *P. gigantea* and *H. annosum s.l.* were conducted to evaluate possible risks associated with local and/or global distribution of the Rotstop strain.

Based on molecular community profiling by DGGE, we detected a few individual wood-inhabiting fungal species (OTUs) that seemed to have suffered or benefited from the Rotstop biocontrol treatment. The DGGE analyses also revealed fungal diversity not retrieved by cultivation and some fungal sequence types untypical for decomposing conifer wood. However, statistical analysis of DGGE community profiles obtained from Rotstop-treated and untreated conifer stumps revealed that the Rotstop treatment had not caused a statistically significant reduction in the species diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi within our experimental forest plots.

Locally, ISSR genotyping of cultured *P. gigantea* strains showed that the Rotstop biocontrol strain was capable of surviving up to six years within treated Norway spruce stumps, while in Scots pine stumps it was sooner replaced by successor fungal species. In addition, the spread of resident *P. gigantea* strains into Rotstop-treated forest stands seemed effective in preventing the formation of genetically monomorphic populations in the short run. On a global scale, we detected a considerable level of genetic differentiation between the interfertile European and North American populations of *P. gigantea*. These results strongly suggest that local biocontrol strains should be used in order to prevent global spread of *P. gigantea* and hybrid formation between geographically isolated populations.

The population analysis for *H. annosum s.l.* revealed a collection of Chinese fungal strains that showed a high degree of laboratory fertility with three different allopatric *H. annosum s.l.* taxa. However, based on the molecular markers, the Chinese strains could be clearly affiliated with the *H. parviporum* taxonomical cluster, which thus appears to have a continuous distribution range from Europe through southern Siberia to northern China.

Keywords: Rotstop, wood decay, DGGE, ISSR fingerprinting, ribosomal DNA

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Vantaa Research Unit of the Finnish Forest Research Institute. I would like to thank the former and current directors of the Vantaa Research Unit, Professors Eero Paavilainen and Jari Varjo for providing excellent working facilities.

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, Prof. Jarkko Hantula for taking a role as my scientific mentor ever since I started to work on my master's thesis work on activated sludge bacteria back in 1994 at the Department of Genetics, and then introducing me to the fascinating world of fungal research. He is also responsible for giving me an opportunity to return to the scientific community after over six years of total commitment to being a stayat-home mom. Thank you for believing in me!

I feel that the department of forest pathology at METLA has an exceptionally fine working atmosphere. The emerituses, Prof. Timo Kurkela and the 'grand old man' of *Heterobasidion* research, Kari Korhonen are thanked for all their advice during these years: although officially retired, I'm glad they are still available for discussions with their vast expertise on forest pathogenic fungi. Katriina Lipponen is greatly acknowledged for designing the experimental setup for the Rotstop stump treatment plots and also for her hospitality during our sample collection trip. The mycological expertise of Anna-Maija Hallaksela was invaluable during the design of our molecular community profiling methodology. Yu-Cheng Dai and Tuomo Niemelä with their outstanding knowledge on polypore ecology are thanked for fruitful cooperation.

For excellent technical assistance I want to thank Marja-Leena Santanen, Maarit Niemi, Sonja Sarsila, Irmeli Luovula and Matti Kaivos. Special thanks to Marja-Leena who provides motherly care within our lab so that everything works out smoothly.

The friendly atmosphere at the forest pathology department has enabled learning opportunities and inspiring conversations with several talented people: Anna, Arja, Ari, Brita, Heikki, Henna, Kati, Kerttu, Laura, Lotta, Michael, Marja-Leena M., Minna R, Minna T., Taina, Tero, Tiina, Tuula, Rauni, Risto, Ritva, Sanna – thank you. Special thanks to Tero Tuomivirta for recently introducing me to the 1.01 on mycoviruses (and for Hannu Fritze for tolerating this).

I want to thank the reviewers, Fred Asiegbu and Ari Hietala for their constructive criticism and suggestions to improve this thesis. Prof. Tapio Palva is acknowledged for great flexibility with my studies as I returned to finish up the work after all these years.

Finally, I express my gratitude to my family and friends. Thank you Harri for all your support during these years – ranging from actually carving up stump wood samples and help with computers into sharing with me over 14 years of marriage and three children. Maisa and Jussi – thank you. Mom and Dad, thanks for encouragement and acceptance in all my major life decisions. My Mother deserves special thanks for huge amount of help with childcare during these intense years – this thesis could not have been finished without your support. Saana, Veikko and Pihla, thanks for keeping up my spirits, you are the most important thing in my life.

Espoo, May 2008

Gen Vinio

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The thesis is based on the following articles, which in the text will be referred to by their Roman numerals (I-V).

- I. Dai, Y.-C., Vainio, E. J., Hantula, J., Niemelä, T. & Korhonen, K. (2003). Investigations on *Heterobasidion annosum s.lat.* in central and eastern Asia with the aid of mating tests and DNA fingerprinting. *Forest Pathology* 33: 269-286.
- II. **Vainio, E. J.** & Hantula, J. (2000). Genetic differentiation between European and North American populations of *Phlebiopsis gigantea*. *Mycologia* 92: 436-446.
- III. Vainio, E. J., Lipponen, K. & Hantula, J. (2001). Persistence of a biocontrol strain of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* in conifer stumps and its effects on within-species genetic diversity. *Forest Pathology* 31: 285-295.
- IV. Vainio, E. J. & Hantula, J. (2000). Direct analysis of wood-inhabiting fungi using denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of amplified ribosomal DNA. *Mycological Research* 104: 927-936.
- V. Vainio, E. J., Hallaksela, A.-M., Lipponen, K & Hantula, J. (2005). Direct analysis of ribosomal DNA in denaturing gradients: application on the effects of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* treatment on fungal communities of conifer stumps. *Mycological Research* 109: 103-114.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	5
INTRODUCTION	9
The fungal individual, population and species	9
Ecology of wood decay fungi	11
Heterobasidion annosum species complex	
Phlebiopsis gigantea	
Control of <i>Heterobasidion</i> infections	
Silvicultural and chemical methods	15
Biological control	16
Molecular markers for phylogenetic analysis	
Dispersed repetitive DNA elements	
Other repeated DNA motifs	
The ribosomal RNA gene cluster	
Nuclear low copy genes and mitochondrial markers	
Fungal community profiling	
Sporocarp inventories and culture-based methods	
PCR amplification with group-specific primers	
Denaturing gel electrophoresis Restriction analysis	
Hybridization assays	
Cloning and sequence-based analysis	
AIMS OF THE THESIS	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Materials for DNA samples	
Methods	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Methodological considerations	
RAMS and AP-PCR multilocus markers (I, II, III, IV)	
ITS rDNA markers (I, II)	
SSU rDNA markers (IV, V)	
Sequence-based identification (V)	
Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (I, II, IV, V)	
DNA extraction from environmental wood samples (IV, V)	
Ecological remarks	
Heterobasidion annosum s.l. (I)	
Phlebiopsis gigantea (II, III, V)	
Wood decay mycoflora (IV, V)	40

45
80

INTRODUCTION

The fungal individual, population and species

The life cycle of a fungal individual begins with a single meiotic spore containing one haploid nucleus. In homothallic species capable of self fertilization, the formation of fruiting structures can be accomplished by a single haploid individual, while in heterothallic species two different nuclei are required for sexual reproduction. In many fungal taxa, including most ascomycetes (phylum Ascomycota) and zygomycetes (phylum Zygomycota), a vegetative individual usually prevails in haploid nuclear condition, and the formation of heterokaryotic hyphae *via* cellular fusion between sexually compatible strains is shortly followed by the generation of fruiting structures (Bos 1996, Worrall 1997). In contrast, vegetative individuals of most basidiomycete fungi (phylum Basidiomycota) are dikaryotic (thus, haploid strains readily mate to form dikaryotic hyphae, but after cellular fusion the two parental nuclei are maintained separately, and fusion of the nuclei (karyogamy) does not occur until immediately prior to meiosis), (Anderson and Kohn 1995).

During its life cycle, a haploid (or homokaryotic, when several copies of a haploid nucleus exist within single cells) fungal mycelium may encounter many other fungal individuals, and the resulting interactions are regulated by three different incompatibility systems. The sexual incompatibility system controls mating between two haploid mycelia belonging to the same species and delimits inbreeding between siblings. Thus, the generation of a heterokaryotic (secondary) mycelium calls for different alleles at specific mating-type loci in the parental strains (Worrall 1997). In basidiomycete fungi, the mating type genes are encoded by either one locus (bipolar, unifactorial mating system) or two loci (bifactorial, tetrapolar mating system) with numerous alleles (Korhonen 1978a, Korhonen 1978b, Korhonen and Kauppila 1988).

In turn, when a secondary heterokaryotic mycelium is established, it typically shows antagonistic reactions (nonself rejection) towards genetically different individuals from the same species. This kind of response is called somatic (vegetative) incompatibility, and is regarded as a means of maintaining the physiological, ecological and genetic integrity of fungal individuals (Rayner 1991, Worrall 1997, Lind et al. 2007a). However, hyphal fusion is possible between heterokaryotic mycelia provided that they are homoallelic at all somatic incompatibility loci, which usually requires them to be very closely related (Hansen et al. 1993, Worrall 1997, Lind et al. 2007a). In some cases, a heterokaryotic mycelium can also function as a nuclear donor by fertilizing a haploid individual of the same species in a process termed the Buller phenomenon (Korhonen 1978a, Korhonen and Kauppila 1988). In practice, testing for somatic incompatibility reactions between heterokaryotic isolates has been successfully used for the identification of genetically distinct fungal individuals of both Heterobasidion annosum (Fr.) Bref. sensu lato (Basidiomycota, Bondarzewiaceae) and Phlebiopsis gigantea (Fr.) Jülich (Basidiomycota, Corticiaceae), the study organisms of the present thesis (Stenlid 1985, Piri 1996, Holmer and Stenlid 1997, Roy et al. 1997, Swedjemark and Stenlid 2001, Pettersson et al. 2003, Roy et al. 2003, Vasiliauskas et al. 2004, 2005a, Sánchez et al. 2007).

Classically, a population can be determined as a group of organisms of the same species living within a sufficiently restricted geographical area so that any member can potentially mate with any other sexually compatible individual (Hartl and Clark 2007). Among fungi, this definition can be sometimes complicated by vast differences in the size of individual strains and their mode of reproduction. Thus, while fungal meiospores fulfill the characteristics of typical micro-organisms, some genetically distinct fungal individuals (genets) may form massive and long-lived vegetative entities producing numerous sexual fruiting bodies along with asexual propagules and/or foraging structures, all representing descendants (ramets) of the same genet (Smith et al. 1992, Taylor et al. 2006).

As for all sexually reproducing organisms, fungal populations are shaped by the evolutionary forces of mutation, recombination, selection and gene flow (or restrained gene flow, caused by e.g. inbreeding, population subdivision or periods of small population size). Many species of fungi maintain a highly outcrossing mating system resulting in efficient recombination and the generation of enormous amounts of sexual spores (Stenlid and Gustafsson 2001 and references therein). Furthermore, fungal meiospores are very small and sometimes capable of long-range migration over marine areas devoid of suitable habitats (Kallio 1970, James et al. 2001, Stenlid and Gustafsson 2001). In turn, some fungal species show global distribution ranges due to man-mediated transfer (Gonthier et al. 2004, Zhou et al. 2007).

However, in the absence of gene flow, separate populations begin to diverge genetically through the accumulation of mutations or events like polyploidization or gene duplication (Olson and Stenlid 2001, Kohn 2005). By definition, genetically isolated populations can be either sympatric (spatially connected with overlapping geographical ranges) or allopatric (separate with discrete ranges). Moreover, reproductive isolation barriers between genetically isolated populations can be either prezygotic (lack of sexual reproduction) or postzygotic (normal formation of sexual fruiting structures but reduced meiospore viability), and can be defined as intrinsic (failure of hybrids or hybrid progeny) or extrinsic (inability to mate or reduced fitness of hybrid progeny), see Taylor et al. (2006), Kohn et al. (2005). In fact, most fungal species with global distribution ranges show population subdivision or the presence of "cryptic" species only recognizable by genetic marker molecules (Taylor 2006). Accordingly, fungal species can be recognized based on phenotypic characters (morphological species recognition, MSR), reproductive isolation (biological species recognition, BSR) or by genetic isolation revealed by multiple gene genealogies (phylogenetic species recognition, PSR), see Taylor et al. 2000, 2006.

Genetically, species barriers between fungi are maintained by incompatibility reactions resulting in intersterility. Thus, the generation of a secondary hybrid mycelium fails unless the parental strains share identical alleles for specific intersterility genes (see e.g. Lind et al. 2005 for references). In sympatry, reproductive isolation can be mediated by the absence of gene flow between populations adapted on different host plants (Kohn 2005). However, some closely related phylogenetic species of fungi are not fully intersterile as determined by laboratory pairing experiments (this is also the case with several *Heterobasidion* species, see below). Also in several cases, allopatric populations show a higher degree of interfertility compared to sympatric ones, which is considered to indicate that in sympatry, prezygotic reproductive isolation is enhanced by natural selection (reinforcement), (Anderson et al. 1980, Capretti et al. 1990, Korhonen et al. 1992, Taylor 2006, Garbelotto et al. 2007).

Ecology of wood decay fungi

The continuality of forest ecosystems is largely dependent on fungi, as these organisms are the most important agents releasing carbon and nutrients from woody tissues. Fungi have adopted various ecological roles towards their tree hosts, ranging from clearly symbiotic interactions (e.g. mycorrhizal associations) or effectively neutral relationships (e.g. leaf endophytes) to parasitic or pathogenic relationships. As an example, an undamaged, apparently healthy Norway spruce of the age of 61 years has been shown to harbor in its above ground parts nearly a hundred fungal taxonomical groups, mostly needle epiphytes (Müller and Hallaksela 2000). In turn, necrotrophic fungal pathogens (like *H. annosum s.l.*) are capable of attacking intact plant tissues and tolerating this high-stress environment that contains various antifungal substances (Rayner and Boddy 1988, Asiegbu et al. 1998). Finally, saprophytic fungal species like *P. gigantea* infect or become active within dead or moribund plant tissues.

In turn, even saproxylic fungi (species dependent upon dead or dying wood during some part of their life cycle) show a wide range of life strategies. Thus, some species mostly utilize easily assimilated compounds like simple sugars, starch and proteins and take advantage of freshly exposed woody substrates (e.g. the blue stain fungi *Ophiostoma/Ceratocystis* spp.) or dead mycelia of primary decay species (many species of microfungal ascomycetes), while fungal species mainly responsible for wood decay are capable of degrading cellulose and hemicelluloses (brown rot fungi) or both cellulose compounds and lignin (white rot fungi), (Rayner and Boddy 1988). Taxonomically, typical wood-decay fungi belong to basidiomycetes, especially polypores (bracket fungi with a porous hymenial surface, including *Heterobasidion* spp.), corticiaceous fungi (characterized by soft, irregularly shaped fruitbodies, including *P. gigantea*) or agarics (gilled mushrooms like *Hypholoma* spp. or *Armillaria* spp.).

Moreover, some wood decay fungi (e.g. pathogenic species like *H. annosum s.l.* or early saprotrophs like *P. gigantea* or *Stereum sanguinolentum*) typically infect freshly exposed woody tissues, while others use a competitive strategy (secondary resource capture) in colonizing already infected wood (Niemelä et al. 1995, Holmer et al. 1997, Toljander et al. 2006). The establishment of competitive species typically results in high fungal species richness in the intermediate stages of the wood decay process (Niemelä et al. 1995, Renvall 1995). However, as the decomposition advances, nutrients become limited and only the most stress-tolerant species prevail. This species succession can be non-selective regarding to the pioneer decomposer species, but some fungal species (e.g. *Antrodiella* spp.) selectively prefer wood initially decayed by specific primary decay fungi (Niemelä et al. 1995).

As decaying wood is inherently a discontinuous nutritional resource and habitat patch for saproxylic fungi, they must have a means of arrival to a new substrate. Fungal species that can only migrate by spores can be described as resource-unit-restricted, as individual genets are constrained within discrete habitat patches, while fungal species capable of vegetative foraging using rhizomorphs (e.g. *Armillaria* spp.) or tree root contacts (e.g. *Heterobasidion* spp.) are described as non-unit-restricted (Rayner 1991). On a landscape level, pathogenic wood decay fungi affect the species composition of forest stands by selectively killing certain tree species and creating suitable habitats for many saproxylic plant and animal species or fungal successors (Niemelä 1995, Filip and Morrison 1998, Siitonen 2001, Stubblefield et al. 2005). They also contribute to the formation of tree mortality centers and canopy gaps that are considered important factors in maintaining the structural, functional and species diversity of boreal forests (Kuuluvainen 1994, Bendel et al. 2006).

However, generally commercially managed forests tend to be rather uniform in their tree species composition, size and spacing. Indeed, boreal forest landscape has been subjected to great changes during the last hundred years due to suppression of forest fires and fragmentation of old-growth forests (Östlund et al. 1997, Kouki et al. 2001). Current forest management practices have also drastically decreased the amount of dead wood (especially coarse woody debris, CWD, which has been decreased as much as 90-98% in managed compared to old-growth forests, Siitonen 2001). These developments have caused strong qualitative and quantitative changes in the fungal species composition of managed compared to natural forests (Bader et al. 1995, Sippola et al. 2001, Penttilä et al. 2004), which is especially evident for many threatened polypore species (Högberg and Stenlid 1999, Stenlid and Gustafsson 2001). However, even in managed forests, woody baits or decaying stumps have been shown to harbor a vast variety of wood-inhabiting fungi (Käärik and Rennerfelt 1957, Hallaksela 1977, Lindhe et al. 2004, Vasiliauskas et al. 2004, 2005a, 2005b). Furthermore, the occurrence of wood-decay fungi appears not to be limited by their dispersal capacity, but instead seems to be determined by substrate availability and ability to establish (Nordén and Larsson 2000, Stenlid and Gustafsson 2001, Rolstad et al. 2004).

Heterobasidion annosum species complex

Decay fungi belonging to the species complex *Heterobasidion annosum* (Fr.) Bref. *sensu lato* (s.l.) (Basidiomycotina, *Bondarzewiaceae*, syn. *Fomes annosus*, see Niemelä and Korhonen 1998 for the nomenclature) are among the most common and economically important species causing root rot and stem decay in conifers of the northern temperate regions (see reviews; Woodward et al. 1998, Asiegbu et al. 2005a). *H. annosum s.l.* species are capable of attacking living host tree tissues and causing white-rot wood decay by secreting various extracellular enzymes (Asiegbu et al. 1998, 2005a). Recently, the interaction of *H. annosum s.l.* species with their conifer hosts has been elucidated by several studies using real-time (quantitative) PCR profiling (Hietala et al. 2003, 2004, Karlsson et al. 2007) or expressed sequence tag (EST) analysis (Karlsson et al. 2003, Asiegbu et al. 2005b, Adomas and Asiegbu 2006, Adomas et al. 2007, Koutaniemi et al. 2007, Yakovlev et al. 2008).

The primary mode of infection for *H. annosum s.l.* is by airborne basidiospores (Redfern and Stenlid 1998). Sporocarps of *Heterobasidion* species occur on old conifer stumps and logs and can also typically be found from the root systems of windthrown trees. Although most of the basidiospores fall within a range of a few meters from the fruitbody, in some cases they have been shown capable of traveling hundreds of kilometers (Rishbeth 1959a, Kallio 1970, Gonthier et al. 2001). Moreover, vegetative mycelial spread of *H. annosum s.l. via* root contacts from infected stumps into neighboring healthy trees sometimes results in heavy infestation of managed forest stands (Rishbeth 1950, Stenlid and Redfern 1998, Piri and Korhonen 2001). Consequently, current forest management practices have considerably increased the occurrence of *H. annosum s.l.*, while in virgin forests these species are relatively rare (Penttilä et al. 2004). In addition, individual genets of *H. annosum s.l.* have been shown capable of surviving several decades in conifer stumps, which thereby serve as infection sources during more than one tree generations (Greig and

Pratt 1976, Piri et al. 1990, Piri 1996, 2003, Lygis et al. 2004a, Piri and Korhonen 2007). Some *H. annosum s.l.* individuals are also able to colonize tens of tree stumps (Piri 1996), or spreading tens of meters by lateral growth (Stenlid and Redfern 1998, Lygis et al. 2004a, Sánchez et al. 2007). On the other hand, single conifer stumps are sometimes occupied by numerous genetically different strains of *H. annosum s.l.* (Swedjemark and Stenlid 2001). *H. annosum s.l.* species also produce asexual conidial spores that have been suggested to be mediated by insect vectors (Kadlec et al. 1992) or liberated into the air by wind gusts associated with high humidity or mist (Möykkynen 1997).

The mating system of *Heterobasidion annosum s.l.* is bipolar (unifactorial) heterothallic (Korhonen 1978a, Holt et al. 1983). Thus, one multiallelic locus has been attributed to the determination of a range of a hundred different mating type alleles (Chase and Ullrich 1983, Stenlid 1985, Korhonen and Stenlid 1998). In turn, the somatic incompatibility system of *H. annosum s.l.* has recently been shown to be controlled by four loci (Lind et al. 2007a).

The *Heterobasidion annosum s.l.* species complex was long regarded as a single cosmopolitan species with a wide host range, but mating experiments have revealed the existence of five separate *Heterobasidion* species showing differences in their host tree preferences (Korhonen 1978a, Chase and Ullrich 1988, Capretti et al. 1990, Korhonen et al. 1992, Niemelä and Korhonen 1998). Differentiation between these biological species has been confirmed using numerous different molecular approaches including isoenzyme analysis (Karlsson and Stenlid 1991, Otrosina et al. 1993, Maijala et al. 1995, Goggioli et al. 1998), fatty acid and sterol profiles (Müller et al. 1995), and various genetic marker molecules (Fabritius and Karjalainen 1993, Kasuga et al. 1993, Stenlid et al. 1994, La Porta et al. 1997, Garbelotto et al. 1998, Goggioli et al. 1998, Vainio et al. 1999, Kasuga and Mitchelson 2000, Johannesson and Stenlid 2003, Maijala et al. 2003).

In Europe, three *Heterobasidion* taxa have been recently recognized as separate species (Niemelä and Korhonen 1998). *H. annosum* (Fr.) Bref. *sensu stricto* (= European P intersterility group) is typically associated with butt rot and mortality in pine trees (*Pinus* spp.), but it also frequently infects other conifers and some deciduous tree species, including birch (*Betula* spp.), (Korhonen 1978a, Korhonen and Piri 1994, Korhonen and Dai 2005). It occurs commonly in the Nordic countries ranging also to Southern Europe, while its eastern distribution seems to be limited to the Altai region in southern Siberia (Korhonen 1978a, Capretti et al. 1990, LaPorta et al. 1997, Korhonen and Dai 2005, study I).

H. parviporum Niemelä & Korhonen (= European S intersterility group) characteristically causes butt and heart decay in Norway spruce, but also attacks other conifers, and is highly infectous to *Abies sibirica* in Eastern Europe (Korhonen 1978a, Korhonen et al. 1997, Korhonen and Dai 2005, Dai et al. 2006). The *H. parviporum* taxonomical cluster (see Study I, Dai et al. 2006) appears to have a continuous distribution range from Europe through southern Siberia to northern China, and related isolates have recently been found also in Japan (Ota et al. 2006). In turn, *H. abietinum* Niemelä & Korhonen (= European F intersterility group) has a relatively restricted distribution ranging from southern and central Europe to western Turkey and Russian Caucasus, and mainly occurs on *Abies* spp. host trees (Capretti et al. 1990, Tsopelas and Korhonen 1996, Korhonen and Dai 2005, Doğmuş-Lehtijärvi et al. 2006, Sánchez et al. 2007, Zamponi et al. 2007). In the Alps, all of the three European species exist in sympatry (Gonthier et al. 2001, Gonthier et al. 2005).

Two species of *H. annosum s.l.* have also been identified from North America, designated as the North American P and S intersterility groups (Chase and Ullrich 1988, Harrington et al. 1989, Chase and Ullrich 1990a, Otrosina et al. 1993). Briefly, the North American S group infects several coniferous tree genera (e.g. *Abies* and *Tsuga*) while the P group prefers pines (Filip and Morrison 1998, Korhonen and Stenlid 1998). Recently, *Heterobasidion* strains belonging to the North American P group have been discovered from the Italian peninsula, supposedly having been introduced into Europe *via* transport of woody material used by the North American military troops during the Second World War (Gonthier et al. 2004, D'Amico et al. 2007, Gonthier et al. 2007).

Interfertility among the *H. annosum s.l.* species has been shown to be controlled by five genetic loci (Chase and Ullrich 1990b, Lind et al. 2005). Thus, fungal strains need to be homoallelic for dominant (+) alleles at one or more loci in order to mate. In practice, interspecies crosses can be relatively easily generated by laboratory mating experiments (Korhonen 1978a, Chase and Ullrich 1988, Harrington et al. 1989, Chase and Ullrich 1990a, Stenlid and Karlsson 1991), especially between the closely related taxa *H. abietinum*, *H. parviporum* and the North American S group or between the *H. annosum s.s.* and the North American P group (Chase and Ullrich 1988, Stenlid and Karlsson 1991). In addition, *H. abietinum* isolates show a considerably higher interfertility with North European *H. parviporum* isolates compared to Central European *H. parviporum* strains (Capretti et al. 1990, Korhonen et al. 1992, 1997), which is consistent of these populations having been shaped by selective reinforcement in sympatry.

Phlebiopsis gigantea

P. gigantea (Fr.) Jülich (Basidiomycota, Corticiaceae; syn. Peniophora gigantea, Phanerochaete gigantea, Phlebia gigantea) is one of the most characteristic fungal species found in stumps, fallen trunks and other remains of coniferous wood in the boreal forest region (Käärik and Rennerfelt 1957, Meredith 1959, Kallio 1965, Greig 1976, Petäistö 1978, Eriksson et al. 1981, Rönnberg et al. 2006b). As P. gigantea is not very common in primeval forests (Eriksson and Strid 1969, Renvall 1995), it seems to have greatly benefited from current forest management practices. This white-rot species is not pathogenic to living tree tissues, but it can cause considerable damages in stored timber. Consequently, felled tree trunks susceptible to P. gigantea infections during biocontrol treatments should not be stored for longer than four weeks in order to prevent decay damages (Mäkelä and Korhonen 1998). Laboratory experiments have also shown that when high oidiospore inoculums are used, P. gigantea is able to colonize non-suberized spruce seedling roots and thus could potentially act as a facultative (although weak) necrotrophic pathogen (Asiegbu et al. 1996). In turn, a recent study by Vasiliauskas et al. (2007) describes P. gigantea capable of forming structures resembling a mycorrhizal mantle when inoculated on spruce seedling roots.

The fruitbodies of *P. gigantea* are annual and its basidiospores have been shown to travel distances of hundreds of kilometers (Rishbeth 1959a). The basidiospore infection of this species is very effective, and one year after tree felling several genetically different individuals of *P. gigantea* can usually be found in a single pine stump (Annesi et al. 2005, Study III). Thus, its population size can be regarded as very large. However, unlike *H. annosum s.l., P. gigantea* has not been shown capable of vegetative spread *via* plant root contacts, and therefore can be considered unit-restricted. In addition, the life span of *P.*

gigantea infections is relatively short as it seldom survives in pine stumps more than 3-5 years (Rishbeth 1963, study III). In addition to meiospores, *P. gigantea* produces asexual oidial spores (arthroconidia). Although these spores are not considered able to travel long distances, in North America they have been isolated form bark beetle galleries, suggesting that they might be involved in insect-mediated transfer of *P. gigantea* (Hunt and Cobb 1982, Hsiau and Harrington 2003).

The mating system of *P. gigantea* has been shown to be heterothallic bipolar, but in laboratory pure cultures this fungus is also capable of homokaryotic fruiting (Korhonen and Kauppila 1988). Hyphal cells of both homokaryotic and heterokaryotic strains of *P. gigantea* are multinucleate, and the asexual oidial spores can be either homokaryotic or heterokaryotic in their nuclear condition (Korhonen and Kauppila 1988). Based on morphological characters, *P. gigantea* is regarded as a single species throughout its geographical range, which covers the boreal forest regions of the Northern Hemisphere as well as parts of South Africa, Australia and New Zealand (Vaartaja 1968, Eriksson et al. 1981, Lundquist 1986, Korhonen and Kauppila 1988, Korhonen et al. 1997, Roy et al. 1997, Hood et al. 2002, Grillo et al. 2005). Laboratory mating experiments have also shown that the European and North American populations of *P. gigantea* are highly interfertile and no putative intersterility groups have been detected so far (Grillo et al. 2005). However, during the present thesis (study II), clear differentiation was detected between North American and European populations of *P. gigantea* as revealed by multilocus DNA fingerprinting.

Control of Heterobasidion infections

Silvicultural and chemical methods

Forest stands that have already been infested with *H. annosum s.l.* are likely to transmit the disease to the next tree generation (Piri and Korhonen 2001, Lygis et al. 2004a and the references therein). Logging has been found to increase the rate of spread of *H. parviporum* in the root systems of infected spruce trees and therefore delay of thinning is usually recommended for diseased stands (Rishbeth 1952, Korhonen et al. 1998, Pettersson et al. 2003). Alternatively, infected forest stands can be regenerated using a more resistant tree species (Piri 2003) or an admixture of tree species instead of a pure conifer stand (Piri et al. 1990, Piri 1996, Korhonen et al. 1998, Lygis et al. 2004a, 2004b, Piri 2003). More resistant tree cultivars and candidate genes for molecular breeding programmes are also continuously searched for (Swedjemark and Karlsson 2004).

In turn, further infections can be suppressed by preventing spore-mediated transmission of *H. annosum s.l.* into newly felled stumps. The period of stump susceptibility to *Heterobasidion* infection is limited to a few weeks after felling, depending on the conifer host species (Woods 2000 and references therein). In practice, stump infections of *H. annosum s.l.* can be reduced using wintertime loggings (Thor and Stenlid 2005), stump removal (Rishbeth 1952, Stenlid 1987, Greig et al. 2001) or stump treatments with chemical or biological pesticides.

Numerous chemical substances have been tested for stump treatment against *H. annosum s.l.* (see Pratt et al. 1998 for a review). Basically, the chemicals used can be categorized as either fungitoxic or beneficial to fungi that compete with *H. annosum s.l.* The most effective chemicals against *H. annosum s.l.* are urea (Rishbeth 1959b, Hallaksela

and Nevalainen 1981, Varese et al. 2003, Thor and Stenlid 2005, Nicolotti and Gonthier 2005) and boron compounds (Rishbeth 1959b, Greig 1976, Varese et al. 2003, Nicolotti and Gonthier 2005, Thor and Stenlid 2005). However, trials have been conducted using a wide variety of substances ranging from tar or paints to creosote, sodium nitrite, ammonium sulphamate, propiconazole or copper oxychloride (Rishbeth 1952, 1959b, Kallio 1965, Greig 1976, Nicolotti et al. 1999, Varese et al. 1999, 2003, Nicolotti and Gonthier 2005).

Biological control

Antagonism and competition between vegetative fungal mycelia can often be readily observed in decaying stumps or logs, where different fungal individuals typically occupy distinct discoloration regions, sometimes clearly separated from each other by dark demarcation zone lines (Rayner and Boddy 1988). Competitive replacement between different species of decay fungi has been investigated by several laboratory studies (Holmer and Stenlid 1996, Toljander et al. 2006). During the last 50 decades or so, numerous fungi have also been tested for antagonism and competitiveness against *H. annosum s.l.* in the search for biological pesticides (Holdenrieder and Greig 1998 and the references therein). However, currently *P. gigantea* is the only fungus used in commercial scale.

Besides *P. gigantea*, the tested species include several common wood decomposing basidiomycetes like *Bjerkandera adusta*, *Fomitopsis pinicola*, *Gloeophyllum* spp. *Hypholoma* spp., *Resinicium bicolor*, *Trametes versicolor* and *Sistotrema brinkmannii* (Kallio 1971, Holdenrieder 1984, Capretti and Mugnai 1989, Holmer and Stenlid 1996, 1997, Nicolotti and Varese 1996, Nicolotti et al. 1999, Varese et al. 1999, 2003). Due to being widely used as biocontrol agents, *Trichoderma* spp. are by far the most extensively tested ascomycetous fungi against *Heterobasidion* spp. decay (Rishbeth 1963, Kallio 1971, Kallio and Hallaksela 1979, Johansson and Marklund 1980, Holdenrieder 1984, Capretti and Mugnai 1989, Nicolotti and Varese 1996, Nicolotti et al. 1999, Varese et al. 1999, 2003, Berglund et al. 2005). Other tested ascomycetes include e.g. *Botrytis cinerea*, *Ceratocystis spp.*, *Nectria fuckeliana*, *Penicillium* spp. and *Scytalidium lignicola* (Rishbeth 1963, Kallio and Hallaksela 1979, Holdenrieder 1984, Capretti and Mugnai 1989, Nicolotti and Varese 1996, Nicolotti et al. 1999, Varese et al. 1999, 2003, Berglund et al. 2005). Other tested ascomycetes include e.g. *Botrytis cinerea*, *Ceratocystis spp.*, *Nectria fuckeliana*, *Penicillium* spp. and *Scytalidium lignicola* (Rishbeth 1963, Kallio and Hallaksela 1979, Holdenrieder 1984, Capretti and Mugnai 1989, Nicolotti and Varese 1996).

As different forest ecosystems and host tree species require different means of protection, the search for effective biocontrol agents against *H. annosum s.l.* is an ongoing process (Nicolotti et al. 1999, Varese et al. 1999, Roy et al. 2001, 2003, Varese et al. 2003, Hettich et al. 2007). Promising results have been obtained with e.g. *Phanerochaete velutina* and *Verticillium bulbillosum* (Nicolotti et al. 1999). In turn, trials with bacterial isolates have shown relatively weak antagonistic reactions against *H. annosum s.l.* (see Johansson and Marklund 1980, Holdenrieder and Greig 1998, Murray and Woodward 2003).

As for *P. gigantea*, its ability to replace *H. annosum s.l.* was noticed as early as during the 1950's by John Rishbeth (Rishbeth 1951, 1952). During the following decades, *P. gigantea* has repeatedly been confirmed to be an effective control agent against *Heterobasidion* infections (Rishbeth 1963, Greig 1976, Kallio and Hallaksela 1979, Jokinen 1984, Korhonen et al. 1994, Pratt et al. 2000, Sierota 2003, Annesi et al. 2005, Berglund et al. 2005, Nicolotti and Gonthier 2005). Currently, several commercially available *P. gigantea* products are in use within Europe. The earliest commercial formulations were developed in the United Kingdom (Greig 1976), where several different *P. gigantea* isolates have been used for the preparation of a biocontrol product called PG suspension (Holdenrieder and Greig 1998, Pratt et al. 2000). Similarly, local strains are continuously

screened during the production of a *P. gigantea* formulation called PG IBL in Poland (Pratt et al. 2000, Sierota 2003 and the references therein).

In the Nordic countries, the commercially available products have been developed using single isolates of *P. gigantea*. In Finland, a *P. gigantea* strain isolated from spruce wood in 1987 has been formulated into a biological pesticide called Rotstop (Verdera Ltd.), (Korhonen et al. 1994). The use of Rotstop allows practically complete prevention of *H. annosum* infections in Scots pine stumps (Korhonen et al. 1994), while in Norway spruce the competitiveness of this strain is somewhat lower (Korhonen et al. 1994, Nicolotti et al. 1999, Berglund and Rönnberg 2004). During recent years, Rotstop treatments have been widely used in the Nordic countries (Thor 2003). However, in Sweden this preparation has been newly replaced by a native *P. gigantea* strain called Rotstop S (Berglund et al. 2005, Rönnberg et al. 2006a).

Several modes of action have been identified for biocontrol fungi (Cook 1993, Mathre et al. 1999, Butt and Copping 2000, Avis et al. 2001, Brimner and Boland 2003). Thus, suppression of the target pathogen can be accomplished through e.g. direct attack (mycoparasitism) or by secretion of antibiotic metabolites by the biocontrol agent. In addition, the use of biocontrol fungi can restrain the pathogen's growth *via* resource competition or by mutualistic interactions with the host plant. Although *P. gigantea* has been for a long time known as a strong competitor against *H. annosum*, the precise mode of interaction between these fungi remained unclear until recently. However, an expressed sequence tag analysis by Adomas et al. (2006) confirms resource competition to be the main mode of interaction between *H. parviporum* and *P. gigantea* (a diverse range of proteins important for nutrient acquisition were shown to be preferentially expressed during the interaction of these fungi).

Generally, biological pesticides are considered environment-friendly and less probable for resistance development compared to chemical treatments or fungicides (Mathre et al. 1999, Brimner and Boland 2003). However, possible hazards associated with biocontrol fungi include negative effects on the host plant due to toxicity, pathogenicity or the induction of plant defense mechanisms. Also, the use of biocontrol treatments could cause competitive displacement of a beneficial microorganism (like a mycorrhizal symbiont of the host plant). Similarly, toxigenic, pathogenic or competitive impacts could be directed towards other non-target organisms (including e.g. important crop plants) present in the same habitat (Avis et al. 2001, Brimner and Boland 2003).

Recent studies comparing chemical and biological stump treatments have indicated that the environmental impacts of *P. gigantea* seem to be less severe compared to urea for both ground vegetation bryophytes and vascular plants (Westlund and Nohrstedt 2000) and for fungal communities inhabiting Norway spruce stumps (Vasiliauskas et al. 2004). Similarly, Varese et al. (2003) found that the most drastic effects on stump fungal communities were caused by the application of borate, while among the biological treatments *P. gigantea* and *Trichoderma harzianum* had the greatest impacts. In the current thesis, molecular markers were used for assessing whether Rotstop biocontrol treatment had caused changes in the fungal community composition within spruce and pine stumps (study IV) or influenced the population structure of *P. gigantea* in the test plots (study III).

Molecular markers for phylogenetic analysis

Dispersed repetitive DNA elements

The term microsatellite (also called SSR for simple sequence repeats) refers to noncoding DNA sequences composed of tandem repeat arrays of short nucleotide motifs typically 1-6 bases in length (Shapiro and Sternberg 2005, Selkoe and Toonen 2006). Genetic markers based on microsatellites are usually considered selectively neutral (Selkoe and Toonen 2006). However, microsatellites have been associated with functional roles in e.g. chromatin organization, recombination, replication and regulation of gene expression (Li et al. 2002, Shapiro and Sternberg 2005), and they seem to be concentrated within noncoding genomic regions. Due to their repetitive character, microsatellites are prone to mutational events like replication slippage and unequal crossing over that cause changes in motif repeat numbers (Li et al. 2002). As microsatellites are both abundant and highly variable in most organisms, they can be used for detailed population analyses addressing topics like population size and geographical differentiation, migration, clonality and progeny analysis (Selkoe and Toonen 2006). However, microsatellite markers are usually species-specific, which delimits their applicability for higher-level phylogenetic analyses.

Polymorphic genetic markers based on microsatellite repeats can be generated by two basically different approaches: (i) multilocus fingerprinting by random amplification of any (arbitrary) DNA stretches located between two repeated sequence motifs or (ii) amplification of locus-specific repetitive DNA elements with primers annealing to their flanking regions. Multilocus SSR fingerprints can be produced simply by using primers based on the repeat motifs themselves (Garbelotto et al. 1993, Garbelotto et al. 1998). In turn, the ISSR (or RAMS) multilocus fingerprinting technique (Zietkiewicz et al. 1994, Hantula et al. 1996) uses primers that contain an anchor sequence which prevents their hybridization into multiple positions within a single microsatellite array, and also enables the detection of codominant length alleles for part of the marker loci. However, part of ISSR markers show only on/off type of variation and therefore do not allow the detection of heterozygotes among diploid fungal strains. ISSR fingerprinting has been used for population studies or progeny analysis for several wood-associated fungi (Hantula et al. 1997, 1998, Grillo et al. 2000, Dai et al. 2002, Kauserud and Schumacher 2003a, 2003b), including H. annosum s.l. (Vainio and Hantula 1999, study I) and P. gigantea (Vainio et al. 1998, Grillo et al. 2005, Annesi et al. 2005, studies II and III).

The generation of locus-specific codominant microsatellite markers traditionally includes sequence analysis of the SSR flanking regions using a genomic clone library and a hybridization assay. Specific microsatellite markers have been recently described for various fungal biocontrol agents (Enkerli et al. 2004, Dalleau-Clouet et al. 2005, Harvey 2006), and also for *H. annosum s.l.* (Johannesson and Stenlid 2004). Alternatively, locus-specific primers can be produced using the SCAR (sequence characterized amplified region) approach. SCAR primers are designed based on sequence analysis of a single marker band produced by an arbitrary primer, and these primers target sequence regions located between two separate repetitive arrays. Besides population studies, microsatellite flanking SCAR primers have also been developed for the differentiation between *H. annosum s.l.* isolates belonging to different intersterility groups (Hantula and Vainio 2003, D'Amico et al. 2007).

Some PCR-based techniques like the RAPD method (Williams et al. 1990) arbitrarily primed (AP) PCR (Welsh and McClelland 1990) and universally primed (UP) PCR (Bulat et al. 2000) utilize completely random primer sequences for the generation of multilocus genetic fingerprints. Thus, the primers are expected to anneal to genome regions that show random sequence matches for the arbitrary primers (usually allowing also some mismatched bases). RAPD primers have been widely used in fungal population genetics, including several studies for *H. annosum s.l.* (Garbelotto et al. 1993, Fabritius and Karjalainen 1993, La Porta et al. 1997, Goggioli et al. 1998) and also for the identification of *P. gigantea* genotypes (Roy et al. 1997). RAPD markers have also been commonly used for the design of SCAR primers for the monitoring of fungal biocontrol agents (Abbasi et al. 1999, Bulat et al. 2000, Massart et al. 2005).

For AP-PCR, one of the most widely used primers has been derived from the bacteriophage M13 core sequence (Jeffreys et al. 1985, Ryskov 1988). Fingerprinting with the M13 primer has been shown applicable for many saproxylic fungal species, including *H. annosum s.l.* (Stenlid et al. 1994, Garbelotto et al. 1998, 1999, Zamponi et al. 2007). This approach was also used in the current thesis for both *H. annosum s. l.* (study I) and *P. gigantea* (study III).

Other multilocus fingerprinting tools used for the identification of fungal biocontrol strains include the REP and ERIC PCR protocols (Versalovic et al. 1991; see Atkins et al. 2003, Grosch et al. 2006 for fungal applications). In addition, some novel multilocus PCR techniques have been designed to target mobile genetic elements with a "copy and paste" (class I type) mode of retrotransposition (Kalendar et al. 1999). Recent studies describe the use of retroelement markers for the rice blast fungal pathogen (Chadha and Gopalakrishna 2005) and the edible fungus *Tricholoma matsutake* (Murata et al. 2005). In turn, the AFLP technique (Vos et al. 1995) uses multiple steps (restriction digestion, ligation of adapters and PCR amplification) for the generation of complex multilocus fingerprints. AFLP markers have been recently used for the identification of industrial and biocontrol fungal strains (Lima et al. 2003, Hynes et al. 2006) and for the generation of a genetic linkage map for *H. annosum s.l.* (Lind et al. 2005).

The ribosomal RNA gene cluster

The ribosomal RNA (rRNA) gene cluster encodes for the universal RNA molecules that form the structural and catalytical backbones of ribosomes. The nuclear rRNA operon is repeated as tandem arrays within the genome, and each operon contains both coding and intronic sequences. In fungi, the coding regions include genes for the small subunit RNA (SSU or 18S rDNA), large subunit RNA (LSU or 28S rDNA) and 5.8S rDNA (some fungal species also have a gene for a 5S rRNA), while the noncoding regions consist of the internally transcribed spacers (ITS1 and ITS2) and the intergenic spacer (IGS1 and IGS2) regions (Mitchell et al. 1995).

The rRNA operon copy number varies greatly between organisms ranging from about forty copies to over twenty thousand repeats in animals and plants (Prokopowich et al. 2003). In fungi, the number of rDNA arrays is typically in the range of 50-200 repeats (see James et al. 2001, Ganley and Kobayashi 2007). Due to selective pressure, the coding sequences are believed to be subjected to concerted evolution which causes the rDNA operon to behave like a single copy region. Thus, unequal recombination continuously

sweeps over one rRNA repeat variant to fixation within the array, resulting in extremely low level of variation between the rDNA repeats (Ganley and Kobayashi 2007). For the intronic spacer regions, a higher level of polymorphism is tolerated, and neutral sequence variants can be easily spread by homogenization.

The usefulness of rRNA molecules as evolutionary chronometers was first noticed by Woese and colleagues (Woese and Fox 1977, Woese 1987), and the following studies challenged the traditional phylogenetic classifications of many micro-organisms including the oomycetes and myxomycetes traditionally included within the fungal kingdom (Bruns et al. 1991, Mitchell et al. 1995). Being the most conserved sequence within the rDNA cluster, the SSU rDNA allows taxonomical comparisons between highly dissimilar species and the construction of universal evolutionary trees (Sogin et al. 1986, Woese 1987, Bruns et al. 1991, Mitchell et al. 1995). In turn, the LSU rDNA shows a higher degree of variation and usually allows species-level differentiation between fungal taxa. Currently, fungal phylogenies are usually constructed by multilocus approaches using sequences of the SSU and LSU rDNAs as well as mitochondrial markers and/or selected nuclear low-copy genes (James et al. 2006, Lutzoni et al. 2004, Matheny et al. 2007, Hibbett et al. 2007). This kind of multigene analysis can also be combined with phylogenetic character mapping, where taxonomical distributions of morphological characters are plotted along molecule-inferred phylogenies (Hibbett and Binder 2002, Binder et al. 2005).

The intronic ITS and IGS spacers are usually highly polymorphic between closely related species, and often show also intraspecific sequence variation. Based on this, the ITS and/or IGS molecules have been used for phylogenetic and population studies among many wood-associated fungal species (Hallenberg et al. 1996, Harrington et al. 1998, Kasuga and Mitchelson 2000, James et al. 2001, Kauserud and Schumacher 2003a, 2003b). The level of intraspecific sequence polymorphism varies greatly between fungal taxa, which is also evident for *P. gigantea* and *H. annosum s.l.* (see studies I and II, and discussion of the present thesis). Additional (secondary) insertion sequences resulting in considerable ITS length polymorphisms have also be found within some fungal taxa like *Cantharellus* spp. (Feibelman et al. 1994) and *Xylaria* spp. (Platas et al. 2004). The short 5.8S rDNA is usually included in ITS analyses because it is located in between the ITS1 and ITS2 regions and does not alone possess enough variable characters for phylogenetic classifications.

The overall level of horizontal (lateral) gene transfer between distantly related species is considered to be very low for SSU rDNA molecules (Choi and Kim 2007). However, horizontal transfer has been observed in certain group I intron sequences occurring within the SSU rDNA genes of some homobasidiomycete fungi (Hibbett et al. 1996) and zygomycetes (Tanabe and Yokota 2002).

Nuclear low copy genes and mitochondrial markers

The single copy or low-copy genes used for phylogenetic analyses usually encode for elementary structural proteins or housekeeping genes participating in basic cellular functions like transcription, translation or cell metabolism (Baldauf et al. 2000, James et al. 2006). Selected housekeeping genes have also been used for resolving phylogenetic relationships among the phylum Basidiomycota (Matheny et al. 2007) and for phylogeographical investigations of *Heterobasidion* species (Johannesson and Stenlid 2003, Ota et al. 2006). Although not selectively neutral, nuclear genes with ecologically essential functions can sometimes be used in resolving taxonomical questions. For *H. annosum s.l.*,

genes encoding for lignin degradation enzymes (manganese peroxidases and laccases) have been used for phylogenetic analysis (Maijala 2003, Asiegbu et al. 2004).

Mitochondrial genomes are highly variable between species in their size and gene content, and evolve with different rates between the eukaryotic lineages (Gray et al. 1999, Bullerwell and Lang 2005). The mitochondrial (mt) SSU and LSU rDNA molecules evolve more rapidly than their nuclear counterparts, and are similarly useful in resolving phylogenetic relationships among fungi (Lutzoni et al. 2004, Hong et al. 2002). Mitochondrial sequences have also been used for the development of taxon-specific primers for the identification of *Heterobasidion* species (Garbelotto et al. 1998, Gonthier et al. 2001, 2007, D'Amico et al. 2007). The European *H. parviporum* and *H. abietinum* can be differentiated using taxon-specific primers directed to the mt-LSU rDNA (Garbelotto et al. 1998).

Fungal community profiling

Sporocarp inventories and culture-based methods

The occurrence, geographical distribution and ecological role of saproxylic fungal species has been traditionally investigated using sporocarp inventories, which are especially useful for rare, endangered species (e.g. Renvall et al. 1995, Sippola et al. 2001, Lindhe et al. 2004, Penttilä et al. 2004). Since, however, fruitbody development is affected by environmental factors and many microfungi form inconspicuous sporocarps difficult to identify, fruitbody distribution may present a limited view of the fungal diversity existing as vegetative mycelia. The discrepancy between fruitbody occurrence and vegetative mycelial diversity has been observed within both mycorrhizal (Gardes and Bruns 1996, Jonsson et al. 1999) and wood decay fungal communities (Allmér et al. 2006).

In turn, all culture-based methods are limited by their selectivity, mainly due to the lack of suitable culturing media for some species and the tendency of fast-growing species to overgrow slower-growing ones in mixed cultures. Recent studies have also shown a clearly different fungal species composition as revealed by cultivation or molecular analysis from decayed conifer roots (Menkis et al. 2006), spruce branch debris (Allmér et al. 2006) or conifer bark beetles (Lim et al. 2005). This suggests that a full picture of a fungal community can only be obtained using a combined analysis.

PCR amplification with group-specific primers

The use of PCR primers with a wide range of target organisms (so called universal primers) allows the simultaneous amplification of many different DNA templates present in a single environmental sample. The SSU rDNA molecule contains several highly conserved sequence regions, which have been utilized for the design of various universal primers. On the other hand, more variable rDNA regions can be used for the design of taxon-specific primers. A pioneering study by White et al. (1990) described a collection of primers for the amplification of fungal ITS, SSU and mitochondrial rDNA molecules, and many of these primers are still extensively used. Several other universal fungal primer sets have also been described for SSU rDNA amplification (Kappe et al. 1996, Smit et al. 1999, Borneman and Hartin 2000, May et al. 2001, Lord et al. 2002, Vandenkoornhuyse et al. 2002, Nikolcheva

et al. 2003, Nieguitsila et al. 2007). In the current thesis, universal fungal SSU rDNA primers were designed for DGGE community fingerprinting purposes (study IV).

In turn, the polymorphic ITS molecule has been used as a target for several taxon-specific primers for wood decay fungi (Brown et al. 1993, Kim et al. 1999), mycorrhizal basidiomycetes (Gardes and Bruns 1993), conifer root pathogens (Hamelin et al. 1996) or indoor rot fungi (Moreth and Smith 2000). A recent study by Guglielmo et al. 2007 describe a selection of taxon-specific primers for the identification of eleven important wood decay fungal taxa using ITS, nuclear and mitochondrial LSU rDNA target molecules.

Besides detecting the presence of a target organism by conventional PCR, groupspecific primers can be used for real-time PCR applications. In real-time PCR, the amplification of target templates is monitored by using a DNA-binding dye or a fluorescently labeled sequence-specific probe, which allows the quantification of microbes within host plant tissues (Schena et al. 2004). This approach has been used for example in the monitoring of *H. parviporum* colonization within Norway spruce tissues (Hietala et al. 2003) and for the detection of *Candida* sp. biocontrol strains in apples (Massart et al. 2005).

In turn, the techniques called length heterogeneity PCR (LH-PCR, Suzuki et al. 1998) and ARISA (automated ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis) allow the separation between different rDNA sequence variants produced using a universal primer pair. These methods detect minor rDNA length polymorphisms using an automated sequencer, and have been used for fungal community profiling from e.g. soil or compost samples (Ranjard et al. 2003, Hansgate et al. 2005).

Sometimes universal rDNA primers are also used for producing complementary DNA by reverse transcription of expressed RNA molecules prior to conventional PCR. This approach enables the selective analysis of metabolically active microbes from environmental samples, and has been used for community fingerprinting for soil fungi (Girvan et al. 2004, Pennanen et al. 2004).

Denaturing gel electrophoresis

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) was originally designed for the detection of point mutations (Fischer and Lerman 1983, Sheffield et al. 1989). In denaturing conditions, double-stranded DNA fragments become partially single-stranded and show different migration rates within the gradient gels according to their melting behavior. Because DGGE allows the simultaneous analysis of multiple sequence variants, it has also been shown applicable for the analysis of environmental samples containing several microbial species (Muyzer et al. 1993).

For fungi, the pioneering DGGE community analysis was conducted by Kowalchuk et al. (1997) in order to reveal pathogenic fungi from grass root samples. Several applications for various fungal communities and substrata have followed, mostly using SSU rDNA target molecules (May et al. 2001, Schabereiter-Gurtner et al. 2001, Kowalchuk et al. 2002, Nikolcheva et al. 2003, Ma et al. 2005). During the present thesis, a DGGE protocol was designed for the analysis of saproxylic fungi directly from wood samples (studies IV, V). However, a particular DGGE protocol is usually applicable for many different sample types (see Appendix 2). Alternative target molecules used for DGGE community fingerprinting include e.g. the ITS rDNA (Anderson et al. 2003a, Korkama et al. 2006) and LSU rDNA (Marshall et al. 2003, Diouf et al. 2005). In the present thesis, DGGE was also used for the screening of ITS sequence variants for phylogenetic analyses (studies I and II).

The Temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE) method uses denaturing gradients generated by increasing temperature during the electrophoresis, and is similarly applicable for fungal community analyses (Smit et al. 1999). TGGE profiling of ITS molecules has also been used for the analysis of wood decomposer fungal communities from beech wood samples (Kulhánková et al. 2006). Some applications also utilize SSCP (Single Strand Conformational Polymorphisms) gels for the generation of fungal community fingerprints (Grosch et al. 2006).

Restriction analysis

The RFLP technique (Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms) can be used for the detection of DNA sequence polymorphisms that cause changes in restriction enzyme recognition sites. Conventional RFLP has been widely used for fungal species identification from relatively simple environmental samples like mycorrhizal rootlets (Gardes and Bruns 1996), living spruce trees (Johannesson and Stenlid 1999) or artificially inoculated wood blocks or chips (Jasalavich et al. 2000, Adair et al. 2002). However, the analysis of environmental samples with multiple species usually requires a cloning or culturing step before the RFLP analysis.

In contrast, terminal RFLP (T-RFLP, Liu et al. 1997) allows the analysis of multiple species from a single sample because only the terminal restriction fragment from each sequence variant is included in the analysis. T-RFLP has been recently used as an identification tool for artificially inoculated wood decay fungal strains (Nikolcheva et al. 2003) and also for fungal community profiling from spruce branches (Allmér et al. 2006) or pine wood blocks (Råberg et al. 2007).

Hybridization assays

Hybridization of specific probe oligonucleotides with target DNA or RNA can be used for the detection of microbes even without PCR amplification. In FISH (fluorescent *in situ* hybridization, DeLong et al. 1989), the hybridization of fluorescent probes with rRNA molecules is monitored by direct microscopical investigation (see Baker et al. 2004 for fungal applications).

Alternatively, hybridizations can be conducted using membrane-bound probe arrays (also called macroarrays or reverse dot blot arrays). Membrane hybridization arrays have been recently designed for a set of wood decay fungi (Oh et al. 2003) and also for community profiling of soil fungi (Valinsky et al. 2002). It should also be mentioned, that commercial microarrays (microchips) are currently available for selected fungal species like the rice blast pathogenic fungus (*Magnaporthe grisea*), and can be used for the monitoring of gene expression levels for thousands of different genes (Xu et al. 2006). While these technologies open up new potential for microbial community profiling, it must be kept in mind that array-based methods do not reveal unexpected species, and therefore are most suitable for the detection of community changes or indicator species in relatively well-known habitats.

Cloning and sequence-based analysis

The observation that a vast majority of bacterial species could not be cultivated under laboratory conditions resulted in the adoption of molecular approaches in microbial ecology. The first bacterial community studies were conducted before the PCR era by rRNA sequence analysis (Pace et al. 1985). However, the invention of PCR (Saiki et al. 1988) allowed the generation of large clone libraries containing PCR fragments amplified directly from environmental samples (Olsen 1990). Cloning is a powerful approach in revealing rare molecular variants or unculturable species, and has been widely used for fungal community studies (Smit et al. 1999, Borneman and Hartin 2000, Vandenkoornhuyse et al. 2002, Jumpponen 2007). Initial screening of large clone libraries is often conducted using DGGE and/or RFLP analysis (Gomes et al. 2003, Lim et al. 2005, Costa et al. 2006). During the current thesis, a few indicative DGGE bands (SSU rDNA fragments) were cloned and sequenced for identification purposes (study V). Alternatively, wood-associated fungal communities have been recently profiled by direct sequencing of ITS rDNA amplicons without a cloning step (see Menkis et al. 2006 for the analysis of root decay samples, and Zaremski et al. 2005 for commercial timber samples).

However, all PCR-based methods are inevitably affected by the selectivity of the primers used. Some recent large-scale cloning investigations have circumvented this bias by the analysis of unamplified environmental DNA fragments (Venter et al. 2004, DeLong et al. 2006). This approach, called metagenomics, requires extensive amounts of sequence data because (unlike PCR) they target any DNA molecules and are not enriched for a specific sequence type.

AIMS OF THE THESIS

Along with wide-scale *Phlebiopsis gigantea* biocontrol treatments the assessment of possible risks is necessary due to both economical and environmental reasons. Globally, knowledge about the level of genetic polymorphism and geographical differentiation within *P. gigantea* is essential for evaluating whether local biocontrol strains should be used in order to prevent the spread of exotic genetic material into new geographical regions. Locally, large-scale distribution of a single biocontrol genotype could lead to diminishment of genetic variation in *P. gigantea*, which could affect the ability of this species to compete against *H. annosum s.l.* In turn, selective pressures generated by the Rotstop treatments could change the pathogenicity of the *H. annosum s.l.* target pathogens in the long run. The level of genetic polymorphism and differentiation among *Heterobasidion* spp. also determines their potential to resistance development against *P. gigantea*. On the other hand, Rotstop biocontrol applications could affect the overall mycodiversity within the treated forest plots, causing some species to suffer or benefit from the treatment. This could have also economical consequences if some species of forest pathogenic wood-decay fungi would benefit from the treatment.

Specifically, the objective of the current thesis was to shed light on the following questions:

- What is the taxonomical status of *H. annosum s.l.* strains isolated from China?
- Are the North American and European populations of *P. gigantea* genetically differentiated?
- How do Rotstop biocontrol treatments affect the local population structure of *P. gigantea* and how long does the Rotstop genotype prevail in treated stumps?
- What is the applicability of DGGE methodology in the analysis of wood decay mycoflora directly from environmental samples?
- Does Rotstop treatment cause major changes in the community structure of wood decomposing fungi within treated conifer stumps?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials for DNA samples	Studies
Cultured fungal isolates	
H. annosum s.l. culture collection (Europe, China; YCD, KK)	Ι
P. gigantea culture collection (Europe, North America; KK, GB)	II
P. gigantea stump isolates (Finland; KL, EV, JH)	III
Reference collection of wood decay fungi (AMH)	IV
Stump wood samples	
Norway spruce, untreated (Finland; JH, EV)	IV
Norway spruce, untreated, 1 or 6-year-old (Finland; KL, JH, EV)	V
Norway spruce, Rotstop-treated, 6-year-old (Finland; KL, JH, EV)	V
Scots pine, untreated, 1 or 6-year-old (Finland; KL, JH, EV)	V
Scots pine, Rotstop-treated, 6-year-old (Finland; KL, JH, EV)	V
YCD =Yu-Cheng Dai, KK =Kari Korhonen, GB =Guy Bussières, EV =	=
Eeva Vainio, JH =Jarkko Hantula, AMH = Anna-Maija Hallaksela, KL =	=
Katriina Lipponen	
Methods	Studies

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification Multilocus DNA fingerprinting with ISSR (RAMS) primers Arbitrarily-primed (AP) PCR with the M13 core sequence ITS rDNA fragment amplification (ITS1-5.8S rDNA-ITS2) SSU rDNA amplification (fragments of 390 bp and 1650 bp)	I, II, III, IV I, III I, II IV, V
<i>Electrophoresis</i> Synergel agarose gels for multilocus DNA fingerprint pattern analysis Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) for ITS molecules DGGE for 390 bp SSU rDNA fragments DGGE for 1650 bp SSU rDNA fragments	I, II, III, IV I, II IV, V IV, V
<i>Molecular cloning</i> Cloning of PCR-amplified ITS rDNA fragments into <i>E. coli</i> DH5α Cloning of PCR-amplified SSU rDNA fragments into <i>E. coli</i> DH5α	I, II V

Bioinformatics and phylogenetic analysis	
Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA)	I, II
Sequence alignment (by Mega or GCG software)	I, II, IV
Blast (FastA) search in the NCBI GenBank database	I, V
Primer design	IV
Dendrogram construction by NJ clustering	I, II
Dendrogram construction by UPGMA clustering	Ι
Statistical testing	
Fisher's exact test	V
Shannon-Weaver heterogeneity index	V
Gini heterogeneity index	V

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Methodological considerations

RAMS and AP-PCR multilocus markers (I, II, III, IV)

In this thesis, multilocus DNA fingerprinting was used for several applications including (i) taxonomical affiliation of Chinese isolates of *H. annosum s.l.* (I), (ii) assessing the level of geographical differentiation between the North American and European *P. gigantea* populations (II), (iii) identification of the Rotstop biocontrol strain and differentiation between indigenous *P. gigantea* isolates (III), and (iv) strain identification of unknown wood decay fungal isolates (IV).

During study I, the taxonomical status of Chinese *H. annosum s.l.* strains that showed equal laboratory fertility with both *H. parviporum* and *H. abietinum* was assessed using multilocus fingerprinting with the M13 AP-PCR primer as well as two RAMS primers (CGA and GAG). In previous studies, M13 fingerprinting had shown a clear differentiation between *H. parviporum* and *H. annosum s.s.* in Europe (Stenlid et al. 1994), while our RAMS analysis (Vainio and Hantula 1999) had revealed several group-specific markers for *H. annosum s.s.*, *H. parviporum* or *H. abietinum*. In study I, the multilocus fingerprinting allowed affiliation of the Chinese strains with the *H. parviporum* cluster, and also revealed fixed indicative markers for both *H. abietinum* and the North American S group.

As for *P. gigantea*, only two different RAMS primers (CGA and TCG) have been described applicable for multilocus fingerprinting (see studies II and III, Vainio et al. 1998, Annesi et al. 2005, Grillo et al. 2005; note that the CGA and TCG primer sequences are palindromic and target trinucleotide repeat motifs that do not cause a frameshift if located within coding gene regions). Based on experimental testing during our studies (data not shown), several other RAMS primers (e.g. AGA, GAAA, CCA, CT, GT, TCC) had shown either insufficient amplification or simple, monomorphous fingerprints for *P. gigantea*. However, the CGA primer generates fingerprint patterns with several variable characters suitable for population analysis (Vainio et al. 1998). During study II, CGA pattern analysis allowed the identification of several markers occurring only within European or North American populations of *P. gigantea*. In addition, a set of markers also occurred among all the isolates, thus generating a characteristic marker pattern for this species.

During study III, RAMS and M13 primers were also used for the identification of diagnostic markers that would allow differentiation between the Rotstop biocontrol strain and wild-type *P. gigantea* strains isolated from biocontrol-treated and untreated control forest plots. All the *P. gigantea* strains isolated from 6-year-old treated spruce stumps were identical in their fingerprint pattern with the Rotstop-strain, whereas all isolates from 1-year-old untreated spruce and pine stumps differed from it (III). The random occurrence of the Rotstop marker combination was also evaluated by multiplication over the marker frequencies of eleven informative fingerprint bands. Thus, we found one Rotstop band (CGA-640) that was rare among the indigenous strains isolated from our sample plots (III), and ten markers that were only found among the wild-type strains. The obtained probability value is based on the assumption that the markers show a random Mendelian segregation as described for ISSR markers based on human pedigree analysis (Zietkiewicz 1994, see also

Czembor and Arseniuk 2000 for progeny analysis of *Phaeosphaeria* fungi by microsatellite-primed SSR markers), and assumes there is no linkage disequilibrium between the markers. (Actually, the observed marker frequencies correspond to genotype frequencies and hence the occurrence of a marker represents the dominant genotype including both homozygotic and heterozygotic strains). In this sense, the two most informative markers alone (CGA-640 and M13-450) would have allowed the separation of the Rotstop strain from most isolates (approximately 1% of strains would have the Rotstop marker combination by chance in the current sample population). Other studies have shown that the CGA-640 marker is rare also among other European populations (Study II, Annesi et al. 2005), and thus might be suitable for the development of specific SCAR primers for the Rotstop isolate.

Generally, arbitrary multilocus fingerprinting techniques are straightforward to use as no prior knowledge of the target sequences is needed, and several primers can be simply tested. These methods typically produce characteristic marker patterns that allow separation between different fungal species. In study IV, RAMS fingerprinting was used as an identification tool for cultured fungal strains isolated from environmental wood samples.

However, it must be noted that arbitrary multilocus fingerprinting methods have often been associated with reproducibility problems, which can be caused by e.g. sensitivity of the PCR amplification for DNA template concentration or impurities present in the sample. Indeed, most studies conducted by arbitrary fingerprinting primers describe omitting part of the markers due to unreproducibility. Similarly, also during the current thesis, some unreliable fingerprinting markers were observed (see e.g. study II), and consequently excluded from the analysis (thus, if a marker was found instable in a single fungal strain, it was not scored from the remaining isolates either).

Another problem with arbitrary multilocus primers is the difficulty of comparing results obtained by different research groups due to the subjective nature of the marker selection and scoring, resulting in poorly connectable data. Thus, while Stenlid et al. (1994) describe scoring a total of 23 M13 markers from *H. annosum* group S isolates, we only selected twelve M13 markers for the population analysis of *H. parviporum* (study I). Similarly, Annesi et al. 2005 use a slightly different marker selection for their RAMS fingerprinting analysis for *P. gigantea* compared to our studies (II, III).

Despite these limitations, it is evident that different multilocus fingerprinting techniques like ISSR (RAMS), RAPD or AP-PCR have been quite efficient in differentiating between the *H. annosum s.l.* intersterility groups, often generating diagnostic markers for these closely related taxa (see Garbelotto et al. 1998 for diagnostic group-specific AP-PCR markers, Vainio et al. 1999 and study I for group-specific RAMS markers and Fabritius and Karjalainen 1993, Garbelotto et al. 1993 and Goggioli et al. 1998 for diagnostic RAPD markers for *H. annosum s.l.*). These kind of fixed group-specific markers are very informative, and it has been stated that even a single fixed group-specific marker provides evidence of genetic isolation for the corresponding phylogenetic group (Taylor et al. 2000). Nevertheless, in the future it would be highly useful to generate additional markers (e.g. SCARs, SSR or AFLP markers) for *P. gigantea* population studies and biocontrol strain monitoring purposes. For *H. annosum s.l.*, a wide selection of polymorphic microsatellite and AFLP markers have been recently developed (Johannesson and Stenlid 2004, Lind et al. 2005a).

ITS rDNA markers (I, II)

ITS rDNA analysis was used in the present thesis for (i) resolving the taxonomical status of the Chinese *H. annosum s.l.* strains (ii) assessing the level of geographical differentiation between North American and European *P. gigantea* strains. Methodologically, the analyses were conducted using DGGE and sequence analysis.

The level of ITS sequence variation has been shown to be relatively low within the species of *Heterobasidion*. Thus, no ITS polymorphisms have been observed within the European *H. annosum s.s.* and *H. abietinum*, while a relatively low degree of variation has been found within the European *H. parviporum* and North American S and P intersterility groups (Kasuga et al. 1993, Harrington et al. 1998), as well as within *H. araucariae* (Harrington et al. 1998) and *H. insulare* (Dai et al. 2002). During study I, the ITS alleles of Chinese *H. annosum s.l.* isolates were putatively identified using DGGE, and sequences were determined for the representative ITS ribotypes. Consistent with the multilocus fingerprinting analysis, the Chinese strains showed a higher level of intraspecific variation in their ITS sequences compared to the European *H. parviporum* clade. In addition, the ITS analysis revealed a 5.8S rDNA insertion diagnostic for the Chinese isolates (which separated these strains from both the European *H. parviporum* isolates and the North American S isolates).

Most *Heterobasidion* species can be identified based on polymorphic characters in their ITS sequences. Thus, the European *H. parviporum* and *H. annosum s.s.* and the North American P and S groups as well as *H. insulare* and *H. araucariae* can all be differentiated from each other by their ITS sequences (Kasuga et al. 1993, Garbelotto et al. 1996, Harrington et al. 1998). As an exception, some European isolates of *H. parviporum* are indistinguishable from *H. abietinum* by both their ITS and IGS-1 region (Kasuga et al. 1993, Harrington 1998, Kasuga and Mitchelson 2000), although based on housekeeping gene analysis these species have been separated for a considerable evolutionary time (Johannesson and Stenlid 2003).

For *P. gigantea*, the use of DGGE and sequence analysis resulted in the identification of altogether five different ITS allele types (study II) that showed approximately 98% of sequence similarity to each other. However, the ITS polymorphisms observed did not allow the differentiation between European and North American populations, as one of the alleles was identical in sequence between the continents. In turn, updated information acquired from the NCBI GenBank database (Benson et al. 2007; www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) reveal a set of recently submitted *P. gigantea* ITS sequences that show an even higher level of variation among the European strains of this fungus. Using the NCBI Blast program (Altschul et al. 1990; www.ncbi.nll.nih.gov/blast/Blast.cgi), certain *P. gigantea* sequences yield as low as 96% sequence similarities to our submissions. An updated sequence alignment of the publicly available sequence variants for *P. gigantea* is provided in Appendix 1.

The high number of ITS sequence variants observed for *P. gigantea* might suggest the presence of rare alleles that could be used as indicative markers for certain geographical populations or even fungal strains. Unfortunately, by NCBI Blast analysis the ITS sequence of the Rotstop isolate (accession DQ320133 by Vasiliauskas et al. 2007) shows 100% sequence similarity with seven other *P. gigantea* sequences (see Appendix 3), and therefore does not contain rare diagnostic polymorphisms suitable for strain identification for this particular biocontrol isolate. However, it should be noted that according to our DGGE analysis (study II), the Rotstop strain is heterozygous for two ITS alleles (designated as A and C in study II). By Blast comparisons, the newly submitted Rotstop sequence seems to

correspond to the shorter ITS allele (C), while the longer allele variant remains uncharacterized for this biocontrol strain.

The accumulation of environmental sequence data within the public databases is also obvious for both *P. gigantea* and *H. annosum*. Several putatively identified ITS sequences with high similarities to *P. gigantea* have been recently submitted to the GenBank database. These sequences have been retrieved from airborne single spores (Kauserud et al. 2005), mycorrhizal root tips (Menkis et al. 2005) or soil samples (Belbahri et al. 2006, unpublished results, see NCBI accessions EF174449, EF174447, EF174441 and EF174440), and show between 98-100% of sequence similarity to the Rotstop sequence. These percentage similarities fall well within the intraspecies variation range for this fungus (according to Blast comparisons, *P. gigantea* shows ITS sequence similarity of 93% to the most closely matching related species, namely *Phlebiopsis flavidoalba*, GenBank accession EU118662).

Similarly, several environmental sequences with high similarities (in the range of within-species variation) to *H. annosum s.l.* have been recently described from e.g. nasal mucus samples (Buzina et al. 2003), airborne fungal spores (Kauserud et al. 2005), on the surface of bark beetles (Kim et al. 2005, Lim et al. 2005) or Norway spruce woody remains (Allmér et al. 2006). These environmental sequences reflect the common usage of ITS sequences for identification purposes and community fingerprinting among fungi.

SSU rDNA markers (IV, V)

In the present thesis, SSU rDNA was used as a target molecule for fungal community fingerprinting by DGGE (studies IV, V). In general, the main properties of successful PCR primers for multitemplate amplifications are (i) specificity (successful amplification from target templates and selectivity against other DNAs), (ii) sensitivity (efficient annealing to target molecules), and (iii) lack of amplification bias among the various target organisms. In studies IV and V, the main objective for the primers was to select against host tree DNA that might compete with the sometimes scarce fungal templates present in wood samples. Thus, a fungus-selective primer (FR1) was designed and experimentally tested in combination with four other primers to evaluate their specificity for fungi. PCR experiments using fungal pure cultures and axenic plant tissues revealed a highly enhanced fungal selectivity for the primer pairs even in the presence of a thousand-fold excess of plant DNA from pine, spruce or birch (IV). The fungal specificity of the primers was also evaluated by sequence comparisons to the GenBank database, which revealed matching sequences to primer FR1 among a high variety of fungal species, but also occasional isolates of Echinodermata, Choanoflagellida, Mollusca, Arthropoda and Magnoliophyta. This is consistent with a recently conducted bioinformatics analysis (Hagn et al. 2003) reporting matches for primer pair FR1/FF390 with all fungal rDNAs, but also crossreactivity with some plant (Slopalinida), red algal and invertebrate (Porifera and Cnidaria) sequences.

In practice, recent fungal community analyses using the primer pairs described in study IV have sometimes reported amplification from non-target organisms including *Amoeba* (Malosso et al. 2006), Hydrozoa, Arthropoda and/or Annelida (Zuccaro et al. 2003, Sekiguchi et al. 2008), Cercozoa (Green et al. 2004), Oomycota (Hoshino and Matsumoto 2007) or even *Spinacia* sp. plant templates (Hoshino and Matsumoto 2007). However, it must be noted that these studies have been conducted using very different sample types (soil, rhizosphere or algal tissue samples), and also the PCR protocols have been quite highly modified in part of the studies (see Appendix 2). In study V, a selection of eight

indicative SSU rDNA ribotypes (DGGE bands) was subjected to sequence analysis, and all the resulting sequences revealed to be most closely related with either basidiomycetous or ascomycetous fungal taxa. Updated NCBI Blast search results for these sequences are reported in Appendix 3. In addition, several recent community profiling studies describe obtaining only fungal sequences when using our primers (Gomes et al. 2003, Kowalchuk et al. 2003, Lilja et al. 2005, Chung et al. 2006, Götz et al. 2006, Van der Wal et al. 2006, Blackwood et al. 2007, Sekiguchi et al. 2007, see Appendix 2).

Similarly to the primers designed in study IV, several widely used fungus-specific primer sets for SSU rDNA (White et al. 1990, Kappe et al. 1996, Smit et al. 1999, Borneman and Hartin 2000) have been shown to amplify some non-target templates (Anderson et al. 2003b, Hagn et al. 2003, Anderson and Cairney 2004, O'Brien et al. 2005, Malosso et al. 2006). Therefore, the presence of possible plant or animal contamination sources should be carefully evaluated if profiling protocols are adopted for new microbial communities or sample types.

The amplification efficacy (sensitivity) of a primer pair can be influenced by templaterelated reasons as well as sample-related reasons like the presence of large amounts of predominating non-target DNA (e.g. plant or animal host DNA) or impurities that might inhibit the DNA polymerase. The sensitivity of the primer pairs designed in study IV was initially tested using a culture collection of 46 wood-inhabiting fungal species, only one of which failed in PCR amplification (see also Appendix 2 for studies by Zuccaro et al. 2003 and Green et al. 2004 for testing the primers using fungal culture collections). During study V, on average 86% of the environmental wood samples successfully yielded amplification products. Although not directly comparable to culture-based studies (due to e.g. differences in sample sizes), this percentage seems quite high (see Petäistö et al. 1978 and Vasiliauskas et al. 2005a, where fungal cultures were obtained from approximately 68% and 65% of Scots pine and Norway spruce stump wood samples, respectively). In addition, on average two (and up to nine), separate DGGE bands were detected from individual wood samples during study V. Therefore, our PCR protocol seemed adequate for revealing a diverse fungal community from decomposing stump wood samples. However, the suitability of the primer sets for completely different sample types or fungal assemblages might not always be optimal, as insufficient amplification has been observed using the primers for certain ectomycorrhizal communities (Pennanen et al. 2005) or some agricultural soil samples (Hagn et al. 2003, Oros-Sichler et al. 2006).

During multitemplate amplifications, preferential amplification of certain target molecules can be caused by several reasons. Thus, in addition to actual nucleotide mismatches, amplification bias may result from differences between the target organisms in their rRNA operon copy number (Farrelly et al. 1995, Crosby and Criddle 2003) or the accessibility of the rDNA repeats within their genomes (the efficacy of strand separation is affected by e.g. template secondary structure and overall guanine-plus-cytosine content, see Polz and Cavanaugh 1998, Ishii and Fukui 2001). Furthermore, self-annealing of the most abundant templates sometimes causes a bias towards 1:1 mixtures of different amplicons regardless of the initial ratio of the templates (Suzuki and Giovannoni 1996). In study IV, the possibility of amplification bias was evaluated based on PCR testing using artificial template mixtures from a set of common wood-inhabiting fungi (IV), and each species could be detected by DGGE even when its template concentration constituted only 10% of the total DNA used for amplification. Artificial community fingerprints were also successfully generated from PCR mixtures containing equal amounts of DNA from eight different wood-inhabiting tester species (IV).

On the other hand, the evaluation of species diversity using community profile patterns is based on the assumption that each species is represented by a single molecular marker. This relationship could be skewed due to within-species variation in the target molecule. During study IV, no within-species variation was observed between different tester strains representing a single fungal species as revealed by DGGE. However, multiple SSU rDNA fragments were detected from two individual strains from our culture collection (*Cylindrobasidium evolvens* and *Phellinus schweinitzii*), but the reasons behind this phenomenon were not investigated further by sequence analysis (contamination of the reference cultures was not ruled out).

In general, the level of intraspecific variation is considered to be very low for SSU rDNA. However, insertion sequences within the SSU rDNA have been often shown to be hotspots for intraspecific variation (DePriest and Been 1992, Perotto and Bonfante 1998, Lickey et al. 2003), and they might increase the possibility of producing several DGGE bands from one fungal species or isolate. In turn, should introns occur in the primer annealing region, they could result in lack of amplification from the corresponding species. During study IV, unusually long PCR-products were obtained from some fungal pure cultures (Rhinocladiella sp., Gliocladium sp., Chondrostereum purpureum, Neobulgaria premnophila and one unidentified mitosporic species) and also from part of the wood samples analyzed during studies IV and V. Therefore, SSU rDNA insertions seem to occur relatively commonly in saproxylic fungi. The Comparative RNA Web (CRW) database (Cannone et al. 2002, www.rna.icmb.utexas.edu) lists the occurrence of SSU rDNA introns e.g. in the wood-associated fungal taxa Exophiala, Phialocephala, Bionectria, Neonectria, Graphium, Lentinellus, Chondrostereum, Schizophyllum, Panellus and Ganoderma. However, as SSU rDNA insertions were detected only in minority (11%) of our fungal reference species, they were not considered to cause major overestimation of species diversity.

During studies IV and V, the suitability of the designed primers was evaluated only for wood-inhabiting fungal communities. However, several recent studies report successful usage of these primer systems for fungal community fingerprinting from e.g. various soil types (Liiri et al. 2001, Liiri et al. 2002, Perkiömäki and Fritze 2003, Perkiömäki et al. 2003, Björklöf et al. 2003, Girvan et al. 2004, Pennanen et al. 2004, Rantalainen et al. 2004, Hiddink et al. 2005, Rantalainen et al. 2005, Bezemer et al. 2006, Davis et al. 2006, Garbeva et al. 2006, Kang and Mills 2006, Kowalchuk et al. 2006, Drigo et al. 2007, Kardol et al. 2007, Lagomarsino et al. 2007, Yergeau et al. 2007, Sekiguchi et al. 2008) or plant tissues (Pennanen et al. 2001), termite nests (Diouf et al. 2005), and even human gut microflora (Kühbacher et al. 2006) or atherosclerotic plaques (Ott et al. 2007). The primer sets have also been used to analyze cultivated isolates from diseased yam (Abang et al. 2005) and Siberian Larch needles (Kauhanen et al. 2006) and compost (Granit et al. 2007), while some studies report using the primers for nested PCR protocols (see Zuccaro et al. 2003, Green et al. 2004, Costa et al. 2006, Oros-Sichler et al. 2006, Hoshino and Matsumoto 2007). One of the primer pairs (FR1/NS1) has also been shown applicable for the generation of T-RFLP profiles from soil samples (Schwarzenbach et al. 2007).

Sequence-based identification (V)

The main benefit of sequence-based analyses is that the results can be directly connected across studies. However, when sequences are retrieved from environmental samples by PCR amplification, they are subjected to various forms of PCR artifacts, including errors

generated by the DNA polymerase, the formation of chimeric molecules by template switching of an incompletely extended primer, and heteroduplex formation by the cross-hybridization of heterologous sequences (Speksnijder et al. 2001, Acinas et al. 2005). In practice, the formation of heteroduplex molecules may result in additional bands in community profiles produced by methods like DGGE or RFLP, or even the generation of artificial sequence polymorphisms due to cloned heteroduplexes being subjected to mismatch repair mechanisms of the bacterial host (Speksnijder et al. 2001, Thompson et al. 2002). In turn, chimeric sequences often show low similarities to publicly available reference sequences (Jumpponen 2007). (Naturally, low sequence similarities can also indicate the presence of novel, unidentified phyla, see Vandenkoornhuyse et al. 2002). In study V, the sequences, and therefore we found no indications of novel deeply branching taxonomical groups. In addition, according to a newly conducted data analysis using the Chimera check computer program of the Ribosomal Database Project (Cole et al. 2003; Appendix 3), none of the sequences were suggested as chimeric.

Species identification based on SSU rDNA sequence data is getting more precise due to large-scale sequencing efforts for the fungi (e.g. the AFTOL project, see Lutzoni et al. 2004, Hibbett et al. 2007). However, to this day, the sequence databases cannot be considered comprehensive and even many well-known fungal taxa lack reference sequences. Consequently, a relatively large portion of environmental sequences still show similarities allowing only genus-level affiliation to known taxa (for examples of species identification based on SSU rDNA see Appendix 2, and for recent ITS-based identifications see Kauserud et al. 2005, Kulhánková et al. 2006, Råberg et al. 2007). It should also be noted that the conservative nature of the SSU rDNA molecule sometimes causes difficulties in the affiliation of sequences to a specific species or genus. This was observed during study V especially in the case of two sequence types which showed relatively high sequence similarities to various Agaricales species (see Appendix 3). Thus, parallel culturing analysis or comparisons of band types/sequences/RFLP patterns to a relevant culture collection is in many cases still essential for exact species identification. Fortunately, the use of our fungal culture collection allowed the identification of part of the SSU rDNA ribotypes detected by DGGE (V).

Finally, when environmental sequences are compared to publicly available databases, it should be kept in mind that a considerable portion (up to 20%) of published ITS and SSU rDNA sequences might be unreliable (due to being chimeric, incorrectly named, or containing high numbers of unidentified bases, see Bridge et al. 2003, Jumpponen et al. 2007). However, identification of environmental sequences can be considered reliable in cases where the unknown sequence shows a high similarity to a number of independent sequence submissions all representing the same taxonomical group.

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (I, II, IV, V)

During study IV, four different primer combinations were experimentally tested for their DGGE resolution capacity. Two of these primer pairs, producing either long SSU rDNA fragments of *ca* 1650 bp (FR1-gc/NS1) or short fragments of *ca* 390 bp (FR1-gc/FF390), showed an adequate separation potential among our reference fungi, and were consequently chosen for the analysis of environmental samples (IV, V).

During the analysis of a total of 228 stump wood samples (V), use of the shorter SSU fragment type revealed a higher number of different DGGE band mobility types (in total

48) compared to the longer one (38 different band types). This discrepancy could result from either a lower DGGE resolution capacity or a lower PCR amplification efficacy for the longer fragment type when used for the current stump mycoflora. Testing with our reference fungal collection had shown that the majority of the species could be separated from each other by DGGE (IV). However, in practice it can be expected that part of the sequence variations remain undetected by DGGE resulting in two or more species sharing the same ribotype (Crosby and Criddle 2003). This is especially relevant for fragments longer than 1000 bp (Sheffield et al. 1989). Furthermore, the migration rate of the molecules is not related to their taxonomical status, and among our reference fungi, identical band types were in some cases found between ascomycetous and basidiomycetous taxa (IV).

In study V, the use of two separate primer pairs for each sample allowed species identification of some DGGE band mobility groups (operational taxonomical units, OTUs) based on identical migration with certain tester species (*P. gigantea, H. annosum, H. parviporum, Resinicium bicolor, Stereum sanguinolentum* or *Hypholoma capnoides*). However, identification was not attempted for the majority of the band types due to the high number of amplification products in single samples, which made it difficult to reliably connect band types produced by the separate primer sets (differences in the amplification efficacies of the primers also resulted in somewhat different profiles in part of the samples).

In many ecological applications, DGGE profiling is used for revealing changes in mycoflora as a result of a certain experimental treatment (see Appendix 2 for examples). Thus, species identification of the band types is not attempted and the profile patterns are simply compared to each other by statistical analysis. In this context, the possible underestimation of species richness using DGGE profiling should not present a major problem, as it most likely affects both data sets in a similar manner. However, during the current thesis some indicative species affected by the Rotstop treatment might have escaped detection due to being grouped together with an unrelated species.

On the other hand, the formation of heteroduplex molecules could lead to additional bands in community profiles obtained by DGGE. This phenomenon was clearly seen during our ITS analysis of *P. gigantea* for taxonomical purposes (II). Thus, single strains of *P. gigantea* sometimes produced three distinct DGGE bands (corresponding to two ITS alleles and a heteroduplex band), and different strains of this fungus showed clearly distinguishable ribotypes. In community fingerprinting, this kind of intraspecific variation would lead to detection of artificial species diversity. Similarly, *in silico* analyses by Crosby and Criddle (2003) have suggested that ARISA tends to overestimate species richness due to multiple signals from single organisms. In contrast, no additional DGGE bands indicative for heteroduplex formation were observed using artificial multitemplate PCR amplifications of SSU rDNA fragments during studies IV and V.

DNA extraction from environmental wood samples (IV, V)

In studies IV and V, the total DNA yield from most wood samples was relatively low, and therefore undiluted extracts were used for multitemplate PCR amplifications. However, as the vast majority of wood samples of ca. 0.5 ml yielded amplification products sufficient for DGGE analysis (IV, V), the DNA extraction method described in study IV was considered adequate for our samples. Thus far, the optimal sample size for fungal community profiling has not been thoroughly evaluated for decomposing wood. Allmér et al. (2006) consider that the quantity of 0.1g of pulverized wood from spruce branches was

insufficient for their ITS/T-RFLP analysis, while Menkis et al. (2006) successfully amplified ITS rDNA for sequence analysis using root segments ca. 5 mm in length. In turn, Ranjard et al. (2003) observed strong variations in the fungal composition of small (<1 g) replicate soil samples, although they suggested that the smallest samples could be more adequate for the detection of minor fungal populations. As for decaying wood, which is a highly heterogeneous substrate, pooling of the samples from individual stumps (or branches etc.) could sometimes be a successful sampling strategy if total ribotype scores were used for assessing fungal diversity. It must also be emphasized, that a comprehensive analysis requires that the sampling is not confined only to the heavily decayed wood regions. On the other hand, the detection of several SSU rDNA variants from samples of 0.5 ml (V) shows that cultivation samples should be very small in order to prevent obtaining mixed cultures.

Ecological remarks

Heterobasidion annosum s.l. (I)

Wide-scale biocontrol treatments against H. annosum s.l. root rot could create selection pressures influencing the virulence of these pathogens in the long run. Thus, although biocontrol usage has been shown to decrease the occurrence of H. annosum. s.l., it might also enhance the generation of H. annosum s.l. genotypes that are more capable of competing with the biocontrol agent. This is especially significant if the biocontrol treatment is formulated using a single genotype of the biocontrol organism, as in the case of Rotstop. Novel results suggest that there is variation between Heterobasidion strains in resistance towards the Rotstop isolate, and by quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping there seems to be a heritability factor involved (Samils et al. 2007). Interestingly, in some cases oidial treatments with P. gigantea have been shown to improve the germination of H. annosum s.l. in Norway spruce stumps (Thor and Stenlid 1998). In turn, Gerlagh et al. 1999 found that the usage of Trichoderma strains in the control of Sclerotinia sclerotiorum increased the number of reproductive structures formed by the pathogen compared to untreated controls. Should a similar situation exist for *H. annosum s.l.*, the application of *P.* gigantea into stumps already infected with the pathogen could actually enhance the generation of pathogen-borne long-range propagules.

Currently, the pathogenicity of *H. parviporum* appears to be lower in the natural forests of China compared to Europe (Dai et al. 2006, study I). This phenomenon might be partly caused by the fact that the most extensive decay damages are found in forest stands with a long history of management (which is the case at many European locations). Interestingly, during study I, the molecular markers used showed a higher level of polymorphism among the Chinese populations of *H. parviporum* compared to the European ones. This observation is consistent with the hypothesis that the center of evolution for the genus *Heterobasidion* would be located in south-eastern Asia, where also other related saprophytic taxa (e.g. *Heterobasidion insulare sensu lato*) can be found, and where the *H. annosum s.l.* species complex is currently relatively poorly known (Niemelä and Korhonen 1998, Dai et al. 2002, study I). It is also likely that even more species of *Heterobasidion* occur in South-Eastern Asia (particularly China or India). In Japan, a new species of *Heterobasidion* has been recently discovered (Ota et al. 2006).

There are several case examples of fungal or oomycetous plant pathogens that have gained increased virulence or a wider host range as a result of genetic exchange between
another pathogen species (Brasier 2000, Olson and Stenlid 2002, Schardl and Craven 2003). As for *H. annosum s.l.*, the high interfertility observed between allopatric populations increases the possibility of similar events. Novel results also suggest that the North American P group would have acquired a mitochondrial rDNA insertion from the sympatric *H. annosum* S group in the Western USA (Linzer et al. 2007).

During study I, the Chinese H. annosum s.l. strains revealed to be sexually compatible with European strains of *H. parviporum*, but were also highly interfertile with *H. abietinum* and the North American S group. This was especially notable for isolates representing the eastern Himalayan (South-West Chinese) population that showed a mating frequency of ca 96% and 98% with H. parviporum and H. abietinum, respectively. A similar situation has been previously observed with several other allopatric populations of H. annosum s.l., which makes species identification with the aid of mating tests difficult. However, based on Neighbor Joining dendrogram analysis of DNA fingerprint patterns (I), the Chinese strains clearly clustered together with the European H. parviporum (a weak additional subcluster was formed by part of the Chinese S isolates), while H. abietinum and the North American S group formed separate clusters. Moreover, according to AMOVA analysis, the Chinese isolates showed significant differentiation from the European H. parviporum (27-36%), while their differentiation from *H. abietinum* was distinctly higher (64-67%). In turn, the two Chinese populations (from South-West or North-East China) showed to be closely related to each other (by AMOVA, only 6.6% of the variation was attributable to differentiation between the populations, P=0.0964).

During the recent decades, human activity has caused great changes in the natural habitats of *Heterobasidion* species, generating new opportunities for them to prosper, spread and hybridize. Thus, locally current silvicultural practices have greatly increased the occurrence of these fungi, while globally man-mediated transfer has resulted in the intercontinental spread of *Heterobasidion* strains (Gonthier et al. 2004, D'Amico et al. 2007, Gonthier et al. 2007). Both of these factors also increase the probability of more than one *Heterobasidion* species to meet and hybridize when occupying the same niche (Gonthier 2001, Garbelotto et al. 2004, 2007). Gonthier et al. (2007) describe that in Italy the North American P taxon has successfully invaded a habitat in which the indigenous European *H. annosum s.s.* is only marginally present, and the introduced species also seems to be competitive with the native taxon even where both species coexist. Notably, the introduced strains have hybridized with the local *H. annosum s.s.* population in the wild (D'Amico et al. 2007).

In sympatry, natural interspecies *Heterobasidion* spp. hybrids have been considered extremely rare (Gonthier et al. 2001), and only one natural long-lived hybrid strain (a North American S/P hybrid) has been thoroughly described so far (Garbelotto et al. 1996, Garbelotto et al. 2004). A recent study by Garbelotto et al. (2007) also demonstrated that North American S/P hybrids generated in the laboratory were less competitive than the parental genotypes when inoculated on host tree species preferred by one of the parents. Notably, however, in substrates favorable to both parents these hybrids were shown to be equally fit with the parental strains, suggesting that hybrid strains could thrive by shifting their host plant. Moreover, Lind et al. (2007b) found that North American S/P hybrid progeny isolates showed a higher virulence compared to the parental isolates when inoculated on winter-hardened spruce seedlings. It should also be noted that artificially generated North American S/P hybrids have been used for demonstrating that mitochondria play an important role in the virulence of *H. annosum s.l.* (Olson and Stenlid 2001).

Phlebiopsis gigantea (II, III, V)

Global population structure

When used in their native habitat, there are no indications that *P. gigantea* biocontrol strains would develop pathogenic properties towards their tree hosts. However, global spread of exotic *P. gigantea* strains to non-target environments and/or hybridization events between geographically isolated populations could potentially cause changes in the ecological role of this saprophyte, leading to undesirable effects like gaining of pathogenic properties or a broader host range. In this context it should be noted that only four species of conifers (*Pinus sylvestris, Picea abies, Juniperus communis* and *Taxus baccata*) occur naturally in Finland, while the potential host tree range within North America is considerably wider.

During study II, a considerable level of genetic differentiation was observed between the European and North American populations of *P. gigantea* by AMOVA analysis based on multilocus genetic fingerprints. However, according to laboratory mating experiments (Grillo et al. 2005) this differentiation is not accompanied by reproductive isolation, but seems to represent geographical differentiation at the population level. This agrees with several case examples showing that genetic isolation often precedes reproductive isolation in fungi with global distribution ranges (it has even been argued that phylogenetic species isolated only by geography but not by sexual incompatibility will inevitably evolve reproductive isolation barriers if the geographic isolation persists), (Taylor et al. 2006).

In turn, based on our ITS rDNA sequence analysis it was not possible to identify a diagnostic marker sequence differentiating between all the European and North American strains (II). In addition, ITS alleles with and without a specific insertion sequence were observed in both of these geographically separated populations. The persistence of this unique evolutionary signature sequence in both of the populations agrees with *P. gigantea* having a large population size with free mating. Moreover, the large number of *P. gigantea* ITS sequence variants recently described from Europe (Appendix 1) suggests that many more sequence types would also exist in North America, and our analysis cannot be considered comprehensive. Nevertheless, based on our results the use of local biocontrol strains is highly recommended as hybridization events between the geographical races of this fungus could lead to the formation of novel genotypes.

Currently, risks associated with introduced organisms are commonly recognized, and local *P. gigantea* strains are increasingly being tested for biocontrol purposes (Annesi et al. 2005, Covert and Higgins 2007). Besides this, *P. gigantea* strains are continuously screened because some of the commercially manufactured biocontrol products seem to diminish their competitive activity after being used for approximately two years (Pratt et al. 2000). In Finland, the efficiency of Rotstop is continually monitored by simulated stump treatment experiments carried out every year since the introduction of this biocontrol agent in 1993, and the results indicate that the strain has retained its efficacy over the course of ten years (Korhonen et al. 2003).

Spread of Rotstop within local populations

A viable heterokaryotic *P. gigantea* strain like the Rotstop biocontrol isolate is expected to produce fruitbodies similarly to any naturally occurring mycelium. Thus, it can also be presumed that Rotstop-derived basidiospores would mate freely with the resident *P*.

gigantea population, which would potentially lead to decrease in the wild-type genetic marker pool within the local population. In study III, we addressed this topic by analyzing natural *P. gigantea* infections appearing on fresh stumps that were cut from the experimental forest plots five years after they had been treated with Rotstop. Three different plots were used: (i) plots treated with Rotstop 5 years before the second felling (ii) adjacent plots that had been left untreated (iii) separate control plots nearby the stump treatment experiment.

Based on eleven informative multilocus fingerprinting markers we could separate between several (up to six) different *P. gigantea* strains within single conifer stumps, and to identify 56 strains that differed in their haplotype from the Rotstop isolate. Only three of these strains lacked wild-type indicative markers, and could have therefore represented Rotstop progeny strains. However, the remaining (53) strains contained non-Rotstop markers indicative for wild-type strains with at least one partner from the resident population. In addition, we found no statistically significant differences in the marker frequencies between the treated or untreated plots, although slightly less non-Rotstop markers were found from the treated pine plot. Nevertheless, wild-type strains seemed to account for the vast majority of the infections even in the previously treated plots, and therefore the spread of *P. gigantea* into the treated stands seems effective in preventing the formation of genetically monomorphic populations in the short run.

Besides RAMS analysis (Study III, Annesi et al. 2005), the survival of *P. gigantea* biocontrol strains within treated conifer stumps has also been assessed using vegetative compatibility testing (Roy et al. 2003, Vasiliauskas et al. 2004, 2005a) or RAPD fingerprinting (Roy et al. 1997). These studies have indicated that the applied biocontrol strains have persisted as the sole *P. gigantea* genotype found within treated Norway spruce stumps after seven weeks (Vasiliauskas et al. 2004), two months (Roy et al. 2003), four years (Vasiliauskas et al. 2005a) or six years (Study III, Vasiliauskas et al. 2005a) after the treatment. In contrast, based on our results (III, V) within pine stumps *P. gigantea* had been completely replaced by other species six years after the treatment. This discrepancy most likely resulted from the higher decay resistance (hence slower decomposition rate) of spruce wood compared to pine sapwood (Henningsson 1962). It must also be noted that novel results from Poland indicate that *P. gigantea* is able to persist at a relatively low frequency within six-year-old Scots pine stumps (Łakomy et al. 2007).

The ability of *P. gigantea* to spread vegetatively from one stump to another has been considered very limited. The results from study III support this view, as the Rotstop genotype was not retrieved from any stumps cut from the experimental plots when five years had passed from the treatment experiment. However, we did find the Rotstop genotype in two of the untreated 6-year-old spruce stumps cut during the initial treatment experiment. In fact, Rotstop was the only *P. gigantea* genotype found from these stumps, and it was also found from most of the treated spruce stumps. This most probably indicates that the biocontrol agent spreads to some extent into the neighboring woody substrates *via* airborne oidia during the treatment procedure (insect-mediated transfer would be another possibility). However, as the *P. gigantea* ribotype was not detected from the treated stumps by direct DGGE analysis, the biocontrol strain did not seem to cover large volumes of wood (but it should be noted that our sampling was limited to a few centimeters below the stump surface and therefore the biocontrol strain could have still persisted in the deeper wood layers or within the stump roots). Similarly to our results, Vasiliauskas et al. 2005a found that six years after the Rotstop-treatment, *P. gigantea* ceased to be dominant even in

the treated spruce stumps and it was not detected from any of the six-year-old control stumps. In turn, Varese et al. 2003 found that during two years' time from a stump treatment experiment, *P. gigantea* was able to spread into nearby untreated stumps even where this fungal species was quite rare naturally.

According to our observations (III, V) the Rotstop treatment had not increased the overall occurrence of *P. gigantea* within the next stump generation. In fact, based on the molecular community fingerprinting (V), *P. gigantea* revealed to be extremely common within one-year-old untreated pine stumps (occurring in 43-65% of all samples), and it was also very common in one-year-old untreated spruce stumps (found from 17-33% of all DNA samples). Similarly, high natural colonization of Scots pine stumps by *P. gigantea* has been reported in previous studies by Petäistö 1978 and by Holdenrieder and Greig 1998 (the former study reports finding *P. gigantea* within 29% of all cultivation samples, while in the latter study this fungus had infected 5.5-65% of the surface area of pine stumps). The somewhat lower occurrence of *P. gigantea* within spruce stumps also agrees with previous studies (Käärik and Rennerfelt 1957, Kallio 1965, Petäistö 1978). At some forest sites, untreated spruce stumps have even been shown to be colonized by *P. gigantea* at a similar frequency as biocontrol treated stumps (Rönnberg et al. 2006a).

Wood decay mycoflora (IV, V)

During study IV, part of the environmental wood samples showed a completely different fungal species composition as revealed by direct molecular analysis (DGGE) or isolation of fungal cultures. Based on morphological characters, the culturable strains in these cases could be identified as *Trichoderma* sp. or *Phialemonium* sp. (IV). The genus *Trichoderma* has been recognized as one of the typical microfungal species that tends to overshadow other species in culture-based analyses, while being more rarely detected by direct molecular methods (Allmér et al. 2006, Van der Wal et al. 2006). On the other hand, Lilja et al. (2005), Zuccaro et al. (2003), Van der Wal et al. (2006, see Appendix 2) and Menkis et al. (2006) report of fungal taxa that were dominant in environmental plant or soil samples as revealed by molecular markers, but could not be recovered as cultures.

As the species composition of the primary wood decomposing mycoflora affects the fungal community developing at later stages of wood decomposition (Rayner and Boddy 1988, Niemelä 1995, Renvall 1995), biocontrol treatments can be expected to cause changes in the stump fungal community structure. During study V, we used statistical testing to analyze whether Rotstop treatment had caused quantitative or qualitative changes in the stump-inhabiting fungal communities within our experimental forest plots. Quantitative changes (impacts on the overall species diversity) were assessed using the Shannon-Weaver and Gini heterogeneity indexes (these heterogeneity tests take into account both species richness and species composition) were tested using the Fisher's exact test, which is appropriate for calculating exact probabilities even for small sample sizes (in our case for rarely occurring OTU's, see Ranta 1992).

Our primary observation was that the Rotstop treatment had not caused a statistically significant reduction of the overall species diversity within the treated plots. However, the analysis revealed two different phenomena causing statistical differences between the species compositions of different sample plots. First, part of the one-year-old control stumps showed a low overall species diversity, which caused a statistically significant differentiation when compared to both the untreated or pretreated plots (pretreated stumps meaning untreated stumps within plots that had been treated six years prior to the sampling). In turn, as the pretreated and untreated plots revealed to be similar in their overall fungal diversity, it can be concluded that the observed differentiation seems to reflect sample plot heterogeneity rather than impacts of the biocontrol treatment.

Secondly, some sample plots were similar in their overall fungal diversity, but showed differences in their species composition. This qualitative impact was revealed by the Fisher's exact test, which indicated a significant differentiation between the old treated and untreated pine plots as well as between all of the old spruce plots (treated, untreated or control). Thus, it is obvious that great variation existed between different test plots regardless of their treatment type.

In a similar manner, Vasiliauskas et al. 2005b found that the fungal communities appearing on spruce woody baits showed a low qualitative similarity between two forest plots separated by only a hundred meters. Locally, formation of the wood decay mycoflora seems to be strongly influenced by spore deposition from indigenous dispersal sources (Edman et al. 2004) as well as site-specific factors (e.g. soil pH, humidity, microclimate; see Snäll and Jonsson 2001, Mattila and Nuutinen 2007) or substrate qualities (nutrient content, pH, moisture, resin content etc.), causing also large within-site variations. Accordingly, the average incidence of *Heterobasidion* infection has been showed to vary greatly between different forest sites (Berglund and Rönnberg 2004). Moreover, the efficacy of Rotstop treatments varies between different forest stands (Berglund and Rönnberg 2004, Berglund et al. 2005, Thor and Stenlid 2005). Consequently, a rather extensive sampling effort would be required for a comprehensive wood decay fungal community analysis. It must also be noted that spread of the Rotstop strain into part of the untreated stumps could have resulted in underestimation of the Rotstop impacts during the present thesis.

Other recent studies have described *P. gigantea* to cause moderate to marked effects on the species richness of treated stumps. Thus, Vasiliauskas et al. (2004, 2005a) found that Rotstop treatment reduced the overall fungal species richness of seven-week-old spruce stumps by about 15%, while after four and six years the decrease in mycodiversity was more pronounced (32% and 46%, respectively). Similarly, Varese et al. (2003) describe that *P. gigantea* had a clear effect on the mycoflora of treated spruce stumps in the Italian Alps, and the impacts seemed to increase over the time.

As for qualitative effects, Kallio and Hallaksela (1979) found that the application of *P. gigantea* did not significantly change the spruce stump mycoflora, although it changed the frequency of the different species present on the stumps. In turn, Vasiliauskas 2005a found that Rotstop treatment had a significant impact on the occurrence of only less than 10% of all isolated species. Accordingly, our primary observation was that most of the fungal species did not appear to be influenced by the treatment (V).

However, previous cultivation-based analyses have revealed a set of species indicated to benefit or suffer from *P. gigantea* treatments. Thus, *H. capnoides* and *Marasmius* androsaceus have been indicated to increase due to *P. gigantea* treatments (Vasiliauskas 2005a), while possible sufferers (besides the *Heterobasidion* target organisms) include *S. sanguinolentum* (Kallio 1971, Kallio and Hallaksela 1979), *Peniophora pithya* and *Sistotrema brinkmannii* (Kallio 1971, Kallio and Hallaksela 1979), as well as Ascocoryne sarcoides, Phialophora fastigiata and P. malorum (Vasiliauskas 2005a). Although not directly comparable to our analysis, Rotstop treatments were shown to significantly reduce the occurrence of *Cladosporium cladosporioides*, *Epicoccum nigrum* and *Phoma putaminum* in spruce stumps in the Italian Alps (Varese et al. 2003). In Canada, treatments

with a local *P. gigantea* strain have been showed to favor stump colonization by *Penicillium* spp. and *Trichoderma* spp (Roy et al. 2003).

According to our DGGE analysis (V), two of the major band types occurring in more than 10% of the samples and six less prominent OTUs appeared to be affected by the treatment (see Appendix 3). Among these eight indicative OTUs, three showed a high sequence similarity to well-known basidiomycetous wood-decay fungi. Thus, one of the sequences was most similar (>99%) to Tyromyces chioneus (Polyporaceae), which is a white-rot bracket fungus typically growing on decaying wood (Ryman and Holmåsen 1984, Ryvarden and Gilbertson 1994), while another sequence was affiliated with (>99%) species of Botryobasidium (Botryobasidiaceae). The genus Botryobasidium represents saproxylic corticiaceous species commonly found from coniferous woody debris (Eriksson and Ryvarden 1973, see also Renvall 1995, Allmér et al. 2006). The affiliation of one of our sequences with 100% identity to Helicogloea lagerheimii (Atractiellales) seemed somewhat more enigmatic. According to the USDA (United States Department of Agriculture) fungal databases (see http://nt.ars-grin.gov/fungaldatabases/index.cfm) this fungus has not been reported from coniferous wood, although it typically occurs within hardwood species both in North America and Europe (the species seems to be relatively common on broadleaved trees in Norway, see http://artskart.artsdatabanken.no/FaneKart.aspx).

In turn, two of the sequences were highly similar to each other, both showing similarities of >98% to various *Agaricales* (Basidiomycota) sequences, including e.g. *Resupinatus alboniger, Panaeolus foenisecii, P. sphinctrinus* and *Agaricus bisporus*. Therefore, identification of these sequence types turned out impossible at this point in time. Similarly, one sequence type was related to various jelly fungi (mitosporic *Tremellales*, Basidiomycota), showing relatively low (>97%) sequence similarities to *Cryptococcus* sp., *Fellomyces lichenicola* and *Kockovaella schimae*.

The remaining two sequences were most closely related to ascomycetous taxa. One OTU was most closely (98.6%) related to *Scytalidium lignicola* (mitosporic Ascomycota), which is a common saprobe associated with decaying coniferous wood (Menkis et al. 2006, Vasiliauskas et al. 2005a), and also showed 98% similarity to *Chalara strobilina* (mitosporic Helotiales). *Chalara* species are common inhabitants of Norway spruce woody debris (Vasiliauskas et al. 2004, 2005a, 2005b, Allmèr et al. 2006), and also seem to represent a species group that can be more readily detected by direct DNA analysis than culturing (Menkis et al. 2006). *Chalara* spp. have also been recently identified as the cause of crown dieback of *Fraxinus excelsior* (Kowalski 2006). Note that our sequence type contained an intronic sequence of 469 bp, which was not found from the most closely related sequences, and showed a very low similarity to any GenBank submissions (see Appendix 3).

Finally, one OTU showed quite high (99.3-99.4%) similarities to several endophytic dothideomycetous (Pezizomycotina, Dothideomycetes) fungal strains isolated by our research group from Siberian larch needles (Kauhanen et al. 2006), and also to *Helicoma isiola* (99.4%, Pezizomycotina, Dothideomycetes, *Tubeufiaceae*) and *Lophium mytilinum* (99.5%, Pezizomycotina, Dothideomycetes, *Mytilinidiaceae*). According to the USDA fungal databases, *L. mytilinum* is associated with conifer wood, including *Pinus* spp. However, dothideomycetes do not belong to the characteristic fungal species retrieved by culturing from decomposing conifer stumps.

Several recent fungal community studies describe finding untypical fungal taxa from woody substrates. Thus, Lygis et al. (2004a, b) report finding *Phellinus ferrugineofuscus* or *Mycena galopus* from living birch or pine stems although these species have been

considered strict saprobes. Similarly, Vasiliauskas et al. 2005b found fungal taxa traditionally considered litter and well-decayed wood decomposers (*Mycena* and *Collybia*) in freshly cut spruce woody baits exposed for only seven weeks, while Lumley et al. (2000) describe the common occurrence of *Microascaceae* in decaying wood, although these taxa typically colonize dung, litter or soil. Moreover, Vasiliauskas et al. (2004) found *Peniophora cinerea* mycelia from spruce stumps although fruitbodies of this fungus have never been reported on conifers. These examples challenge traditional thinking about the ecological roles of fungal species considered as endophytes, saprobes or pathogens, and also suggest that some species occupy a wider ecological niche than was previously thought, possibly prevailing only as vegetative mycelia within these untypical substrates.

On the other hand, most of the fungal species reported to suffer or benefit from Rotstop treatments represent fungi typical for managed forests. However, it would be important to analyze whether *P. gigantea* treatments cause a threat to the fungal diversity of nearby natural forests possibly containing rare or threatened fungal species. In future studies, it would also be interesting to use molecular markers for the analysis of Rotstop-derived basidiospore isolates from fruitbodies appearing on treated stumps, and to conduct spore dispersal studies for this biocontrol strain (see Nordén and Larsson 2000, Gonthier 2001, Gonthier et al. 2005, Kauserud et al. 2005 for spore trapping techniques used for *H. annosum s.l.* and other wood decay fungi). Moreover, as the biocontrol product inevitably spreads beside the treated stumps during the application procedure, it could have effects on the mycorrhizal fungal community (especially if *P. gigantea* would be capable of colonizing tree seedling roots in the wild, see Vasiliauskas et al. 2007).

FINAL CONCLUSIONS

In the present thesis, the spread of resident *P. gigantea* strains into Rotstop- treated forest stands seemed effective in preventing the formation of genetically monomorphic populations in the short run. However, as the Rotstop biocontrol agent was shown capable of surviving up to six years within treated Norway spruce stumps, this fungal strain has ample opportunity to produce fruitbodies and spread *via* basidiospores into neighboring forest stands.

On a global scale, we detected a considerable level of genetic differentiation between the interfertile European and North American populations of *P. gigantea*. These results strongly suggest that local biocontrol strains should be used in order to prevent global spread of *P. gigantea* strains and hybrid formation between geographically isolated populations.

Based on molecular community profiling by DGGE, we detected a few individual wood-inhabiting fungal species (OTUs) that seemed to have suffered or benefited from the Rotstop biocontrol treatment. The DGGE analyses also revealed fungal diversity not retrieved by cultivation, and some fungal sequence types untypical for decomposing conifer wood. However, based on the DGGE profiling, the Rotstop treatment had not caused a statistically significant reduction in the species diversity of wood-inhabiting fungi within our experimental forest plots.

The population analysis for *H. annosum s.l.* revealed a collection of Chinese fungal strains that could be clearly affiliated with the *H. parviporum* taxonomical cluster based on ISSR fingerprinting (a moderate level of geographical differentiation from the European *H.*

parviporum cluster was detected). Moreover, the Chinese strains showed a high degree of laboratory fertility with three different allopatric *H. annosum s.l.* taxa. These results are consistent with the observations that in the event of gained sympatry this fungal species complex has a broad potential for hybridization even between genetically differentiated taxa.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

On a global scale, the level of genetic differentiation within *P. gigantea* should be further clarified using isolates from a wider geographical region and additional molecular markers. Currently, the taxonomical status of *P. gigantea* in its southern distribution range is based on morphological characters only, and the degree of geographical differentiation cannot be reliably estimated. Similarly, the possibility that the Rotstop strain would show pathogenic properties against exotic plant species cannot be convincingly ruled out despite *P. gigantea* as a species is known to be saprophytic all over its distribution range. This topic could be elucidated using pathogenicity testing or transcript profiling using plant tissues infected with *P. gigantea*.

In the future, long-term studies are needed to assess whether the genetic polymorphism of *P. gigantea* populations diminishes due to biocontrol usage over several successive logging operations. Moreover, spore-dispersal studies should be conducted to reveal whether the spread of Rotstop-derived basidiospores affects the fungal diversity of nearby natural forests. As for treated conifer stumps, the impacts of Rotstop application on the successional development of the stump mycoflora could be analyzed by a follow-up study using the same group of stumps sampled at closer time intervals.

For *H. annosum*, the possibility of resistance development against *P. gigantea* should be evaluated by experimental testing. On the other hand, unpublished work on *P. gigantea* (H. Sun, personal communication) indicates that more efficient biocontrol strains can be generated by breeding programs based on within-species variation in spore production, growth rate and antagonism against *H. annosum s.l.*

Due to global warming, the snowfree season is expected to become longer in the Nordic countries. This also increases the need for stump biocontrol treatments as the opportunities for spore-mediated *H. annosum s.l.* infections increase. In addition, the distribution limit for *H. annosum* is expected to shift further to north. Therefore the geographical range of this pathogen species complex should be continually monitored. Finally, as *P. gigantea* treatments are not effective against *Heterobasidion* infections already present in the cut stumps, fundamentally novel biocontrol methods are required for disease management within infested forest stands in the future.

REFERENCES

- Abang, M.M., Fagbola, O., Smalla, K. & Winter, S. 2005. Two genetically distinct populations of *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* Penz. causing anthracnose disease of yam (*Dioscorea* spp.). Journal of Phytopathology 153: 137-142.
- Abbasi, P.A., Miller, S.A., Meulia, T., Hoitink, H.A.J. & Kim, J.-M., 1999. Precise detection and tracing of *Trichoderma hamatum* 382 in compost-amended potting mixes by using molecular markers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65: 5421-5426.
- Acinas, S.G., Sarma-Rupavtarm, R., Klepac-Ceraj, V. & Polz, M.F. 2005. PCR-Induced sequence artifacts and bias: insights from comparison of two 16S rRNA clone libraries constructed from the same sample. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71: 8966-8969.
- Adair, S., Kim, S.H, & Breuil, C. 2002. A molecular approach for early monitoring of decay basidiomycetes in wood chips. FEMS Microbiology Letters 211:117-122.
- Adomas, A. & Asiegbu F. 2006. Analysis of organ-specific responses of *Pinus sylvestris* to shoot (*Gremmeniella abietina*) and root (*Heterobasidion annosum*) pathogens. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 69: 140-152.
- --, Eklund, M., Johansson, M. & Asiegbu, F. 2006. Identification and analysis of differentially expressed cDNAs during nonself-competitive interaction between *Phlebiopsis gigantea* and *Heterobasidion parviporum*. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 57: 26-39.
- -, Heller, G., Li, G., Olson, Å., Chu, T-M., Osborne, J., Craig, D., van Zyl, L., Wolfinger, R., Sederoff, R., Dean, R.A., Stenlid, J., Finlay R. & Asiegbu F. 2007. Transcript profiling of a conifer pathosystem: reponse of *Pinus sylvestris* root tissues to pathogen (*Heterobasidion annosum*) invasion. Tree Physiology 27: 1441-1458.
- Allmér, J., Vasiliauskas, R., Ihrmark, K., Stenlid, J. & Dahlberg, A. 2006. Wood-inhabiting fungal communities in woody debris of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) (L.) Karst., as reflected by sporocarps, mycelial isolations and T-RFLP identification. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 55: 57-67.
- Altschul, S.F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E.W. & Lipman D.J. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. Journal of Molecular Biology 215: 403-410.
- Anderson, I.C. & Cairney, J.W.G. 2004. Diversity and ecology of soil fungal communities: increased understanding through the application of molecular techniques. Environmental Microbiology 6: 769-779.
- -, Campbell, C.D. & Prosser, J.I., 2003a. Diversity of fungi in organic soils under a moorland - Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) gradient. Environmental Microbiology 5: 1121-1132.
- -, Campbell, C.D. & Prosser, J.I., 2003b. Potential bias of fungal 18S rDNA and internal transcribed spacer polymerase chain reaction primers for estimating fungal biodiversity in soil. Environmental Microbiology 5: 36-47.
- Anderson, J.B. & Kohn L.M. 1995. Clonality in soilborne, plant-pathogenic fungi. Annual Review of Phytopathology 33: 369-391.
- -, Korhonen, K. & Ullrich, R.C. 1980. Relationships between European and North American biological species of *Armillaria mellea*. Experimental Mycology 4: 87-95.

- Annesi, T., Curcio, G., D'Amico, L. & Motta, E., 2005. Biological control of *Heterobasidion annosum* on *Pinus pinea* by *Phlebiopsis gigantea*. Forest Pathology 35: 127-134.
- Asiegbu, F.O., Daniel, G. & Johansson, M. 1996. Cellular interaction between the saprotroph *Phlebiopsis gigantea* and non-suberized roots of *Picea abies*. Mycological Research 100: 409-417.
- -, Johansson, M., Woodward, S. & Hüttermann, A. 1998. Biochemistry of the host-parasite interaction. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 167-193.
- --, Stenlid J. & Johansson M. 2004. Sequence polymorphism and molecular characterization of laccase genes of the conifer pathogen *Heterobasidion annosum*. Mycological Research 108: 136-148.
- -, Adomas, A. & Stenlid, J. 2005a. Conifer root and butt rot caused by *Heterobasidion annosum* (Fr.) Bref. s.l. Molecular Plant Pathology 6: 395 409.
- -, Nahalkova, J. & Li, G. 2005b. Pathogen-inducible cDNAs from the interaction of the root rot fungus *Heterobasidion annosum* with Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.). Plant Science 168: 365-372.
- Atkins, S. D., Clark, I. M., Sosnowska, D., Hirsch, P. R. & Kerry. B. R. 2003. Detection and quantification of *Plectosphaerella cucumerina*, a potential biological control agent of potato cyst nematodes, by using conventional PCR, real-time PCR, selective media, and baiting. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69: 4788-4793.
- Avis, T.J., Hamelin, R.C. & Bélanger, R.R. 2001. Approaches to molecular characterization of fungal biocontrol agents: some case studies. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 23: 8–12.
- Bader, P., Jansson, S. & Jonsson, B.G. 1995. Wood-inhabiting fungi and substrate decline in selectively logged boreal spruce forests. Biological Conservation 72: 355-362.
- Baker, B.J., Lutz, M.A., Dawson, S.C., Bond, P.L. & Banfield, J.F. 2004. Metabolically active eukaryotic communities in extremely acidic mine drainage. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70: 6264–6271.
- Baldauf, S.L., Roger, A.J., Wenk-Siefert, I. & Doolittle, W.F. 2000. A kingdom-level phylogeny of eukaryotes based on combined protein data. Science 290: 972-977.
- Bendel, M., Kienast, F., Bugmann, H. & Rigling, D. 2006. Incidence and distribution of *Heterobasidion* and *Armillaria* and their influence on canopy gap formation in unmanaged mountain pine forests in the Swiss Alps. European Journal of Plant Pathology 116: 85-93.
- Benson, D.A., Karsch-Mizrachi, I. Lipman, D.J., Ostell J. & Wheeler, D.L. 2007. GenBank. Nucleic Acids Research 35, Database issue D21-D25.
- Berglund, M. & Rönnberg, J. 2004. Effectiveness of treatment of Norway spruce stumps with *Phlebiopsis gigantea* at different rates of coverage for the control of *Heterobasidion*. Forest Pathology 34: 233–243.
- -, Rönnberg J., Holmer L. & Stenlid J. 2005. Comparison of five strains of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* and two *Trichoderma* formulations for treatment against natural *Heterobasidion* spore infections on Norway spruce stumps. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 20: 12-17.
- Bezemer, T.M., Harvey, J.A., Kowalchuk, G.A., Korpershoek, H. & Van der Putten. W. H. 2006. Interplay between population dynamics of *Senecio jacobaea* and plant, soil and aboveground insect herbivore community composition. Ecology 87: 2002-2013.

- Binder, M., Hibbett, D.S., Larsson, K.-H., Larsson, E. & Langer. E. 2005. The phylogenetic distribution of resupinate forms in the homobasidiomycetes. Systematics and Biodiversity 3: 113-157.
- Björklöf K., Sen, R. & Jørgensen, K.S. 2003. Maintenance and impacts of an inoculated mer/luc-Tagged *Pseudomonas fluorescens* on microbial communities in birch rhizospheres developed on humus and peat. Microbial Ecology 45: 39-52.
- Blackwood, C.B., Waldrop, M.P., Zak, D.R. & Sinsabaugh, R.L. 2007. Molecular analysis of fungal communities and laccase genes in decomposing litter reveals differences among forest types but no impact of nitrogen deposition. Environmental Microbiology 9: 1306-1316.
- Borneman, J. & Hartin, R.J., 2000. PCR primers that amplify fungal rRNA genes from environmental samples. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 4356-4360.
- Bos, C. J. (ed.). 1996. Fungal genetics: Principles and Practice. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, USA. 442p.
- Brasier, C. 2000. The rise of the hybrid fungi. Nature 405: 134-135.
- Bridge, P.D., Roberts, P.J., Spooner, B.M. & Panchal, G. 2003. On the unreliability of published DNA sequences. New Phytologist 160: 43-48.
- Brimner, T.A. & Boland, G.J. 2003. A review of the non-target effects of fungi used to biologically control plant diseases. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 100: 3-16.
- Brown, A.E., Muthumeenakshi, S., Sreenivasaprasad, S., Mills, P.R. & Swinburne, T.R. 1993. A PCR primer-specific to *Cylindrocarpon heteronema* for detection of the pathogen in apple wood. FEMS Microbiology Letters 108: 117-120.
- Bruns, T.D., White, T.J. & Taylor, J.W. 1991. Fungal molecular systematics. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 22: 525-564.
- Bulat, S.A, Lübeck, M., Alekhina, I.A., Jensen, D.F., Knudsen, I.M.B. & Lübeck, P.S. 2000. Identification of a universally primed-PCR-derived sequence-characterized amplified region marker for an antagonistic strain of *Clonostachys rosea* and development of a strain-specific PCR detection assay. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 4758-4763.
- Bullerwell, C.E & Lang, B.F, 2005. Fungal evolution: the case of the vanishing mitochondrion. Current Opinion in Microbiology 8: 362-9.
- Butt, T.M. & Copping, L.G. 2000. Fungal biological control agents. Pesticide Outlook 11: 186-191.
- Buzina W., Braun H., Freudenschuss K., Lackner A., Habermann W. & Stammberger H. 2003. Fungal biodiversity--as found in nasal mucus. Medical Mycology 41: 149-61.
- Cannone, J.J., Subramanian, S., Schnare, M.N., Collett, J.R., D'Souza, L.M., Du, Y., Feng, B., Lin, N., Madabusi, L.V., Müller, K.M., Pande, N., Shang, Z., Yu, N. & Gutell, R.R. 2002. The comparative RNA web (CRW) site: an online database of comparative sequence and structure information for ribosomal, intron, and other RNAs. BMC Bioinformatics 3:2. 31p.
- Capretti, P. & Mugnai, L. 1989. In vitro tests of antagonism against *Heterobasidion* annosum (Fr.) Bref. Phytopathologia Mediterranea 28: 150-154.
- --, Korhonen, K., Mugnai, L. & Romagnoli, C., 1990. An intersterility group of *Heterobasidion annosum* specialized to *Abies alba*. European Journal of Forest Pathology 20: 231-240.
- Chadha, S. & Gopalakrishna, T., 2005. Retrotransposon-microsatellite amplified polymorphism (REMAP) markers for genetic diversity assessment of the rice blast pathogen (*Magnaporthe grisea*). Genome 48: 943-5.

- Chase, T.E & Ullrich, R.C., 1983. Sexuality, distribution, and dispersal of *Heterobasidion annosum* in pine plantations of Vermont. Mycologia 75: 825-831.
- & Ullrich, R.C. 1988. *Heterobasidion annosum*, root- and butt-rot of trees. Advances in Plant Pathology 6: 501-510.
- & Ullrich, R.C. 1990a. Genetic basis of biological species in *Heterobasidion annosum*: mendelian determinants. Mycologia 82: 67-72.
- & Ullrich, R.C. 1990b. Five genes determining intersterility in Heterobasidion annosum. Mycologia 82: 73-81.
- Choi, I. G. & Kim, S.H. 2007. Global extent of horizontal gene transfer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 104: 4489-94.
- Chung, H., Zak, D.R. & Lilleskov, E.A. 2006. Fungal community composition and metabolism under elevated CO(2) and O(3). Oecologia 147: 143-54.
- Cole, J.R., Chai, B., Marsh, T.L., Farris, R.J., Wang, Q., Kulam, S.A., Chandra, S., McGarrell, D.M., Schmidt, T.M., Garrity, G.M. & Tiedje, J.M. 2003. The Ribosomal Database Project (RDP-II): previewing a new autoaligner that allows regular updates and the new prokaryotic taxonomy. Nucleic Acids Research 31:442-443.
- Cook, R.J. 1993. Making greater use of introduced microorganisms for biological control of plant pathogens. Annual Review of Phytopathology 31: 53-80.
- Costa, R., Götz, M., Mrotzek, N., Lottmann, J., Berg, G. & Smalla, K. 2006. Effects of site and plant species on rhizosphere community structure as revealed by molecular analysis of microbial guilds. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 56: 236-249.
- Covert, S.F. & Higgins, B. 2007. Development of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* as a biocontrol agent for Annosum root disease in the southeastern United States. Program and Abstracts of the 12th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Berkeley, California and Medford, Oregon, August 12-19, 2007.
- Crosby, L.D. & Criddle, C.S. 2003. Understanding bias in microbial community analysis techniques due to rrn operon copy number heterogeneity. BioTechniques 34: 790-802.
- Czembor, P.C. & Arseniuk, E. 2000. Segregation and recombination of PCR based markers in sexual progeny of *Phaeosphaeria* species. Mycological Research 104: 919-926.
- Dai, Y-C., Vainio, E.J., Hantula, J., Niemelä, T. & Korhonen, K. 2002. Sexuality and intersterility within the *Heterobasidion insulare* complex. Mycological Research 106: 1435-1448.
- -, Yuan, H.S., Wei, Y.L. & Korhonen, K. 2006. New records of *Heterobasidion parviporum* in China. Forest Pathology 36: 287-293.
- Dalleau-Clouet, C., Gauthier, N., Risterucci, A.-M., Bon, M.-C. & Fargues, J. 2005. Isolation and characterization of microsatellite loci from the entomopathogenic hyphomycete, *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus*. Molecular Ecology Notes 5: 496-498.
- D'Amico, L., Motta, E., Annesi, T., Scire', M. Luchi, N., Hantula, J., Korhonen, K. & Capretti, P. 2007. The North American P group of *Heterobasidion annosum s.l.* is widely distributed in *Pinus pinea* forests of the western coast of central Italy. Forest Pathology 37: 303-320.
- Davis, A.S., Anderson, K.I., Hallett, S.G. & Renner, K.A. 2006. Weed seed mortality in soils with contrasting agricultural management histories. Weed Science 54: 291-297.
- DeLong, E.F., Wickham, G.S. & Pace, N.R. 1989. Phylogenetic stains: ribosomal RNAbased probes for the identification of single cells. Science 243: 1360-1363.
- -, Preston, C.M., Mincer, T., Rich, V., Hallam, S.J., Frigaard, N-U., Martinez, A., Sullivan, M.B., Edwards, R., Brito, B.R., Chisholm, S.W. & Karl, D.M. 2006. Community

genomics among stratified microbial assemblages in the ocean's interior. Science 311: 496-503.

- DePriest, P.T. & Been, M. 1992. Numerous group I introns with variable distribution in the ribosomal DNA of a lichen fungus. Journal of Molecular Biology 228: 315-321.
- Diouf, M., Brauman, A., Miambi, E. & Rouland-Lefevre, C. 2005. Fungal communities of the foraging soil sheeting built by several fungus-growing termite species (Isoptera, Termitidae: Macrotermitinae) in a dry savanna (Thies, Senegal). Sociobiology 45: 899-914.
- Doğmuş-Lehtijärvi, H.T, Lehtijärvi, A. & Korhonen, K. 2006. *Heterobasidion abietinum* on *Abies* species in western Turkey. Forest Pathology 36: 280-286.
- Drigo, B., Kowalchuk, G.A., Yergeau, E., Bezemer, T. Martijn, B., Henricus T.S. & Van Veen, J.A. 2007. Impact of elevated carbon dioxide on the rhizosphere communities of *Carex arenaria* and *Festuca rubra*. Global Change Biology 13: 2396-2410.
- Edman, M., Kruys, N. & Jonsson, B.G. 2004. Local dispersal sources strongly affect colonisation patterns of wood-decaying fungi on experimental logs. Ecological Applications 14: 893-901.
- Enkerli, J., Widmer, F. & Keller, S. 2004. Long-term field persistence of *Beauveria brongniartii* strains applied as biocontrol agents against European cockchafer larvae in Switzerland. Biological Control 29: 115-123.
- Eriksson, J. & Strid Å. 1969. Studies in the Aphyllophorales (Basidiomycetes) of Northern Finland. Reports from the Kevo subarctic research station: 4. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis II Biologica – geographica 40. 170p.
- -, & Ryvarden, L. 1973. The *Corticiaceae* of North Europe. Vol. 2. *Aleurodiscus Confertobasidium*. Fungiflora, Oslo, Norway. p. 60-261.
- -, Hjortstam, K. & Ryvarden L. 1981. The *Corticiaceae* of North Europe Vol 6. *Phlebia-Sarcodontia*. Fungiflora A/S, Oslo, Norway. p. 1051-1276.
- Fabritius, A.-L. & Karjalainen, R. 1993. Variation in *Heterobasidion annosum* detected by random amplified polymorphic DNAs. European Journal of Forest Pathology. 23: 193-200.
- Farrelly, V., Rainey, F.A. & Stackebrandt, E. 1995. Effect of genome size and rrn gene copy number on PCR amplification of 16S rRNA genes from a mixture of bacterial species. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61: 2798-2801.
- Feibelman, T., Bayman, P. & Cibula, W. 1994. Length variation in the internal transsribed spacer of ribosomal DNA in chanterelles. Mycological Research 98: 614-618.
- Filip, G.M. & Morrison, D.J. 1998. North America. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 405-429.
- Fischer, S.G. & Lerman, L.S. 1983. DNA fragments differing by single base-pair substitutions are separated in denaturing gradient gels: correspondence with melting theory. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 80: 1579-1583.
- Ganley, A.R. & Kobayashi T., 2007. Highly efficient concerted evolution in the ribosomal DNA repeats: total rDNA repeat variation revealed by whole-genome shotgun sequence data. Genome Research 17: 184-91.
- Garbelotto, M., Bruns, T.D, Cobb, F.W. & Otrosina W.J. 1993. Differentiation of intersterility groups and geographic provenances among isolates of *Heterobasidion annosum* detected by random amplified polymorphic DNA assays. Canadian Journal of Botany 71: 565-569.

- -, Ratcliff, A., Bruns, T.D., Cobb, F.W. & Otrosina, W.J. 1996. Use of taxon-specific competitive-priming PCR to study host specificity, hybridization, and intergroup gene flow in intersterility groups of *Heterobasidion annosum*. Phytopathology 86: 543-551.
- -, Otrosina, W.J., Cobb, F.W. & Bruns, T.D. 1998. The European S and F intersterility groups of *Heterobasidion annosum* may represent sympatric protospecies. Canadian Journal of Botany 76: 397-409.
- -, Cobb, F.W., Bruns, T.D., Otrosina, W.J., Popenuck, T. & Slaugher, G. 1999. Genetic Structure of *Heterobasidion annosum* in White Fir Mortality Centers in California. Phytopathology 89: 546-554.
- -, Gonthier, P., Linzer, R., Nicolotti, G. & Otrosina, W. 2004. A shift in nuclear state as the result of natural interspecific hybridization between two North American taxa of the basidiomycete complex *Heterobasidion*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 41: 1046-1051.
- -, Gonthier, P. & Nicolotti, G. 2007. Ecological constraints limit the fitness of fungal hybrids in the *Heterobasidion annosum* species complex. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73: 6106-6111.
- Garbeva, P., Postma, J., van Veen, J.A. & van Elsas J.D. 2006. Effect of above-ground plant species on soil microbial community structure and its impact on suppression of *Rhizoctonia solani* AG3. Environmental Microbiology 8: 233-246.
- Gardes, M. & Bruns, T.D. 1993. ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetesapplication to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Molecular Ecology 2: 113-118.
- & Bruns, T.D. 1996. Community structure of ectomycorrhizal fungi in a *Pinus muricata* forest: Above- and below-ground views. Canadian Journal of Botany 74: 1572-1583.
- Gerlagh, M., Goossen-van de Geijn, H.M., Fokkema, N.J. & Vereijken, P.F.G. 1999. Longterm biosanitation by application of *Coniothyrium minitans* on *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* infected crops. Phytopathology 89: 141-147.
- Girvan, M.S., Bullimore, J., Ball, A.S., Pretty, J.N. & Osborn, A.M. 2004. Responses of active bacterial and fungal communities in soils under winter wheat to different fertilizer and pesticide regimens. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70: 2692-2701.
- Goggioli, V., Capretti, P., Hamelin, R.C. & Vendramin, G.G. 1998. Isozyme and RAPD polymorphisms in *Heterobasidion annosum* in Italy. European Journal of Forest Pathology 28: 63-74.
- Gomes, N.C.M., Fagbola, O., Costa, R., Rumjanek, N.G., Buchner, A., Mendona-Hagler, L. & Smalla, K. 2003. Dynamics of fungal communities in bulk and maize rhizosphere soil in the tropics. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69: 3758-3766.
- Gonthier, P., Garbelotto, M., Varese, G.C. & Nicolotti, G. 2001. Relative abundance and potential dispersal range of intersterility groups of *Heterobasidion annosum* in pure and mixed forests. Canadian Journal of Botany 79: 1057-1065.
- -, Warner, R., Nicolotti, G., Mazzaglia, A. & Garbelotto, M. 2004. Pathogen introduction as a collateral effect of military activity. Mycological Research 108: 468-470.
- -, Garbelotto, M.M. & Nicolotti, G. 2005. Seasonal patterns of spore deposition of *Heterobasidion* species in four forests of the western Alps. Phytopathology 95: 759-767.
- -, Nicolotti, G., Linzer, R., Guglielmo, F. & Garbelotto, M. 2007. Invasion of European pine stands by a North American forest pathogen and its hybridization with a native infertile taxon. Molecular Ecology 16: 1389-1400.
- Granit, T., Chen, Y. & Hadar, Y. 2007. Humic acid bleaching by white-rot fungi isolated from biosolids compost. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39: 1040-1046.

- Gray, M.W., Burger, G. & Lang, B.F. 1999. Mitochondrial Evolution. Science 283: 1476-1481.
- Green, S.J., Freeman, S., Hadar, Y. & Minz, D. 2004. Molecular tools for isolate and community studies of Pyrenomycete fungi. Mycologia 96: 439-451.
- Greig, B.J.W. 1976. Biological control of *Fomes annosus* by *Peniophora gigantea*. European Journal of Forest Pathology 6: 65-71.
- & Pratt, J.E. 1976. Some observations on the longevity of *Fomes annosus* in conifer stumps. European Journal of Forest Pathology 6: 250-253.
- -, Gibbs, J.N. & Pratt J.E. 2001. Experiments on the susceptibility of conifers to *Heterobasidion annosum* in Great Britain. Forest Pathology 31: 219-228.
- Grillo, R., Korhonen, K., Hantula, J. & Hietala, A. 2000. Genetic evidence for somatic haploidization in developing fruit bodies of *Armillaria tabescens*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 30: 135-145.
- -, Korhonen, K. & Hantula, J. 2005. Interfertility between North American and European strains of *Phlebia gigantea*. Forest Pathology 35: 173-182.
- Grosch, R., Scherwinski, K., Lottmann, J. & Berg, G. 2006. Fungal antagonists of the plant pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani*: selection, control efficacy and influence on the indigenous microbial community. Mycological Research 110: 1464-1474.
- Guglielmo, F., Bergemann, S., Gonthier, P., Nicolotti, G. & Garbelotto, M. 2007. A multiplex PCR-based method for the detection and early identification of wood rotting fungi in standing trees. Journal of Applied Microbiology 103: 1490-1507.
- Götz, M., Nirenberg, H., Krause, S., Wolters, H., Draeger, S., Buchner, A., Lottmann, J., Berg, G. & Smalla, K. 2006. Fungal endophytes in potato roots studied by traditional isolation and cultivation-independent DNA-based methods. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 58: 404-413.
- Hagn, A., Pritsch, K., Ludwig, W. & Schloter, M. 2003. Theoretical and practical approaches to evaluate suitable primer sets for the analysis of soil fungal communities. Acta Biotechnologica 23: 373-381.
- Hallaksela, A.-M., 1977. Microbial flora isolated from Norway spruce stumps. Acta Forestalia Fennica 158: 1-50. (In Finnish with English summary)
- & Nevalainen, S. 1981. Control of root rot fungus (*Heterobasidion annosum*) by treating Norway spruce stumps with urea. Folia Forestalia 470: 1-10. (In Finnish with English summary)
- Hallenberg, N., Larsson, E. & Mahlapuu, M. 1996. Phylogenetic studies in *Peniophora*. Mycological Research 100: 179-187.
- Hamelin, R.C., Berube, P., Gignac, M. & Bourassa, M. 1996. Identification of root rot fungi in nursery seedlings by nested multiplex PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62: 4026-4031.
- Hansen, E.M., Stenlid, J. & Johansson, M. 1993. Genetic control of somatic incompatibility in the root-rotting basidiomycete *Heterobasidion annosum*. Mycological Research 97: 1229-1233.
- Hansgate, A.M., Schloss, P.D., Hay, A.G. & Walker, L.P. 2005. Molecular characterization of fungal community dynamics in the initial stages of composting. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 51: 209-214.
- Hantula, J. & Müller, M.M. 1997. Variation within *Gremmeniella abietina* in Finland and other countries as determined by Random Amplified Microsatellites (RAMS). Mycological Research 101: 169-175.

- & Vainio, E. 2003. Specific primers for the differentiation of *Heterobasidion annosum* (s.str.) and *H. parviporum* infected stumps in northern Europe. Silva Fennica 37: 181-187.
- –, Dusabenyagasani, M. & Hamelin, R.C. 1996. Random amplified microsatellites (RAMS) - a novel method for characterizing genetic variation within fungi. European Journal of Forest Pathology 26: 159-166.
- -, Niemi, E.M., Kaitera, J., Jalkanen, R. & Kurkela, T. 1998. Genetic variation of the resin top fungus in Finland as determined by random amplified microsatellites (RAMS). European Journal of Forest Pathology 28: 361-372.
- Harrington, T.C., Stenlid, J. & Korhonen, K. 1998. Evolution in the genus *Heterobasidion*. In: Delatour, C., Marcais, B., Guillaumin, J.-J. & Lung-Escarmant, B. (eds.). Root and Butt Rots of Forest Trees. 9th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots, Carcans-Maubuisson, France, September 1-7, 1997. INRA, Paris, France. p. 63-74.
- –, Worrall, J.J. & Rizzo, D.M. 1989. Compatibility among host-specialized isolates of *Heterobasidion annosum* from western North America. Phytopathology 79: 290-296.
- Hartl, D.L. & Clark, A.G. 2007. Principles of Population Genetics, 4th ed. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, Massachusetts. 652 p.
- Harvey, N.G. 2006. Characterization of six polymorphic microsatellite loci from *Ampelomyces quisqualis*, intracellular mycoparasite and biocontrol agent of powdery mildew. Molecular Ecology Notes 6: 1188-1190.
- Henningsson, B. 1962. Studies in fungal decomposition of pine, spruce, and birch pulpwood. Meddelanden Från Statens Skogforskningsinstitut 52: 1-25.
- Hettich, U., Sieber, T.N. & Holdenrieder, O. 2007. Interaction between *Heterobasidion parviporum* and *Laetiporus sulphureus*. Program and Abstracts of the 12th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Berkeley, California and Medford, Oregon, August 12-19, 2007.
- Hibbett, D.S. 1996. Phylogenetic evidence for horizontal transmission of Group 1 introns in the nuclear ribosomal DNA of mushroom-forming fungi. Molecular Biology and Evolution 13: 903-917.
- & M. Binder. 2002. Evolution of complex fruiting body morphologies in homobasidiomycetes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B. 269: 1963-1969.
- –, Binder, M., Bischoff, J.F., Blackwell, M., Cannon, P.F., Eriksson, O.E., Huhndorf, S., James, T., Kirk, P.M., Lücking R., Lumbsch, H.T., Lutzoni, F., Matheny, P.B., McLaughlin, D.J., Powell, M.J., Redhead, S., Schoch, C.L., Spatafora, J.W., Stalpers, J.A., Vilgalys, R., Aime, M.C., Aptroot, A., Bauer, R., Begerow, D., Benny, G. L., Castlebury, L.A., Crous, P.W., Dai. Y.C., Gams, W., Geiser, D.M., Griffith, G.W., Gueidan, C., Hawksworth, D.L., Hestmark, G., Hosaka, K., Humber, R.A., Hyde, K. D., Ironside, J.E., Kõljalg, U., Jyrtznabm C.P., Larsson, K.H., Lichtwardt, R., Longcore, J., Miadlikowska, J., Miller, A., Moncalvo, J.M., Mozley-Standridge, S., Oberwinkler, F., Parmasto, E., Reeb, V., Rogers, J.D., Roux, C., Ryvarden, L., Sampaio, J. P., Schüßler, A., Sugiyama, J., Thorn, R.G., Tibell, L., Untereiner, W.A., Walker, C., Wang, Z., Weir, A., Weiß, M., White, M.M., Winka, K., Yao, Y.J., & Zhang, N. 2007. A higher-level phylogenetic classification of the Fungi. Mycological Research 111: 509-547.
- Hiddink, G.A., Termorshuizen, A.J., Raaijmakers, J.M. & van Bruggen, A.H.C. 2005. Effect of mixed and single crops on disease suppressiveness of soils. Phytopathology 95: 1325-1332.

- Hietala, A.M., Eikenes, M., Kvaalen, H., Solheim, H. & Fossdal, C.G. 2003. Multiplex real-time PCR for monitoring *Heterobasidion annosum* colonization in Norway spruce clones that differ in disease resistance. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69: 4413-4420.
- -, Kvaalen, H., Schmidt, A., Jøhnk, N., Solheim, H. & Fossdal, C.G. 2004. Temporal and spatial profiles of chitinase expression by Norway spruce in response to bark colonization by *Heterobasidion annosum*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70: 3948-3953.
- Holdenrieder, O. 1984. Investigations on biological control of *Heterobasidion annosum* in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) with antagonistic fungi. II Interaction experiments in wood. European Journal of Forest Pathology 14: 17-32. (In German with English summary)
- & Greig, B.J.W. 1998. Biological methods of control. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 235-258.
- Holmer L. & Stenlid, J. 1996. Diffuse competition for heterogenous substrate in soil among wood decomposing basidiomycetes. Oecologia 106: 531-538.
- & Stenlid J. 1997. *Resinicium bicolor*, A potential biological control agent for *Heterobasidion annosum*. European Journal of Forest Pathology 27: 159-172.
- -, Renvall, P. & Stenlid, J. 1997. Selective replacement between species of wood-rotting basidiomycetes, a laboratory study. Mycological Research 101: 714-720.
- Holt, C.E., Gockel, H. & Huttermann, A. 1983. The mating system of *Fomes annosus* (*Heterobasidion annosum*). European Journal of Forest Pathology 13: 174-181.
- Hong S.G., Jeong W. & Jung, H.S. 2002. Amplification of mitochondrial small subunit ribosomal DNA of polypores and its potential for phylogenetic analysis. Mycologia 94: 823-833.
- Hood, I.A., Horner, I.J., Gardner, J.F. & Sandberg C.J. 2002. Armillaria root disease of *Pinus radiata* in New Zealand. 1: Basidiospore dispersal. New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science 32: 94-102.
- Hoshino, Y.T. & Matsumoto N. 2007. Changes in fungal community structure in bulk soil and spinach rhizosphere soil after chemical fumigation as revealed by 18S rDNA PCR-DGGE. Soil Science & Plant Nutrition 53: 40-55.
- Hsiau, P.T.W. & Harrington, T.C. 2003. Phylogenetics and adaptations of basidiomycetous fungi fed upon by bark beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae). Symbiosis 34: 111-132.
- Hunt, R.S. & Cobb, F.W. Jr. 1982. Potential arthropod vectors and competing fungi of *Fomes annosus* in pine stumps. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology 4: 247-253.
- Hynes, S.S., Chaudhry, O., Providenti, M.A. & Smith, M.L. 2006. Development of AFLPderived, functionally specific markers for environmental persistence studies of fungal strains. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 52: 451-461.
- Högberg, N. & Stenlid, J. 1999. Population genetics of *Fomitopsis rosea* a wood-decay fungus of the old-growth European taiga. Molecular Ecology 8: 703-710.
- Ishii, K. & Fukui, M. 2001. Optimization of annealing temperature to reduce bias caused by a primer mismatch in multitemplate PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67: 3753-3755.
- James T.Y., Moncalvo, J.M., Li, S. & Vilgalys, R. 2001. Polymorphism at the ribosomal DNA spacers and its relation to breeding structure of the widespread mushroom *Schizophyllum commune*. Genetics. 157: 149-61.
- -, Kauff F., Schoch C., Matheny P.B., Hofstetter V., Cox C.J., Celio, G., Gueidan D., Fraker, E., Miadlikowska J., Lumbsch, H.T., Rauhut, A., Reeb, V., Arnold, A.E., Amtoft,

A., Stajich, J.E., Hosaka, K., Sung, G., Johnson, D., O'Rourke, B., Crockett, M., Binder, M., Curtis, J.H., Slot, J.C., Wang, Z., Wilson, A.W., Schussle, A., Longcore, J.E., O'Donnell, K., Mozley-Standridge, S., Porter, D., Letcher, P.M., Powell, M.J., Taylor, J.W., White, M.M., Griffith, G.W., Davies, D.R., Humber, R.A., Morton, J.B., Sugiyama, J., Rossman, A.Y., Rogers, J.D., Pfister, D.H., Hewitt, D., Hansen, K., Hambleton, S., Shoemaker, R.A., Kohlmeyer, J., Volkmann-Kohlmeyer, B., Spotts, R.A., Serdani, M., Crous, P.W., Hughes, K.W., Matsuura, K., Langer, E., Langer, G., Untereiner, W.A., Lucking, R., Budel, B., Geiser, D.M., Aptroot, A., Diederich, P., Schmitt, I., Schultz, M., Yahr, R., Hibbett, D.S., Lutzoni, F., McLaughlin, D.J., Spatafora J.W. & Vilgalys, R. 2006. Reconstructing the early evolution of Fungi using a six-gene phylogeny. Nature 443: 818-822.

- Jasalavich, C.A., Ostrofsky, A. & Jellison, J. 2000. Detection and identification of decay fungi in spruce wood by restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of amplified genes encoding rRNA. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 4725-4734.
- Jeffreys, A.J., Wilson, V. & Thein, S.L. 1985. Hypervariable 'minisatellite' regions in human DNA. Nature 314: 67-73.
- Johannesson, H. & Stenlid, J. 1999. Molecular identification of wood-inhabiting fungi in an unmanaged *Picea abies* forest in Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 115: 203-211.
- & Stenlid J. 2003. Molecular markers reveal genetic isolation and phylogeography of the S and F intersterility groups of the wood-decay fungus *Heterobasidion annosum*. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 29: 94-101
- & Stenlid, J. 2004. Nuclear reassortment between vegetative mycelia in natural populations of the basidiomycete *Heterobasidion annosum*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 41: 563-570.
- Johansson, M. & Marklund, E. 1980. Antagonists of *Fomes annosus* in the rhizosphere of grey alder (*Alnus incana*) and Norway spruce. European Journal of Forest Pathology 10: 385-396.
- Jokinen, K. 1984. The spread of *Heterobasidion annosum* and its control using *Phlebiopsis* gigantea during thinnings in the young stands of Scots pine. Folia Forestalia 607: 1-12.
- Jonsson, L., Dahlberg, A., Nilsson, M-C., Zackrisson, O. & Kårén, O. 1999. Ectomycorrhizal fungal communities in late-successional Swedish boreal forests, and their composition following wildfire. Molecular Ecology 8: 205-215.
- Jumpponen, A. 2007. Soil fungal communities underneath willow canopies on a primary successional glacier forefront: rDNA sequence results can be affected by primer selection and chimeric data. Microbial Ecology 53: 233-246.
- Kadlec, Z., Starý, P. & Zumr, V. 1992. Field evidence for the large pine weevil, *Hylobius abietis* as a vector of *Heterobasidion annosum*. European Journal of Forest Pathology 22: 316-318.
- Kalendar R., Grob T., Regina M., Suoniemi A. & Schulman A.H. 1999. IRAP and REMAP: Two new retrotransposon-based DNA fingerprinting techniques. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 98: 704-711.
- Kallio, T. 1965. Studies on the biology of distribution and possibilities to control *Fomes annosus* in southern Finland. Acta Forestalia Fennica 78: 1-21. (In Finnish with English summary)
- 1970. Aerial distribution of the root-rot fungus *Fomes annosus* (Fr.) Cooke in Finland. Acta Forestalia Fennica 107: 1-55.

- 1971. Protection of spruce stumps against *Fomes annosus* (Fr.) Cooke by some woodinhabiting fungi. Acta Forestalia Fennica 117: 1-20.
- & Hallaksela, A.-M. 1979. Biological control of *Heterobasidion annosum* (Fr.). Bref. (*Fomes annosus*) in Finland. European Journal of Forest Pathology 9: 298-308.
- Kang, S. & Mills, A.L. 2006. The effect of sample size in studies of soil microbial community structure. Journal of Microbiological Methods 66: 242-250.
- Kappe, R., Fauser, C., Okeke, C.N. & Maiwald, M. 1996. Universal fungus-specific primer systems and group-specific hybridization oligonucleotides for 18S rDNA. Mycoses 39: 25-30.
- Kardol, P., Cornips, N.J., Van Kempen, M.M.L., Bakx-Schotman, J.M.T. & Van Der Putten, W.H. 2007. Microbe-mediated plant-soil feedback causes historical contingency effects in plant community assembly. Ecological Monographs 77: 147-162
- Karlsson J.-O. & Stenlid J. 1991. Pectic isozyme profiles of intersterility groups in *Heterobasidion annosum*. Mycological Research 95: 531-536.
- Karlsson, M. 2003. Expressed sequences from the basidiomycetous tree pathogen *Heterobasidion annosum* during early infection of scots pine. Fungal Genetics and Biology 39: 51-59.
- -, Hietala, A.M., Kvaalen, H., Solheim, H., Olson, Å., Stenlid, J. & Fossdal, C.G. 2007. Quantification of host and pathogen DNA and RNA transcripts in the interaction of Norway spruce with *Heterobasidion parviporum*. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 70: 99-109.
- Kasuga, T. & Mitchelson K.R. 2000. Intersterility group differentiation in *Heterobasidion annosum* using ribosomal IGS1 region polymorphism. Forest Pathology 30: 329-344.
- -, Woods, C., Woodward, S., & Mitchelson, K. 1993. *Heterobasidion annosum* 5.8s ribosomal DNA and internal transcribed spacer sequence: rapid identification of European intersterility groups by ribosomal DNA restriction polymorphism. Current Genetics 24: 433-436.
- Kauhanen, M., Vainio, E.J., Hantula, J., Eyjolfsdottir, G.G. & Niemelä, P. 2006. Endophytic fungi in Siberian larch (*Larix sibirica*) needles. Forest Pathology 36: 434-446.
- Kauserud, H. & Schumacher, T. 2003a. Genetic structure of Fennoscandian populations of the threatened wood-decay fungus *Fomitopsis rosea* (Basidiomycota). Mycological Research 107: 155-163.
- & Schumacher, T. 2003b. Regional and local population structure of the pioneer wooddecay fungus *Trichaptum abietinum*. Mycologia 95: 416-425.
- -, Lie, M., Stensrud, O. & Ohlson, M. 2005. Molecular characterization of airborne fungal spores in boreal forests of contrasting human disturbance. Mycologia 97: 1215-1224.
- Kim, J-J., Allen, E.A., Humble, L.M. & Breuil C. 2005. Ophiostomatoid and basidiomycetous fungi associated with green, red, and grey lodgepole pines after mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) infestation. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35: 274-284.
- Kim, S.H., Uzunovic, A. & Breuil, C. 1999. Rapid detection of *Ophiostoma piceae* and *O. quercus* in stained wood by PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65: 287-290.
- Kohn, L.M. 2005. Mechanisms of fungal speciation. Annual Review of Phytopathology 43: 279-308.
- Korhonen, K. 1978a. Intersterility groups of *Heterobasidion annosum*. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 94: 1-25.

- 1978b. Intersterility and clonal size in the Armillariella mellea complex. Karstenia 18: 31-42.
- 2003. Simulated stump treatment experiments for monitoring the efficacy of *Phlebiopsis* gigantea against *Heterobasidion*. In: Laflamme, G., Bérubé, J.A., Bussières, G. (eds.). Root and Butt Rot of Forest Trees Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Québec, Canada, September 16-22, 2001. Laurentian Forestry Centre, Quebec, Canada. p. 206-210.
- & Dai, Y.-C. 2005. Genetically identified taxa of *Heterobasidion* and their distribution in Eurasia. In: Mańka, M. & Łakomy, P. (eds.). Root and Butt Rots of Forest Trees. Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Poznań and Bialowieza, Poland, August 16-22, 2004. The August Cieszkowski Agricultural University, Poznań, Poland. p. 57-63.
- & Kauppila P. 1988. The sexuality of *Phlebiopsis gigantea*. Karstenia 27: 23-30.
- & Piri, T. 1994. The main hosts and distribution of the S and P groups of *Heterobasidion annosum* in Finland. In: Johansson, M. & Stenlid, J. (eds.). Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party S2.06.01, Wik, Sweden and Haikko, Finland, August 9-16, 1993. The Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden. p. 260-267.
- & Stenlid, J. 1998. Biology of *Heterobasition annosum*. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 43-70.
- -, Bobko, I., Hanso, S., Piri, T. & Vasiliauskas, A. 1992. Intersterility groups of *Heterobasidion annosum* in some spruce and pine stands in Byelorussia, Lithuania and Estonia. European Journal of Forest Pathology 22: 384-391.
- -, Lipponen, K., Bendz, M., Johansson, M., Ryen, I., Venn, K., Seiskari, P. & Niemi, M. 1994. Control of *Heterobasidion annosum* by stump treatment with 'Rotstop', a new commercial formulation of *Phlebiopsis gigantea*. In: Johansson, M., Stenlid, J. (eds.), Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party S2.06.01, Wik, Sweden and Haikko, Finland, August 9–16, 1993. The Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden. p. 675–685.
- -, Fedorov, N.I., La Porta, N., Kovbasa, N.P. 1997. *Abies sibirica* in the Ural region is attacked by the S type of *Heterobasidion annosum*. European Journal of Forest Pathology 27: 273-281.
- -, Delatour, C., Greig, B.J.W. & Schönhar, S. 1998. Silvicultural control. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 283-313.
- Korkama, T., Pakkanen, A. & Pennanen, T., 2006. Ectomycorrhizal community structure varies among Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) clones. New Phytologist 171: 815-824.
- Kouki, J., Löfman, S., Martikainen, P., Rouvinen, S. & Uotila, A. 2001. Forest fragmentation in fennoscandia: linking habitat requirements of wood-associated threatened species to landscape and habitat changes. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 16, Supplement 3: 27-37.
- Koutaniemi, S., Warinowski, T., Kärkönen, A., Alatalo, E., Fossdal, C., G. Saranpää, P., Laakso, T., Fagerstedt, K.V., Simola, L.K. & Paulin, L. 2007. Expression profiling of the lignin biosynthetic pathway in Norway spruce using EST sequencing and real-time RT-PCR. Plant Molecular Biology 65: 311-328.
- Kowalchuk, G.A., Gerards, S. & Woldendorp, J.W. 1997. Detection and characterization of fungal infections of *Ammophila arenaria* (marram grass) roots by denaturing gradient gel

electrophoresis of specifically amplified 18s rDNA. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63: 3858-3865.

- -, Souza, F.A. & van Veen, de J.A. 2002. Community analysis of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi associated with *Ammophila arenaria* in Dutch coastal sand dunes. Molecular Ecology 11: 571-581.
- -, Van Os, G.J., Van Aartrijk, J. & Van Veen, J.A. 2003. Microbial community responses to disease management soil treatments used in flower bulb cultivation. Biology and Fertility of Soils 37: 55-63.
- -, Hol, W.H.G. & van Veen, J.A. 2006. Rhizosphere fungal communities are influenced by *Senecio jacobaea* pyrrolizidine alkaloid content and composition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38: 2852-2859.
- Kowalski, T. 2006. *Chalara fraxinea* sp. nov. associated with dieback of ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*) in Poland. Forest Pathology 36: 264-270.
- Kühbacher, T., Ott, S.J., Helwig, U., Mimura, T., Rizzello, F., Kleessen, B., Gionchetti, P., Blaut, M., Campieri, M., Fölsch, U.R., Kamm, M.A. & Schreiber, S. 2006. Bacterial and fungal microbiota in relation to probiotic therapy (VSL#3) in pouchitis. Gut 55: 833-41.
- Kulhánková, A., Béguiristain, T., Moukoumi, J., Berthelin, J. & Ranger, J. 2006. Spatial and temporal diversity of wood decomposer communities in different forest stands, determined by ITS rDNA targeted TGGE. Annals of Forest Science 63: 547-556.
- Kuuluvainen T. 1994. Gap disturbance, ground microtopography, and the regeneration dynamics of boreal coniferous forests in Finland: A review. Annales Zoologici Fennici 31: 35-51.
- Käärik, A.A. & Rennerfelt, E. 1957. Investigations on the fungal flora of spruce and pine stumps. Meddelanden Från Statens Skogsforskningsinstitut 47: 1-88.
- Lagomarsino, A., Knapp, B.A., Moscatelli, M.C., De Angelis, P., Grefo, S. & Insam H. 2007. Structural and functional diversity of soil microbes is affected by elevated [CO₂] and N addition in a poplar plantation. Journal of Soils and Sediments 7: 399-405.
- La Porta, N., Capretti, P., Kammiovirta, K., Korhonen, K. & Karjalainen, R. 1997. The relatedness of the Italian F intersterility group of *Heterobasidion annosum* with the S group, as revealed by RAPD assay. Mycological Research 101: 1065-1072.
- Łakomy, P., Wojtczak, K. & Frański, H. 2007. *Phlebiopsis gigantea* survival after treatment and its natural stumps colonization. Program and Abstracts of the 12th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Berkeley, California and Medford, Oregon, August 12-19, 2007.
- Li, Y.C., Korol, A.B., Fahima, T., Beiles, A. & Nevo, E. 2002. Microsatellites: genomic distribution, putative functions and mutational mechanisms: a review. Molecular Ecology 11: 2453-2465.
- Lickey, E.B., Hughes, K.W. & Petersen, R.H. 2003. Variability and Phylogenetic Incongruence of an SSU nrDNA Group I Intron in *Artomyces, Auriscalpium*, and *Lentinellus* (Auriscalpiaceae: Homobasidiomycetes). Molecular Biology and Evolution 20: 1909-1916.
- Liiri, M., Setälä, H., Haimi, J., Pennanen, T. & Fritze, H. 2001. Influence of *Cognettia spaghnetorum* (Enchytraeidae) on birch growth and microbial activity, composition and biomass in soil with or without wood ash. Biology and Fertility of Soils 34: 185-195.
- -, Setälä, H., Haimi, J., Pennanen, T. & Fritze, H. 2002. Relationship between soil microarthropod species diversity and plant growth does not change when the system is disturbed. Oikos 96: 137-149.

- Lilja, A., Poteri, M., Vuorinen, M., Kurkela, T. & Hantula J. 2005. Cultural and PCR-based identification of the two most common fungi from cankers on container-grown Norway spruce seedlings. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35: 432-439.
- Lim, Y.W., Kim, J.-J., Lu, M. & Breuil, C. 2005. Determining fungal diversity on *Dendroctonus ponderosae* and *Ips pini* attacking lodgepole pine using cultural and molecular methods. Fungal Diversity 19: 79-94.
- Lima, G., De Curtis, F., Castoria, R. & De Cicco, V. 2003. Integrated control of apple postharvest pathogens and survival of biocontrol yeasts in semi-commercial conditions. European Journal of Plant Pathology 109: 341-349.
- Lind, M., Olson, Å., Stenlid, J. 2005. An AFLP-markers based genetic linkage map of *Heterobasidion annosum* locating intersterility genes. Fungal Genetics and Biology 42: 519-527.
- -, Stenlid, J. & Olson, Å. 2007a. Genetics and QTL mapping of somatic incompatibility and intraspecific interactions in the basidiomycete *Heterobasidion annosum s.l.* Fungal Genetics and Biology 44: 1242-51.
- -, Dalman, K., Stenlid, J., Karlsson, B., Olson, Å. 2007b. Identification of quantitative trait loci affecting virulence in the basidiomycete *Heterobasidion annosum* s.I. Current genetics 52: 35-44.
- Lindhe, A., Åsenblad, N. & Toresson, H.G. 2004. Cut logs and high stumps of spruce, birch, aspen and oak nine years of saproxylic fungi succession. Biological Conservation 119: 443-454.
- Linzer, R.E., Otrosina, W.J., Gonthier, P., Bruhn, J., Laflamme, G, Bussières & Garbelotto, G. M., 2007. Dispersal and horizontal genetic transfer in the evolutionary history of *Heterobasidion annosum* P ISG. Program and Abstracts of the 12th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Berkeley, California and Medford, Oregon, August 12-19, 2007.
- Liu, W.T., Marsh, T.L., Cheng, H. & Forney, L.J. 1997. Characterization of microbial diversity by determining terminal restriction fragment length polymorphisms of genes encoding 16S rRNA. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63: 4516-4522.
- Lord, N.S., Kaplan, C.W., Shank, P., Kitts, C.L. & Elrod, S.L. 2002. Assessment of fungal diversity using terminal restriction fragment (TRF) pattern analysis: comparison of 18S and ITS ribosomal regions. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 42: 327-337.
- Lumley, T.C., Abbott, S.P. & Currah, R.S. 2000. Microscopic ascomycetes isolated from rotting wood in the boreal forest. Mycotaxon 74: 395-414.
- Lundquist, J.E. 1986. Fungi associated with *Pinus* in South Africa. Part I. South African Forestry Journal 138: 1-14.
- Lutzoni, F., Kauff, F., Cox, J.C., McLaughlin, D., Celio, G., Dentinger, B., Padamsee, M., Hibbett, D., James, T.Y., Baloch, E., Grube, M., Reeb, V., Hofstetter, V., Schoch, C., Arnold, A.E., Miadlikowska, J., Spatafora, J., Johnson, D., Hambleton, S., Crockett, M., Shoemaker, R., Sung, G.-H., Lücking, R., Lumbsch, T., O'Donnell, K., Binder, M., Diederich, P., Ertz, D., Gueidan, C., Hansen, K., Harris, R.C., Hosaka, K., Lim, Y.-W., Matheny, B., Nishida, H., Pfister, D., Rogers, J., Rossman, A., Schmitt, I., Sipman, H., Stone, J., Sugiyama, J., Yahr, R., & Vilgalys, R. 2004. Assembling the fungal tree of life: progress, classification, and evolution of subcellular traits. American Journal of Botany 91: 1446-1480.
- Lygis, V., Vasiliauskas, R. & Stenlid, J. 2004a. Planting *Betula pendula* on pine sites infested by *Heterobasidion annosum*: disease transfer, silvicultural evaluation, and community of wood-inhabiting fungi. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34: 120-130.

- -, Vasiliauskas, R., Stenlid, J. & Vasiliauskas, A. 2004b. Silvicultural and pathological evaluation of Scots pine afforestations mixed with deciduous trees to reduce the infections by *Heterobasidion annosum s.s.* Forest Ecology and Management 201: 275-285.
- Ma, W.K., Siciliano, S.D. & Germida, J.J. 2005. A PCR-DGGE method for detecting arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in cultivated soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37: 1589-1597.
- Maijala P., Raudaskoski M. & Viikari L. 1995. Hemicellulolytic enzymes in P- and Sstrains of *Heterobasidion annosum*. Microbiology 141: 743-750.
- -, Harrington, T.C. & Raudaskoski, M. 2003. A peroxidase gene family and gene trees in *Heterobasidion* and related genera. Mycologia 95: 209-221.
- Malosso, E., Waite, I.S., English, L., Hopkins, D.W. & O'Donnell, A.G. 2006. Fungal diversity in maritime Antarctic soils determined using a combination of culture isolation, molecular fingerprinting and cloning techniques. Polar Biology 29: 552-561.
- Marshall, M.N., Cocolin, L., Mills, D.A. & VanderGheynst, J.S. 2003. Evaluation of PCR primers for denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of fungal communities in compost. Journal of Applied Microbiology 95: 934-948.
- Massart S., De Clercq D., Salmon M., Dickburt C. & Jijakli M.H. 2005. Development of real-time PCR using minor Groove Binding probe to monitor the biological control agent *Candida oleophila* (strain O). Journal of Microbiological Methods 60: 73-82.
- Matheny, P.B., Z. Wang, M. Binder, J.M. Curtis, Y.W. Lim, R.H. Nilsson, K.W. Hughes, V. Hofstetter, J.F. Ammirati, C. Schoch, G.E. Langer, D.J. McLaughlin, A.W. Wilson, T. Frøslev, Z.W. Ge, R.W. Kerrigan, J.C. Slot, E.C. Vellinga, Z.L. Liang, T.J. Baroni, M. Fischer, K. Hosaka, K. Matsuura, M.T. Seidl, J. Vaura, & D.S. Hibbett. 2007. Contributions of rpb2 and tef1 to the phylogeny of mushrooms and allies (Basidiomycota, Fungi). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 43: 430-451.
- Mathre, D.E., Cook, R.J. & Callan, N.W. 1999. From discovery to use: traversing the world of commercializing biocontrol agents for plant disease control. Plant Disease 83: 972-983.
- Mattila, U. & Nuutinen, T. 2007. Assessing the incidence of butt rot in Norway spruce in southern Finland. Silva Fennica 41: 29-43.
- May, L.A., Smiley, B. & Schmidt, M.G. 2001. Comparative denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of fungal communities associated with whole plant corn silage. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 47: 829-841.
- Menkis A., Vasiliauskas R., Taylor A., Stenlid J. & Finlay R. 2005. Fungal communities in mycorrhizal roots of conifer seedlings in forest nurseries under different cultivation systems, assessed by morphotyping, direct sequencing and mycelial isolation. Mycorrhiza 16: 33-41.
- -, Vasiliauskas R., Taylor A., Stenström E., Stenlid J. & Finlay R. 2006. Fungi in decayed roots of conifer seedlings in forest nurseries, afforested clear-cuts and abandoned farmland. Plant Pathology 55: 117-129.
- Meredith, D.S. 1959. The infection of pine stumps by *Fomes annosus* and other fungi. Annals of Botany, New Series 23: 455-476.
- Mitchell, J.I., Roberts, P.J. & Moss, S.T. 1995. Sequence or structure?: a short review on the application of nucleic acid sequence information to fungal taxonomy. Mycologist 9: 67-75.
- Moreth, U. & Schmidt, O. 2000. Identification of indoor rot fungi by taxon-specific priming polymerase chain reaction. Holzforschung 54: 1-8.

- Müller, M.M. & Hallaksela A-M. 2000. Fungal diversity in Norway spruce: a case study Mycological Research 104: 1139-1145.
- -, Kantola, R., Korhonen, K. & Uotila, J. 1995. Combined fatty acid and sterol profiles of *Heterobasidion annosum* intersterility groups S, P and F. Mycological Research 99: 1025-1033.
- Murata, H., Babasaki, K. & Yamada, A. 2005. Highly polymorphic DNA markers to specify strains of the ectomycorrhizal basidiomycete *Tricholoma matsutake* based on σmarY1, the long terminal repeat of gypsy-type retroelement marY1. Mycorrhiza 15: 179-186.
- Murray, A.C. & Woodward, S. 2003. *In vitro* interactions between bacteria isolated from Sitka spruce stumps and *Heterobasidion annosum*. Forest Pathology 33: 53-67.
- Muyzer, G., de Waal, E.C. & Uitterlinden, A.G. 1993. Profiling of complex microbial populations by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of polymerase chain reaction-amplified genes coding for 16S rRNA. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59: 695-700.
- Mäkelä, M. & Korhonen, K. 1998. Rotstop-kantokäsittelyaineen vaikutus hakattuun puutavaraan. Metsätehon raportti 54: 1-22. (In Finnish)
- Möykkynen, T. 1997. Liberation of *Heterobasidion annosum* conidia by airflow. European Journal of Forest Pathology 27: 283-289.
- Nicolotti, G. & Gonthier, P. 2005. Stump treatment against *Heterobasidion* with *Phlebiopsis gigantea* and some chemicals in *Picea abies* stands in the western Alps. Forest Pathology 35: 365-374.
- & Varese G.C. 1996. Screening of antagonistic fungi against air-borne infection by *Heterobasidion annosum* on Norway spruce. Forest Ecology and Management 88: 249-257.
- -, Gonthier, & Varese, P.G.C. 1999. Effectiveness of some biocontrol and chemical treatments against *Heterobasidion annosum* on Norway spruce stumps. Forest Pathology 29: 339-346.
- Nieguitsila, A., Deville, M., Jamal, T., Halos, L., Berthelemy, M., Chermette, R., Latouche, S., Arné, P & Guillot, J. 2007. Evaluation of fungal aerosols using temporal temperature gradient electrophoresis (TTGE) and comparison with culture. Journal of Microbiological Methods 70: 86-95.
- Niemelä, T. & Korhonen, K. 1998. Taxonomy of the genus *Heterobasidion*. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 27-33.
- -, Renvall, P. & Penttilä, R. 1995. Interactions of fungi at late stages of wood decomposition. Annales Botanici Fennici 32: 141-152.
- Nikolcheva, L.G., Cockshutt, A.M. & Bärlocher, F. 2003. Determining diversity of freshwater fungi on decaying leaves: comparison of traditional and molecular approaches. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69: 2548-2554.
- Nordén, B. & Larsson, K-H. 2000. Basidiospore dispersal in the old-growth forest fungus *Phlebia centrifuga* (Basidiomycetes). Nordic Journal of Botany 20: 215-219.
- O'Brien, H.E., Parrent, J.L., Jackson, J.A., Moncalvo, J-M. & Vilgalys, R. 2005. Fungal community analysis by large-scale sequencing of environmental Samples. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71: 5544-5550.
- Oh, S., Kamdem, D.P., Keathley, D.E. & Han, K.-H. 2003. Detection and species identification of wood-decaying fungi by hybridization of immobilized sequence-specific

oligonucleotide probes with PCR-amplified fungal ribosomal DNA internal transcribed spacers. Holzforschung 57: 346-352.

- Olsen, G.J. 1990. Variation among the masses. Nature 345: 20.
- Olson, Å. & Stenlid, J. 2001. Mitochondrial control of fungal hybrid virulence. Nature 411: 433.
- —. & Stenlid, J. 2002. Pathogenic fungal species hybrids infecting plants. Microbes and Infection 4: 1353-1359.
- Oros-Sichler, M., Gomes, N.C.M., Neuber, G. & Smalla, K. 2006. A new semi-nested PCR protocol to amplify large 18S rRNA gene fragments for PCR-DGGE analysis of soil fungal communities. Journal of Microbiological Methods 65: 63-75.
- Ota, Y., Tokuda, S., Buchanan, P.K. & Hattori, T. 2006. Phylogenetic relationships of Japanese species of *Heterobasidion—H. annosum sensu lato* and an undetermined *Heterobasidion* sp. Mycologia 98: 717-725.
- Otrosina, W.J., Chase, T.E., Cobb, F.W. & Korhonen, K. 1993. Population structure of *Heterobasidion annosum* from North America and Europe. Canadian Journal of Botany 71: 1064-1071.
- Ott, S.J., El Mokhtari, N.E., Rehman, A., Rosenstiel, P., Hellmig, S., Kühbacher, T., Lins, M., Simon, R. & Schreiber, S. 2007. Fungal rDNA signatures in coronary atherosclerotic plaques. Environmental Microbiology 9: 3035-3045.
- Pace, N.R., Stahl, D.A., Lane, D.J. & Olsen, G.J. 1985. Analyzing natural microbial populations by rRNA sequences. American Society for Microbiology News 51: 4-12.
- Peet, R.K. 1974. The measurement of species diversity. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 5: 285-307.
- Pennanen, T., Caul, S., Daniell, T.J., Griffiths, B.S., Ritz, K. & Wheatley, R.E. 2004. Community-level responses of metabolically-active soil microorganisms to the quantity and quality of substrate inputs. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36: 841-848.
- -, Paavolainen, L. & Hantula, J. 2001. Rapid PCR-based method for the direct analysis of fungal communities in complex environmental samples. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33: 697-699.
- -, Heiskanen, J. & Korkama, T. 2005. Dynamics of ectomycorrhizal fungi and growth of Norway spruce seedlings after planting on a mounded forest clearcut. Forest Ecology and Management 213: 243-252.
- Penttilä, R., Siitonen, J. & Kuusinen, M. 2004. Polypore diversity in managed and oldgrowth boreal *Picea abies* forests in southern Finland. Biological Conservation 117: 271-283.
- Perkiömäki J. & Fritze H. 2003. Does simulated acid rain increase the leaching of cadmium from wood ash to toxic levels for coniferous forest humus microbes? FEMS Microbiology Ecology 44: 27-33.
- -, Tom-Petersen, A., Nybroe, O. & Fritze, H. 2003. Boreal forest microbial community after long-term field exposure to acid and metal pollution and its potential remediation by using wood ash. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35: 1517-1526.
- Perotto, S. & Bonfante, P. 1998. Genetic and Functional Diversity of Ericoid Mycorrhizal Fungi. Symbiosis 25: 19-27.
- Pettersson, M., Rönnberg, J., Vollbrecht, G. & Gemmel, P. 2003. Effect of thinning and *Phlebiopsis gigantea* stump treatment on the growth of *Heterobasidion parviporum* inoculated in *Picea abies*. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 18: 362-367.

- Petäistö, R.-L. 1978. *Phlebia gigantea* and *Heterobasidion annosum* in pine stumps on cuttings area in Suomenniemi and Savitaipale. Folia Forestalia 373: 1-9. (In Finnish with English summary)
- Piri, T. 1996. The spreading of the S type of *Heterobasidion annosum* from Norway spruce stumps to the subsequent tree stand. European Journal of Forest Pathology 26: 193-204.
- 2003. Early development of root rot in young Norway spruce planted on sites infected by *Heterobasidion* in southern Finland. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33: 604-611.
- & Korhonen, K. 2001. Infection of advance regeneration of Norway spruce by *Heterobasidion parviporum*. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31: 937-942.
- & Korhonen, K. 2007. Spatial distribution and persistence of *Heterobasidion parviporum* genets on a Norway spruce site. Forest Pathology 37: 1-8.
- -, Korhonen, K. & Sairanen, A. 1990. Occurrence of *Heterobasidion annosum* in pure and mixed stands in Southern Finland. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research. 5:113-125.
- Platas, G., Ruibal, C. & Collado, J. 2004. Size and sequence heterogeneity in the ITS1 of *Xylaria hypoxylon* isolates. Mycological Research 108: 71-75.
- Polz, M.F. & Cavanaugh, C.M. 1998. Bias in template-to-product ratios in multitemplate PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64: 3724-3730.
- Pratt, J.E., Johansson, M. & Hüttermann, A. 1998. Chemical control of *Heterobasidion* annosum. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum:* Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 259-282.
- -, Niemi M. & Sierota Z.H. 2000. Comparison of three products based on *Phlebiopsis gigantea* for the control of *Heterobasidion annosum* in Europe. Biocontrol Science and Technology 10: 467-477.
- Prokopowich, C.D., Gregory, T.R. & Crease T.J. 2003. The correlation between rDNA copy number and genome size in eukaryotes. Genome 46: 48-50.
- Ranjard, L., Lejon, D.P.H., Mougel, C., Schehrer, L., Merdinoglu, D. & Chaussod, R. 2003. Sampling strategy in molecular microbial ecology: influence of soil sample size on DNA fingerprinting analysis of fungal and bacterial communities. Environmental Microbiology 5: 1111-1120.
- Ranta, E. 1992. Biometria: Tilastotiedettä ekologeille. 4th ed. Yliopistopaino, Helsinki, Finland. 569 p. (In Finnish)
- Rantalainen, M-L., Fritze, H., Haimi, J., Kiikkilä, O., Pennanen, T. & Setälä, H. 2004. Do enchytraeid worms and habitat corridors facilitate the colonisation of habitat patches by soil microbes? Biology and Fertility of Soils 39: 200-2008.
- -, Fritze, H., Haimi, J., Pennanen, T. & Setälä H. 2005. Colonisation of newly established habitats by soil decomposer organisms: the effect of habitat corridors in relation to colonisation distance and habitat size. Applied Soil Ecology 28:67-77.
- Rayner, A.D.M. 1991. The phytopathological significance of mycelial individualism. Annual Review of Phytopathology 29: 305-323.
- & Boddy, L. 1988. Fungal decomposition of wood: its biology and ecology. John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, UK. 587 p.
- Redfern, D.B. & Stenlid, J. 1998. Spore dispersal and infection. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 105-124.
- Renvall, P. 1995. Community structure and dynamics of wood-rotting Basidiomycetes on decomposing conifer trunks in northern Finland. Karstenia 35: 1-51.

- Rishbeth, J. 1950. Observations on the biology of *Fomes annosus*, with particular reference to East Anglian pine plantations. I. The outbreaks of disease and ecological status of the fungus. Annals of Botany 14: 365-383.
- 1951. Observations on the biology of *Fomes annosus*, with particular reference to East Anglian pine plantations II. Spore production, stump infection, and saprophytic activity in stumps. Annals of Botany 15: 1-21.
- 1952. Control of Fomes annosus. Fr. Forestry 25: 41-50.
- 1959a. Dispersal of *Fomes annosus* Fr. and *Peniophora gigantea* (Fr.) Massee. Transactions of the British Mycological Society 42: 243-260.
- 1959b. Stump protection against *Fomes annosus*. II Treatment with substances other than creosote. Annals of Applied Biology 47: 529-541.
- 1963. Stump protection against *Fomes annosus*. III. Inoculation with *Peniophora gigantea*. Annals of Applied Biology 52: 63-77.
- Rolstad, J., Sætersdal, M., Gjerde, I. & Storaunet, K.O. 2004. Wood-decaying fungi in boreal forest: are species richness and abundances influenced by small-scale spatiotemporal distribution of dead wood? Biological Conservation 117: 539-555.
- Roy, G., Cormier, M., Hamelin, R.C. & Dessureault, M. 1997. Comparison of rapd technique and somatic incompatibility tests for the identification of *Phlebiopsis gigantea* strains. Canadian Journal of Botany 75: 2097-2104.
- -, Bussières, G., Laflamme, G. & Dessureault M. 2001. *In vitro* inhibition of *Heterobasidion annosum* by *Phaeotheca dimorphospora*. Forest Pathology 31: 395–404.
- -, Laflamme, G, Bussières, G. & Dessureault, M. 2003. Field tests on biological control of *Heterobasidion annosum* by *Phaeotheca dimorphospora* in comparison with *Phlebiopsis* gigantea. Forest Pathology 33: 127-140.
- Ryman, S. & Holmåsen, I. 1987. Suomen ja Pohjolan sienet. WSOY, Porvoo-Helsinki-Juva, Finland. 718 p. (In Finnish)
- Ryskov, A.P., Jincharadze, A.G., Prosnyak, M.I., Ivanov, P.L. & Limborska, S.A. 1988. M13 phage DNA as a universal marker for DNA fingerprinting of animals, plants and microorganisms. Federation of European Biochemical Societies Letters 233: 388-392.
- Ryvarden, L. & Gilbertson, R.L. 1994. European Polypores, Vol. 2: *Meripilus Tyromyces*. Synopsis Fungorum 7. Fungiflora: Oslo, Norway. 743p.
- Råberg, U., Brischke, C., Rapp, A.O., Högberg, N.O.S. & Land, C.J. 2007. External and internal fungal flora of pine sapwood (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) specimens in above-ground field tests at six different sites in south-west Germany. Holzforschung 61: 104-111.
- Rönnberg, J., Sidorov, E. & Petrylaitė, E. 2006a. Efficacy of different concentrations of Rotstop® and Rotstop®S and imperfect coverage of Rotstop®S against *Heterobasidion* spp. spore infections on Norway spruce stumps. Forest Pathology 36: 422-33.
- -, Petrylaite, E., Nilsson, G. & Pratt, J. 2006b. Two studies to assess the risk to *Pinus sylvestris* from *Heterobasidion* spp. in southern Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 21: 405-413.
- Saiki, R.K., Gelfand, D.H., Stoffel, S., Scharf, S.J., Higuchi, R., Horn, G.T., Mullis, K.B. & Erlich, H.A. 1988. Primer-directed enzymatic amplification of DNA with a thermostable DNA polymerase. Science 239: 487-491.
- Samils, N., Olson, Å. & Stenlid, J. 2007. *Heterobasidion* spp. resistance against the biocontrol agent Rotstop® (*Phlebiopsis gigantea*). Program and Abstracts of the 12th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Berkeley, California and Medford, Oregon, August 12-19, 2007.

- Sánchez, M.E., Luchi, N., Jiménez, J.J., deVita, P., Sánchez, J.E., Trapero, A. & Capretti, P. 2007. An isolated population of *Heterobasidion abietinum* on *Abies pinsapo* in Spain. Forest Pathology 37: 348-356.
- Schabereiter-Gurtner C., Pinar G., Lubitz W. & Rolleke S. 2001. Analysis of fungal communities on historical church window glass by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis and phylogenetic 18S rDNA sequence analysis. Journal of Microbiological Methods 47: 345-354.
- Schardl, C.L. & Craven, K.D. 2003. Interspecific hybridization in plant-associated fungi and oomycetes: a review. Molecular Ecology 12: 2861-873.
- Schena, L., Nigro, F., Ippolito, A. & Gallitelli, D. 2004. Real-time quantitative PCR: a new technology to detect and study phytopathogenic and antagonistic fungi. European Journal of Plant Pathology 110: 893-908.
- Schwarzenbach, K., Enkerli, J. & Widmer, F. 2007. Objective criteria to assess representativity of soil fungal community profiles. Journal of Microbiological Methods 68: 358-366.
- Sekiguchi, H., Kushida, A. & Takenaka, S. 2007. Effects of cattle manure and green manure on the microbial community structure in upland soil determined by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. Microbes and Environments 22: 327-335.
- -, Hasegawa, H., Okada, H., Kushida, A. & Takenaka, S. 2008. Comparative analysis of environmental variability and fungal community structure in soils between organic and conventional commercial farms of cherry tomato in Japan. Microbes and Environments 23: 57-65.
- Selkoe, K.A. & Toonen, R.J. 2006. Microsatellites for ecologists: a practical guide to using and evaluating microsatellite markers. Ecology Letters 9: 615-629.
- Shapiro, J.A. & Sternberg, R.V. 2005. Why repetitive DNA is essential to genome function. Biological Reviews 80: 227-50.
- Sheffield, V.C., Cox, D.R., Lerman, L.S. & Myers, R.M. 1989. Attachment of a 40-basepair G + C-rich sequence (GC-clamp) to genomic DNA fragments by the polymerase chain reaction results in improved detection of single-base changes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 86: 232-236.
- Sierota, Z.H. 2003. Costs and effects of biological control of root rot in Poland. In: Laflamme, G., Bérubé, J.A., Bussières, G. (eds.). Root and Butt Rot of Forest Trees -Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Québec, Canada, September 16-22, 2001. Laurentian Forestry Centre, Quebec, Canada. p. 194-196.
- Siitonen J. 2001. Forest management, coarse woody debris and saproxylic organisms: Fennoscandian boreal forest as an example. Ecological Bulletins 49: 11–41.
- Sippola, A.-L., Lehesvirta, T. & Renvall, P. 2001. Effects of selective logging on coarse woody debris and diversity of wood-decaying polypores in eastern Finland. Ecological Bulletins 49: 243-254.
- Smit, E., Leeflang, P., Glandorf, B., van Elsas, J.D. & Wernars, K. 1999. Analysis of fungal diversity in the wheat rhizosphere by sequencing of cloned PCR-amplified genes encoding 18S rRNA and temperature gradient gel electrophoresis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65: 2614-2621.
- Smith, M.L., Bruhn, J.N. & Anderson, J.B. 1992. The fungus *Armillaria bulbosa* is among the largest and oldest living organisms. Nature 356: 428-431.
- Snäll, T. & Jonsson, B.G. 2001. Edge effects on six polyporous fungi used as old-growth indicators in Swedish boreal forest. Ecological Bulletins 49: 255-262.

- Sogin, M.L., Elwood, H. J. & Gunderson, J.H. 1986. Evolutionary diversity of eukaryotic small-subunit rRNA genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 83: 1383-1387.
- Speksnijder, A.G.C.L., Kowalchuk, G.A., De Jong, S., Kline, E., Stephen, J.R. & Laanbroek, H.J. 2001. Microvariation artifacts introduced by PCR and cloning of closely related 16S rRNA gene sequences. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67: 469-472.
- Stenlid, J. 1985. Population structure of *Heterobasidion annosum* as determined by somatic incompatibility, sexual incompatibility, and isoenzyme patterns. Canadian Journal of Botany 63: 2268-2273.
- 1987. Controlling and predicting the spread of *Heterobasidion annosum* from infected stumps and trees of *Picea abies*. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 2: 187-198.
- & Gustafsson, M. 2001. Are rare wood decay fungi threatened by inability to spread? Ecological Bulletins 49: 85-91.
- & Karlsson, J.-O. 1991. Partial intersterility in *Heterobasidion annosum*. Mycological Research 95: 1153-1159.
- & Redfern, D.B. 1998. Spread within the tree and stand. In: Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R., Hüttermann, A. (eds.). *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. p. 125-141.
- -, Karlsson, J.-O. & Högberg N. 1994. Intraspecific genetic variation in *Heterobasidion* annosum revealed by amplification of minisatellite DNA. Mycological Research 98: 57-63.
- Stubblefield, C.H., Lundquist J.E. & van der Kamp B. 2005. Forest disease impacts on wildlife: beneficial? In: Lundquist J.E., Hamelin, R.C. (eds.). Forest Pathology – From Genes to Landscapes. APS Press, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA. p. 95-104.
- Suzuki, M.T. & Giovannoni, S.J. 1996. Bias caused by template annealing in the amplification of mixtures of 16S rRNA genes by PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62: 625-630.
- –, Rappé, M.S. & Giovannoni, S.J. 1998. Kinetic bias in estimates of coastal picoplancton community structure obtained by measurements of small-subunit rRNA gene PCR amplicon length heterogeneity. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64: 4522-4529.
- Swedjemark, G. & Karlsson, B. 2004. Genotypic variation in susceptibility following artificial *Heterobasidion annosum* inoculation of *Picea abies* clones in a 17-year-old field test. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 19: 103-111.
- & Stenlid, J. 2001. A highly diverse population of *Heterobasidion annosum* in a single stump of *Picea abies*. Mycological Research 105: 183-189.
- Tanabe, Y. & Yokota, A. 2002. Group I introns from Zygomycota: Evolutionary implications for the fungal IC1 intron subgroup. Journal of Molecular Evolution 54: 692-702.
- Taylor, J.W., Jacobson, D.J., Kroken, S., Kasuga, T., Geiser, D. M., Hibbett, D.S. & Fisher, M.C. 2000. Phylogenetic species recognition and species concepts in fungi. Fungal Genetics and Biology 31: 21-32.
- -, Turner, E., Townsend, J.P., Dettman, J.R. & Jacobson, D. 2006. Eukaryotic microbes, species recognition and the geographic limits of species: examples from the kingdom Fungi. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 361: 1947-1963.

- Thompson, J.R, Marcelinok, L.A. & Polz, M.F. 2002. Heteroduplexes in mixed-template amplifications: formation, consequence and elimination by 'reconditioning PCR'. Nucleic Acids Research 30: 2083-2088.
- Thor, M. 2003. Operational stump treatment against *Heterobasidion annosum* in European forestry current situation. In: Laflamme, G., Bérubé, J.A., Bussières, G. (eds.). Root and Butt Rot of Forest Trees Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Québec, Canada, September 16-22, 2001. Laurentian Forestry Centre, Quebec, Canada. p. 170-175.
- & Stenlid, J. 1998. *Heterobasidion annosum* infection following mechanized first thinning and stump treatment in *Picea abies*. In: Delatour, C., Marcais, B., Guillaumin, J.-J. & Lung-Escarmant, B. (eds.). Root and Butt Rots of Forest Trees. 9th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots, Carcans-Maubuisson, France, September 1-7, 1997. INRA, Paris, France. p. 397-407.
- & Stenlid, J. 2005. *Heterobasidion annosum* infection of *Picea abies* following manual or mechanized stump treatment. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 20: 154-164.
- Toljander, Y., Lindahl, B., Holmer, L. & Högberg, N. 2006. Environmental fluctuations facilitate species co-existence and increase decomposition in communities of wood decay fungi. Oecologia 148: 625-631.
- Tsopelas, P. & Korhonen, K., 1996. Hosts and distribution of the intersterility groups of *Heterobasidion annosum* in the highlands of Greece. Forest Pathology 26: 4-11.
- Vaartaja, O. 1968. Wood inhabiting fungi in a pine plantation in Australia. Mycopathologia et Mycologia Applicata 34: 81-89.
- Vainio, E.J. & Hantula, J. 1999. Variation of RAMS markers within the intersterility group of *Heterobasidion annosum* in Europe. European Journal of Forest Pathology 29: 231-246.
- -, Korhonen, K. & Hantula, J. 1998. Genetic variation in *Phlebiopsis gigantea* as detected with random amplified microsatellite (RAMS) markers. Mycological Research 102: 187-192.
- Valinsky, L., Della Vedova, G., Jiang, T. & Borneman, J. 2002. Oligonucleotide fingerprinting of rRNA genes for analysis of fungal community composition. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68: 5999–6004.
- Van der Wal, A., van Veen, J.A., Pijl, A.S., Summerbell, R.C. & De Boer, W. 2006 Constraints for development of fungal biomass and decomposition processes during restoration of arable sandy soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38: 2890-2902.
- Vandenkoornhuyse, P., Baldauf, S.L., Leyval, C., Straczek, J. & Young, J.P.W. 2002. Extensive fungal diversity in plant roots. Science 295: 2051.
- Varese, G.C., Buffa, G., Luppi, A.M., Gonthier, P., Nicolotti, G. & Cellerino, G.P. 1999. Effects of biological and chemical treatments against *Heterobasidion annosum* on the microfungal communities of *Picea abies* stumps. Mycologia 5: 747-755.
- --, Gonthier, P. & Nicolotti, G. 2003. Impact of biological and chemical treatments against *Heterobasidion annosum* on non-target micro-organisms. In: Laflamme, G., Bérubé, J.A., Bussières, G. (eds.). Root and Butt Rot of Forest Trees - Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. IUFRO Working Party 7.02.01, Québec, Canada, September 16-22, 2001. Laurentian Forestry Centre, Quebec, Canada. p. 145-154.
- Vasiliauskas, R., Stenlid, J., Lygis, V. & Thor, M. 2004. Impact of biological (Rotstop) and chemical (urea) treatments on fungal community structure in freshly cut *Picea abies* stumps. Biological Control 31: 405-413.

- -, Stenlid, J., Larsson, E. & Larsson, K-H. 2005a. Persistence and long-term impact of Rotstop biological control agent on mycodiversity in *Picea abies* stumps. Biological Control 32: 295-304.
- --, Lygis, V., Larsson, K-H. & Stenlid, J. 2005b. Airborne fungal colonisation of coarse woody debris in North Temperate *Picea abies* forest: impact of season and local spatial scale. Mycological research 4: 487-496.
- -, Menkis, A., Finlay, R.D. & Stenlid, J. 2007. Wood-decay fungi in fine living roots of conifer seedlings. New Phytologist 174: 441-446.
- Venter, J.C., Remington, K., Heidelberg, J.F., Halpern, A.L., Rusch, D., Eisen, J.A., Wu, D., Paulsen, I., Nelson, K.E., Nelson, W., Fouts, D.E., Levy, S., Knap, A.H., Lomas, M.W., Nealson, K., White, O., Peterson, J., Hoffman, J., Parsons, R., Baden-Tillson, H., Pfannkoch, C., Rogers, Y. & Smith, H.O. 2004. Environmental genome shotgun sequencing of the Sargasso Sea. Science 304: 66-74.
- Versalovic, J., Koeuth, T. & Lupski, R. 1991. Distribution of repetitive DNA sequences in eubacteria and application to fingerpriting of bacterial genomes. Nucleic Acids Research 19: 6823-6831.
- Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., van de Lee, T., Hornes, M., Friters, A., Pot, J., Paleman, J., Kuiper, M. & Zabeau, M. 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acids Research 23: 4407-4414.
- Welsh, J. & McClelland, M. 1990. Fingerprinting genomes using PCR with arbitrary primers. Nucleic Acids Research 18: 7213-7218.
- Westlund A. & Nohrstedt H-Ö. 2000. Effects of Stump-treatment substances for root-rot control on ground vegetation and soil properties in a *Picea abies* forest in Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 15: 550-560.
- White, T.J., Bruns, T., Lee, S. & Taylor, J.W. 1990. Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: Innis, M.A., Gelfand, D.H., Sninsky, J.J., White, T.J. (eds.). PCR Protocols: A Guide to Methods and Applications, Academic Press, Inc., New York. p. 315-322.
- Williams, J.G.K., Kubelik, A.R., Livak, K.J., Rafalski, J.A. & Tingey, S.V. 1990. DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucleic Acids Research 18: 6531-6535.
- Woese, C.R. 1987. Bacterial evolution. Microbiological Reviews 51: 221-271.
- & Fox, G.E. 1977. Phylogenetic structure of the prokaryotic domain: the primary kingdoms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA. 74: 5088-5090.
- Woods, C.M. 2000. Receptivity of *Picea sitchensis* stumps to infection by *Heterobasidion annosum* basidiospores. Forestry 73: 457-465.
- Woodward, S., Stenlid, J., Karjalainen, R. & Hutterman, A. (eds). 1998. *Heterobasidion annosum*: Biology, Ecology, Impact and Control. CAB International. Wallingford, UK. 589 p.
- Worrall, J.J. 1997. Somatic Incompatibility in Basidiomycetes. Mycologia 89: 24-36.
- Xu, J.-R., Peng, Y.-L[´]., Dickman, M. B. & Sharon, A. 2006. The dawn of fungal pathogen genomics. Annual Review of Phytopathology 44: 337-366.
- Yakovlev, I.A., Hietala, A.M., Steffenrem, A., Solheim, H. & Fossdal, C.G. 2008. Identification and analysis of differentially expressed *Heterobasidion parviporum* genes during natural colonization of Norway spruce stems. Fungal Genetics and Biology 45: 498-513.

- Yergeau, E., Bokhorst, S., Huiskes, A.H.L., Boschker, H.T.S., Aerts, R. & Kowalchuk, G.A. 2007. Size and structure of bacterial, fungal and nematode communities along an Antarctic environmental gradient. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 59: 436-451.
- Zamponi, L., Paffetti, D., Tegli, S., Lakomy P. & Capretti, P. 2007. Genetic variation in *Heterobasidion abietinum* populations detected with the M13 minisatellite marker. Forest Pathology 37: 433-436.
- Zaremski, A., Ducousso, M., Domergue, O., Fardoux, J., Rangin, C., Fouquet, D., Joly, H., Sales, C., Dreyfus, B. & Prin, Y. 2005. *In situ* molecular detection of some white-rot and brown-rot basidiomycetes infecting temperate and tropical woods. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35: 1256-1260.
- Zhou, X., Burgess, T.I., De Beer, Z.W., Lieutier, F., Yart, A., Klepzig, K., Carnegie, A., Portales, J.M., Wingfield, B.D. & Wingfield, M.J. 2007. High intercontinental migration rates and population admixture in the sapstain fungus *Ophiostoma ips*: Molecular Ecology 16: 89-99.
- Zietkiewicz, E., Rafalski, A. & Labuda, D. 1994. Genome fingerprinting by simple sequence repeat (SSR)-anchored polymerase chain reaction amplification. Genomics 20: 176-183.
- Zuccaro, A., Schulz, B. & Mitchell, J.I. 2003. Molecular detection of ascomycetes associated with *Fucus serratus*. Mycological Research 107: 1451-1466.
- Östlund, L., Zackrisson, O. & Axelsson A.-L. 1997. The history and transformation of a Scandinavian boreal forest landscape since the 19th Century. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 27: 1198-1206.

APPENDIX 1

Sequence alignment based on GenBank submissions for *P. gigantea* containing eleven different sequence variants. The 5.8S rDNA gene is shown in bold.

D0320133 Rotstop Finland Vasiliauskas ^a	-CCCCTTTTC	AACGGGTTGT	AGCTGGCCTC	ATACTGTGGC	ATGTGCACGC	CTGTCTTCAT	CCACTCTTCA	ACCTCTGTGC
AF087485 C-FP-105126-Sp USA Vainio	T GA	111000001101				01010110111	001101011011	11001010100
EF174437 UASWS0297 Poland Belbahri	. T.GA							
DO320131 NS234A1 Lithuania Vasiliauskas								
AF087484 B-P160 Canada Vainio	. T.GA							
AF087487 A-P011 Canada/Finland Vainio	. T.GA							
EF174444 UASWS0305 Poland Belbahri	. T.GA							
EF174436 UASWS0296 Poland Belbahri	. T.GA							
EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri	. T.GA							
EF174439 UASWS0299 Poland Belbahri	. T.GA	C	.C					G
AF087486 C-93318/1 Finland Vainio	. T.GA							
DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas	 ACTTATTGTA 	GGCTGGTGAA	GGGTCGCATA	GTAATGTG	CGGCTTGAAG	CCTGGTCTAC	GTTTTACTAC	AAACGCTTCA
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio								
EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri								
DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas.								
AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio								
AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio								
EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri					C		C	
EF174436_UASWS0296_Poland_Belbahri	<u>.</u>						C	
EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri	G				C		C	
EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri			A				C	
AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio								
DO220122 Potaton Finland Vagiliaugkag		CTCTATCTCC	CTATAACCCA	TTT A A T	- 7 T7 C7 7 CTT	TCACCAACCC	3 TOTOTTOOO	TOTOOONTOO
DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio	. GTTATAGAAT	GTCTATCTGC	GTATAACGCA	TTTAAT	-ATACAACTT	TCAGCAACGG	ATCTCTTGGC	TCTCGCATCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437 UASWS0297 Poland Belbahri								
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131 NS234A1 Lithuania Vasiliauskas.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				 			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	 	 	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	 	 	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		 T T 		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri. EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri. EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri. EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri. EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_POland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_POland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_POland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_POland_Belbahri EF174445_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				 T T -	AA. .A.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_POland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF1744436_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174449_UASWS0299_P0land_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio D0320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas	ATGAAGAACG	G			 T T AGAATTCAGT	AA. .A .GAATCATCGA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio	ATGAAGAACG		с. с. с. ссатаастаа	 TGTGAATTGC		AAA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_POland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_POland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW02027_Poland_Belbahri	ATGAAGAACG	G. G. G. CAGCGAAATG			 T T AGAATTCAGT	AA .A GAATCATCGA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF074439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF074435_C-F93318/1_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri	ATGAAGAACG				 T T AGAATTCAGT	AA. .A	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_POland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P166_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF1744439_UASWS0296_P0land_Belbahri EF1744439_UASWS0299_P0land_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_P0land_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas AF087484_B-P166_Canada Vainio	ATGAAGAACG			T-AA TTAA TTAA TTAA TTTAA		AA .A GAATCATCGA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087487_A-P011_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF0874847_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio	ATGAAGAACG	G 	с. с. с. сс. сс.			AA A GAATCATCGA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174446_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio	ATGAAGAACG	G	с. с. с. ССАТААСТАА	T-AA TTAA TTAA TTAA TTAA	 T. T. AGAATTCAGT	AA. .A. GAATCATCGA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074436_UASW0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASW0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASW0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASW0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASW0307_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri AF087485_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087485_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASW0296_Poland_Belbahri	ATGAAGAACG	G. G. CAGCGAAATG 				AA A GAATCATCGA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF074439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri D0320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087484_B-P161_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri	ATGAAGAACG		С. С	 TGTGAATTGC	 T. T. AGAATTCAGT	AA. .A	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074436_UASW0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASW0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASW0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASW0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASW0307_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASW0297_Poland_Belbahri AF087485_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087485_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASW0296_Poland_Belbahri	ATGAAGAACG	G. 		T-AA TTAA TTAA		ÀÀ .A GAATCATCGA	ATCTTTGAAC	GCACCTTGCG

DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio	CTCCCTGGTA	TTCCGGGGGAG	CATGCCTGTT	TGAGTGTCAT	GG AATTCTCA	ACTTCTAATA	CTTTTTTGTA	TCAGAAGCTT
AF087485 C-FP-105126-Sp USA Vainio								
EF174437 UASWS0297 Poland Belbahri								
D0320131 NS234A1 Lithuania Vasiliauskas.								
AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio								
AF087487 A-P011 Canada/Finland Vainio								
EF174444 UASWS0305 Poland Belbahri								
FE174436 UASWS0296 Poland Belbahri						C		
EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio		G				G		Δ
EF174439 UASWS0299 Poland Belbahri								Δ
AF087486 C-93318/1 Finland Vainio								
DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas								
DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas	GGATTTGGAG	GCTCGTGCTG	GCTCTCTCGT	TAGAGTCGGC	TCCTCTTAAA	TGAATTAGCG	TGAATCACTA	TGGATCGCTT
AF087485 C-FP-105126-Sp USA Vainio								
EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri								
D0320131 NS234A1 Lithuania Vasiliauskas.								
AF087484 B-P160 Canada Vainio								
AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio								
EF174444 UASWS0305 Poland Belbahri		G	т			Δ		
EF174436 UASWS0296 Poland Belbahri			т			Δ		
EF174446 UASWS0307 Poland Belbahri			TC			Δ		
EF174439 UASWS0299 Poland Belbahri			TCTC			Λ		
AF087486 C-93318/1 Finland Vainio			TC					
DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas			.10					
DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas	CGGTGTGATA	ATTATCTGCG	CCGTAGTCGT	GAAGTATTAA	TAAAAGTTCT	CGCTTCTAAT	CGTCCTTCAC	GGGACAATTA
AF087485 C-FP-105126-Sp USA Vainio								
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437 UASWS0297 Poland Belbahri								
AF08/485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Valn10 EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131 NS234A1 Lithuania Vasiliauskas.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		C	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainto EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vanno EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio			c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainto EF174437_UASW0297_POland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASW0296_Poland_Belbahri			c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainto EF174437_UASW0297_POland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASW0296_Poland_Belbahri		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087445_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vanno EF174437_UASWS0297_POland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087487_A-P011_Canada/Finland_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0290_Poland_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0290_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas	ACCCTGACTT	 T	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_C93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio	ACCCTGACTT	 T	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vanno EF174437_UASWS0297_POland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P166_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0296_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174445_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri	ACCCTGACTT	T	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vanno EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087487_A-P011_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0296_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF174439_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri D0320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas	ACCCTGACTT	T 	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vanno EF174437_UASWS0297_POland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF074444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0296_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0296_Poland_Belbahri EF1744430_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio D0320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas. AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri D0320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087486_B-P105_TAST_NAST_NAST_NAST_NAST_NAST_NAST_NAST	ACCCTGACTT	T 	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087487_A-P011_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0296_Poland_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0290_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas AF087485_A-P011_Canada_Vainio	ACCCTGACTT	T 	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0296_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0299_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305 Poland Belbahri	ACCCTGACTT	T 	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P166_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0299_P0land_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_P0land_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri	ACCCTGACTT	T 	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vanno EF174437_UASW0297_POland_Belbahri DO320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087487_A-P011_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DO320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EG174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas AF087485_B-P160_Canada_Vainio AF087484B_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri EF174446_UASWS0307_Poland_Belbahri	ACCCTGACTT	T 	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_Poland_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P166_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174436_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0307_P0land_Belbahri EF174430_UASWS0299_P0land_Belbahri AF087486_C-93318/1_Finland_Vainio DQ320133_Rotstop_Finland_Vasiliauskas AF087485_C-FP-105126-Sp_USA_Vainio EF174437_UASWS0297_P0land_Belbahri DQ320131_NS234A1_Lithuania_Vasiliauskas. AF087484_B-P160_Canada_Vainio EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri EF174444_UASWS0305_P0land_Belbahri	ACCCTGACTT	T 	c	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

^a NCBI Blast sequence similarities of 100% are found (i) between sequences DQ320133 and EF174449, EF174447, EF174441, EF174440, EF174438 by Belbahri et al. 2006 (unpublished), and AM084460, AM084822 by Kauserud et al. 2005 or (ii) between accessions AF087485 and EF174448, EF174445, EF174443, EF174442 by Belbahri et al. 2006 (unpublished), or (iii) between accessions DQ320131 and DQ068963 by Menkis et al. 2005.

APPENDIX 2

List of recent fungal community fingerprinting studies conducted using SSU rDNA primers designed in study IV.

Study	Fungal community	PCR	Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments	
Liiri et al. (2001)	Soil: microcosms with birch seedlings and ash treatment	FR1-gc/NS1. PCR as in study IV. ^a	Successful amplification, no sequence data	Band number N.R ^b . Changes in the fungal DGGE profiles induced by ash application.	
Pennanen et al. (2001)	Birch branches, laboratory mini-ecosystems, forest humus FR1-gc/NS1and FR1 gc/FF390. PCR as in study IV.		Successful amplification, no sequence data. No unspecific amplification from three tested soil eukaryotes (<i>Tetrahymena, Cognettia,</i> <i>Acrobeloides</i>).	5-14 dominant bands per sample from mini- ecosystems and field samples. High DGGE reproducibility from ten replicate soil sample	
Liiri et al. (2002)	Soil: microcosms with silver birch seedlings	FR1-gc/NS1. PCR as in study IV.	Successful amplification; no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Changes in microarthropod fauna did not affect the fungal DGGE profiles.	
Björklöf et al. (2003)	al. Soil: birch rhizosphere on humus and peat, inoculated with <i>Pseudomonas</i>		Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Humus and peat-specific DGGE profiles.	
Gomes et al. (2003) Soil: bulk and maize rhizosphere in the tropics ar		FR1-gc/NS1. PCR for 35 cycles with 48°C annealing, Taq DNA polymerase.	Successful amplification from all samples. Sequence data from 39 clones, related to Ascomycota (Alternaria, Aspergillus, Bionectria, Chaetomium, Cladosporium, Cucurbita, Gibberella, Paraphaeosphaeria, Phaeosphaeria, Setosperia, Raciborsklomyces) Basidiomycota (Bullera, Cryptococcus, Sporidiobolus), Zygomycota (Mortierella). Similarity to reference sequences 96.0-100%.	In total 12 dominant band types detected with SSU-DGGE. DGGE resolution not optimal: additional OTU's revealed by ARDRA. Fungal community profiles strongly affected by plant age. High reproducibility (low variability between replicates).	

Study	Fungal community	PCR	Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments	
Kowalchuk et al. (2003)	Soil: management practices against <i>Pythium</i> root rot in flower bulb cultivation	FR1-gc/FF390 or NS1- gc/NS2+10 PCR as in study IV. Expand High Fidelity polymerase.	Successful amplification. Six sequences: Chaetomium (99.4%), Geomyces (99%), Kluyveromyces (99.4%), Acremonium (99.7%), Candida (99.7%), Ascotricha (98.1%).	In total 7 distinct OTU's with FR1+FF390 and 3 OTU's with NS1/NS2+10. Fungal DGGE profiles similar between untreated and sterilized or flooded soils.	
Perkiömäki & Fritze (2003)	Soil: microcosms treated with wood ash, cadmium and acid	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR as in study IV.	Successful amplification; no sequence data.	In total 34 separate DGGE bands from soil samples. Changes in seven indicative fungal DGGE OTUs induced by ash treatment.	
Perkiömäki et al. (2003)	Soil: microcosms treated with ash, acid and metal	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR as in study IV.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Treatments did not decrease DGGE band number; one OTU affected by metal addition.	
Zuccaro et al. (2003)	Plant: fungi associated with <i>Fucus</i> algae	Semi-nested protocol:1 st PCR with EF3/ NS1, 2 nd PCR with FR1-gc/NS1 and 47 ^o C annealing, TaqBead Hot start polymerase.	Successful amplification from 15 cultivated Diaporthales, Dothideales, Eurotiales, Helotiales, Xylariales and mitosporic fungi. Environmental sequences from Ascomycota (<i>Neophaeosphaeria</i> 99%, <i>Corallospora</i> 98%, <i>Lulworthiales</i> 96%) and animal species (<i>Hydrozoa, Arthropoda,</i> Annelida).	7-11 major bands detected from algal samples. Cultivation and direct molecular analysis revealed a distinctly different fungal community composition.	
Girvan et al. (2004)	Soil: winter wheat microbial communities with fertilizer and pesticide treatment	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR as in study IV. Superscript II reverse transcriptase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Variability between replicate samples high, microbial community was primarily determined by season.	

Study	Fungal community PCR		Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments	
Green et al. (2004)	Soil: rhizosphere of cucumber and compost- amended potting mix	FR1-gc/NS1. PCR for 35 cycles with 57°C annealing. Nested PCR: 1 st PCR with NS1AG/NS8 or NS1AG/PyNS8, 2 nd PCR using FR1-gc/NS1 with 61°C annealing. Sigma RedTaq polymerase.	Successful amplification from all cultured pyrenomycete isolates (<i>Colletotrichum</i> , <i>Trichoderma, Fusarium, Thielaviopsis</i>), and <i>Botrytis, Saccharomyces, Tuber,</i> <i>Rhizoctonia.</i> Bands from cultivated oomycete (<i>Phytophtora</i>) and plant (<i>Cucumis</i>) DNA. Sequence data form 16 environmental band types from direct or nested PCR reactions related to Ascomycota: <i>Papulosa, Pseudallescheria,</i> <i>Nigrosabulum, Petriella, Trichoderma,</i> <i>Coccidioides, Saccobolus</i> (sequence similarity 95-99%). Direct PCR yielded products from flagellate DNA (<i>Heteromita,</i> <i>Cercozoa;</i> 89-97%).	Band number from environmental samples N.R. Pyrenomycete-targeted PCR revealed species not detected by direct analysis with FR1-gc/NS1.	
Pennanen et al. (2004)	J		Successful amplification and generation of cDNA from SSU rRNA, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. High substrate amendments affected one DGGE band type. Fungal rDNA and rRNA profiles similar.	
Rantalainen et al. (2004)	Soil: Microcosms with pine PCR as in study IV.		Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Presence or absence of inoculated fungal taxa checked from soil samples by DGGE pattern comparisons to cultured strains. Two of eleven taxa indistinguishable by DGGE.	
Abang et al. (2005)	al. Colletotrichum isolates from diseased yam and weed plants hosts FR1-gc/NS1. PCR for 25 cycles with 48°C annealing, <i>Taq</i> Stoffel fragment polymerase.		Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Two DGGE band types corresponding two morphotypes of <i>C. gloeosporioides.</i> Morphotypes not separable by ITS-RFLP analysis.	
Diouf et al. Soil: biogenic soil F (2005) sheetings of three different termite species and two control soils F		FR1-gc/FF390. PCR for 35 cycles with 55°C annealing. Pharmacia Ready-To-Go Taq polymerase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	In total 20-28 DGGE bands in termite sheetings or control soils. DGGE revealed fungi not found by cultivation. LSU-DGGE produced a somewhat different view.	

Study	y Fungal community PCR		Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments
Hiddink et al. (2005)	Soil: effects of mixed cropping on disease suppressiveness of soils	FR1-gc/FF390. Touch- down PCR for 37 cycles and 55-47°C annealing. AmpliTaq polymerase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	21±6 or 27±6 bands per lane detected from soils with different crops. No significant differences between DGGE profiles from mixed or mono-cropped soils.
Lilja et al. (2005)	Wood: fungi occurring in cankers of container seedlings of Norway spruce	nkers of container gc/FF390 detected using FR1-gc/NS1 compare edlings of Norway PCR as in study IV. FR1-gc/FF390. Sequence data from		0-5 or 1-9 bands detected from each canker using primer pair FR1-gc/FF390 or FR1- gc/NS1. Direct rDNA analysis revealed additional diversity compared to cultivation. RAMS fingerprinting from cultivated isolates revealed each dominant DGGE band type to represente a single species.
Pennanen et al. (2005)	Mycorrhiza: effects of mounding on spruce ectomycorrhizal diversity	FR1-gc/FF390 and FR1-gc/NS1 PCR as in study IV.	PCR success rate 83% and 48% for FR1-gc/FF390 and FR1-gc/NS1, respectively.	1-5 band types found from root tips of each spruce seedling. DGGE fingerprints indicated a few differences between ECM communities on mounds or untreated spots.
Rantalainen et al. (2005)	Soil: colonization of sterilized humus patches embedded in mineral soil	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR as in study IV.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Species richness per patch varied from 4 to 12. Use of habitat corridors increased the species richness of soil fungal community.
Bezemer et al. (2006)	et Soil: greenhouse FR1-gc/FF390.		Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Composition of fungal communities in unsown plots differed significantly from those in sown plots.
Chung, et al. (2006)			Successful amplification, sequence data from 16 prominent OTU's: 10 Basidiomycota, 4 Ascomycota, 2 Zygomycota.	In total 39 OTU's identified. Identical DGGE banding pattern in five replicate samples. Elevated O_3 significantly altered the fungal community structure. Two indicative OTU's.
Costa et al. (2006)	costa et al. Soil: rhizosphere of Nested protoco		Successful amplification, no fungal sequences.	Band number N.R. Internal variability within bulk and rhizosphere soil replicates was high. Significant differences between strawberry and oilseed rape rhizosphere fungal profiles from the same sampling site.

Study	Fungal communityPCRSoil: weed seed mortality in soils with contrasting agricultural managementFR1-gc/FF390. Touch- down PCR for 30 cycles with 60-50°C annealing		Fungal community PCR Primer specificity and sequence d		Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments
Davis et al. (2006)			Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Distinct differences in the composition of fungal communities between the study soils.		
Garbeva et al. (2006)	Soil: microbial diversity of soil under different agricultural regimes	FR1-gc/NS1. PCR as in study IV.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Significant differences in the fungal diversity of different grassland or arable land treatments as revealed by DGGE patterns.		
Götz et al. (2006)	Soil: fungal endophytes in potato roots		Successful amplification, sequence data from 34 clones affiliated with <i>Volutella</i> (99.4%), <i>Colletotrichum</i> (99.3%), <i>Verticillium</i> (98.3-100%), <i>Septoria</i> (99.8%), <i>Paraphaeosphaeria</i> (99.7%) <i>Acremonium</i> (100%) and <i>Phialophora</i> (100%). One chimeric sequence.	5-6 dominant bands and several faint bands in all replicates. Low degree of variability between DGGE patterns of replicate samples. Some DGGE band types were not observed among cultured isolates from the same samples. Cloned amplicons were classified using DGGE and ARDRA.		
Kang & Mills (2006)	Soil: sample size effects on community structure	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR for 30 cycles with 50°C annealing, AmpliTaq polymerase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Major differences in the fungal communities recovered by using different sample sizes.		
Kauhanen et al. (2006)	n et Plant: cultured endophytic FR1-gc/FF390 and		Successful amplification, sequence data from 59 samples and 10 OTUs related to <i>Phoma</i> (100% and 99%), <i>Hypoxylon</i> (99%), <i>Leucostoma</i> (99%), <i>Endoconidioma</i> (99%), <i>Aureobasidium/Discosphaerina</i> (99%), <i>Anguillospora</i> (99%), <i>Heyderia</i> (98%), <i>Monilinia</i> (95-98%).	Most morphological OTUs had distinct DGGE mobility, while the most common OTU showed intra-group variation (product length and DGGE mobility). Verification of cultivated morphotype groups (OTUs) by SSU-DGGE and ITS-RFLP.		
Kowalchuk et al. (2006)			Successful amplification, no sequence data.	In total 32 different band positions distinguished by DGGE. 5-17 bands per sample (average 11). Fungal diversity lower in the rhizosphere of plants with high alkaloid content.		

Study	Fungal community	PCR	Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments		
Kühbacher et al. (2006)	Human gut: microbial responses to probiotic therapy FR1-gc/NS1. PCR as in study IV.		Successful amplification, no fungal sequences.	The mean number of bands varied from 8 to 13 between different treatment groups. Wide interindividual variation in banding patterns. A marked reduction in fungal diversity in patients treated with probiotic therapy.		
Malosso et al. (2006)	Soil: maritime Antarctic soils	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR for 30 cycles with 50°C annealing. Taq DNA polymerase. UF1/S3 for ARDRA.	Successful amplification from all enriched soil samples. Sequence determination from 43 DGGE band types: 18 Ascomycota (88- 100%), 16 Basidiomycota (85-100%), 4 Zygomycota (91-100%), 5 <i>Amoeba</i> .	24 and 19 band types from two different soils. DGGE, cultivation and ARDRA revealed a somewhat different fungal community composition.		
Oros-Sichler et al. (2006)	Soil: 36 sites with agricultural soils (sugar beet, barley, rye, wheat, potato, rape, pea, maize, fallow system) Semi-nested PCR: PCR with EF3/NS1 PCR with EF3/NS1 PCR with FR1- gc/NS1for 20 cycle with 48°C annealin Direct PCR as in st IV, Tag polymerase		Direct amplification with FR1-gc/NS1 failed from most soil samples. 24 of 101 cultured isolates failed to amplify using FR1-gc/NS1 (and 7 of 101 failed with EF3/NS1). GC- clamp seemed to interfere with direct PCR. Successful amplification using nested protocol, no sequence data.	Community fingerprints using nested PCR protocol showed high and consistent complexity with up to 11 dominant bands. Characteristic bands for each soil site and clear differentiation of fungal communities from different sites. Certain extent of variability in replicate DGGE fingerprints.		
Van der Wal et al. (2006)	Soil: abandoned arable sandy soils and heathland soil supplemented with various carbon substrates Soil: abandoned arable supplemented with various carbon substrates Soil: abandoned arable supplemented with various carbon substrates Soil: abandoned arable supplemented with various carbon substrates		Successful amplification, sequence data affiliated with Cryptococcus, Fusarium, Mortierella, Humicola, Byssoascus/ Oidiodendron, Hymenoscyphus, Chaetomium, Thelebolus/ Hyphozyma, Aleuria/ Wilcoxina/ Cheilymenia/ Otidea. Reference sequence similarity ≥ 98%.	Band number N.R. Control and glucose treatments differed strongly from the wood and cellulose treatments in their DGGE profiles. Cultivated isolates predominately Zygorhynchus, Mortierella, Mucor, Umbelopsis, Absidia, Acremonium, Humicola, Penicillium, Trichoderma, Sporothrix and Thielaviopsis.		
Blackwood et al. (2007)	Plant: decomposing leaf litter in deciduous forests (maple, basswood, oak)	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR for 35 cycles with 50°C annealing. Expand High Fidelity polymerase.	Successful amplification, sequence data from ten DGGE bands related to Basidiomycota (<i>Auricularia, Multiclavula,</i> <i>Boletus</i>), Ascomycota (<i>Aspergillus,</i> <i>Ophioceras, Pachyphloeus, Neournula,</i> <i>Rhytisma, Anguillospora</i>) and Zygomycota (<i>Piptocephalis</i>).	Band number N.R. Overall forest floor- inhabiting fungal communities differed among forest ecosystems.		

Study	Fungal community	PCR	Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments
Drigo et al. (2007)	Soil: rhizosphere of <i>Carex</i> and <i>Festuca</i>	FR1-gc/FF390. Touchdown PCR for 37 cycles with 55-47 °C annealing. Expand High Fidelity polymerase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. The greatest degree of variation in DGGE profiles was explained by soil origin and plant species, while elevated CO_2 level explained only 10% of the total variation.
Hoshino & Matsumoto (2007)	Soil: bulk soil and spinach rhizosphere, effects of fumigation to fungal community structure.	Direct PCR with FR1- gc/FF390 for 40 cycles with 50°C annealing. Nested protocol: 1 st PCR with AU2/AU4, 2 nd PCR with FR1- gc/FF390 for 30 cycles with 45°C annealing. KODplus polymerase.	Direct PCR with FR1-gc/FF390 amplified oomycete (<i>Phytophtora</i>) and plant (<i>Spinacia</i>) templates from rhizosphere as well as <i>Mortierella</i> (99.7%), <i>Myrothecium</i> (100%) and Chytridiomycota (96.8%). Bulk soil yielded no unspecific products <i>via</i> direct PCR. Nested protocol excluded products from plant and oomycete DNA, whereas amplified Cercozoa (84.8-94.2%), Metazoa (82%) and Fungi (Chytridiomycota, Zygomycota, Basidiomycota, Ascomycota, similarity range 83.7-100%).	Direct PCR products revealed 2 and 5 major bands in bulk and rhizosphere soil, while 11 and 14 bands were detected using nested PCR. Drastic change of nested PCR-DGGE profiles using chloropicrin treatment.
Kardol et al. (2007)	Soil: microcosm with ex- arable soil and grass cultures	FR1-gc/FF390. Touch- down PCR with 40 cycles and 55C-47°C annealing. Expand High Fidelity polymerase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	DGGE profiles with 3-7 detectable bands from inoculum samples and 3-13 bands from rhizosphere. High within-treatment variation. Plant biomass production was connected to composition of the dominant fungal species.
Lagomarsino et al. (2007)	Soil: effects of elevated CO_2 and N addition on soil fungi in a poplar plantation	FR1-gc/FF390. PCR as in study IV. BioTherm DNA polymerase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	DGGE profiles with 3-15 fungal bands. Clear separation between unfertilized and fertilized soils, independent of elevated CO_2 treatment.

Study	Fungal community	PCR	Primer specificity and sequence data	DGGE resolution and general comments
Ott et al. (2007)	Human coronary atherosclerotic plaques	Nested protocol: 1 st PCR with NS0/EF3, 2 nd PCR with FR1-gc/NS1 for 25 cycles with 48°C annealing. A third PCR with BF2/TR1 was used for cloning.	Successful amplification, sequence data from 320 clones affiliated with Yarrowia, Candida, Gibberella, Rhodosporidium, Rhodotorula, Ceratobasidium, Cryptococcus, Penicillium, Glyphium, Microxyphium, Fusarium with sequence similarity of \geq 97%. 5% of the sequences could not be assigned to known fungal representatives.	The median fungal richness (number of DGGE bands) of all individuals was 5 (range from 2 to 9) and the overall interindividual variability of fungal profiles was high.
Sekiguchi et al. (2007)	Soil: effects of cattle manure and green manure on soil fungal community	FR1-gc/NS1. PCR for 35 cycles with 47 °C annealing. Ex Taq polymerase.	Successful amplification, sequence data from five DGGE bands related to Basidiomycota (<i>Psathyrella</i>), Ascomycota (<i>Fusarium, Chaetomium</i>) and Zygomycota (<i>Mortierella</i>) with a sequence similarity of 98-99%.	In total 18 distinctive fungal bands (12-16 bands in each lane) detected. Fungal profiles obtained from cattle manure did not differ significantly from the control. Fluctuations in the relative intensity of several bands observed due to green manure application.
Yergeau et al. (2007)	Soil: vegetated and fell- field soils from Falkland Island to the Antarctic Peninsula	FR1-gc/FF390. Touchdown PCR for 37 cycles with 55-47°C annealing. Expand High Fidelity polymerase.	Successful amplification, no sequence data.	Band number N.R. Little or no intraplot variation from five replicate samples. Vegetation type and latitude influences on the fungal community structure.
Sekiguchi et al. (2008)	Soil: comparative analysis of soils between organic and conventional cherry tomato farms	FR1-gc/NS1. PCR for 35 cycles with 47 °C annealing. Ex Taq polymerase.	Successful amplifications, sequence data from 30 DGGE bands related to <i>Mucor</i> , <i>Mortierella</i> , <i>Fusarium</i> , <i>Neocosmospora</i> , <i>Eleutherascus</i> , <i>Macrolepiota</i> , <i>Trichocladium</i> , <i>Chaetomium</i> , <i>Gibberella</i> , <i>Cordyceps</i> , <i>Sordaria</i> , <i>Aleuria</i> with a sequence similarity of 98-99%. One Metazoa (<i>Enchytraeus</i>) sequence.	Band number N.R. No obvious differences in fungal populations between organic and conventional systems of farming. Principal component analysis revealed several characteristic bands in the DGGE profiles.

^a PCR conditions using Dynazyme II DNA polymerase and FR1-gc/NS1: 8 min at 95°C and 35 cycles of (30 s at 95°C, 45s at 47°C and 3 min at 72°C) and 10 min at 72°C; FR1-gc/FF390: 8 min at 95°C and 30 cycles of (30s at 95°C, 45s at 50°C, 2 min at 72°C) and 10 min at 72°C.

^b Not reported by the authors

APPENDIX 3

Taxonomical affiliation and chimera check analysis for the SSU rDNA sequences determined during study V.

DGGE band	Rotstop	GenBank	Chimera check	Taxonomical affiliation	Accession	Similarity
(OTU)	response ^a	Accession	point ^b / full length			(Blast identity/ overlap) ^c
FF390-29	-	AF541991	60/351	Helicogloea lagerheimii (Atractiellales)	AY124476	100% (351/351)
NS1-27b	+	AF541993	1100/1647	Dothideomycete from Larix needles	AY190261	99.44% (1594/1603)
				Helicoma isiola (Tubeufiaceae, Dothideomycetes)	AY856935	99.44% (1592/1601)
				Lophium mytilinum (Mytilinidiaceae, Dothideomycetes)	DQ678030	99.48% (1526/1534)
NS1-11b	+	AF541989	720/1613	Botryobasidium obtusisporum (Cantharellales)	DQ898739	99.26% (1603/1615)
				B. simile	DQ898740	99.01% (1601/1617)
				B. botryosum	AY662667	99.01% (1601/1617)
NS1-24a	+	AF541987	710/1611	Tyromyces chioneus (Polyporales)	AF334938	99.13% (1601/1615)
FF390-14	-	AF541990	130/354	Resupinatus alboniger (Tricholomataceae, Agaricales)	DQ851586	98.29% (345/351)
				Panaeolus foenisecii (Bolbitiaceae, Agaricales)	DQ851578	98.30% (346/352)
				P. sphinctrinus	DQ459375	98.30% (346/352)
				Agaricus bisporus (Agaricaceae, Agaricales)	AY787216	98.29% (345/351)
FF390-44	+	AF541992	130/350	Same as for OTU FF390-14		
NS1-17	-	AF541994	330/1649	Cryptococcus sp. (mitosporic Tremellales)	EF363152	97.34% (1610/1654)
				Fellomyces lichenicola (mitosporic Tremellales)	AB032661	97.28% (1608/1653)
				Kockovaella schimae (mitosporic Tremellales)	AB005482	97.28% (1607/1652)
FF390-30 ^d	+	AF541988	1-247+717-829	Scytalidium lignicola (Meliniomyces)	AY762623	98.61% (245/248+111/11)
				Chalara strobilina (Pezizales)	AF222516	98.06%(245/248+109/113
			Intron 248-716	Lipomyces kockii (Saccharomycetales, Ascomycota)	DQ519007	72-74% (128/176+105/14

^a Rotstop response: + OTU was shown to increase due to Rotstop treatment; - OTU diminished due to Rotstop treatment. ^b Chimera check point: sequence division point suggested by the Chimera check program (version 2.7) of the Ribosomal Database Project (RDP-II, Cole et al. 2003) website (http://rdp8.cme.msu.edu/cgis/chimera.cgi). Total sequence length is shown after the slash. All sequences showed similar affiliations using both fragments and were thus considered non-chimeric (data not shown).

^c Blast identity/overlap: number of identical nucleotides and total overlap of the compared sequences provided by the NCBI Blast program.

^d For OTU FF390-30 the sequence consisted of two separate segments with high similarities with the given reference sequences (Blast similarities for these segments are shown separately in parenthesis) and an intronic sequence of 469 bp between them.